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RFP 22MISC3, 403(b)/457(b) Programs and Services for Employees of FCPS 

Questions Received with Responses: 

1. Can you provide the total assets with each vendor? 
 
Please see the attached excel file.  
 

2. Can you provide the total assets for each plan? 
 
Please see the attached excel file.  

 
3. Can you provide the asset allocations for each plan? 

 
This data is not available.  

 
4. Can you provide the total fixed or stable value assets for each plan? 

 
This data is not available.  

 
5. Can you provide the most recent total annual contributions for each plan? 

 
Please see the attached excel file. 

 
6. Can you provide the most recent total annual distributions for each plan? 

 
This data is not available. 

 
7. Can you provide the total number of unique participants (assuming employees can participate in both 

plans)? 
 

According to the Third-Party administrator, TSA Consulting Group, Inc., the following data highlights the 
participant counts:  
 
• 4,190 have only 403(b) account. 
• 75 have only 457(b) account. 
• 282 have both 403(b) and 457(b) accounts. 
 

8. Can you provide the total assets in managed account programs for each plan? 
 

This data is not available.  
 

9. Questionnaire I. General Information, Section D- Experience & References appears to be missing question 5; 
can you please provide the missing question? 

 
This question has been updated and corrected.  
 

10. Questionnaire III. Interactive Participant Services, Section D- Interactive Participant Services; please confirm 
question numbering should continue 1-15, as 11 and 12 are repeated. 
 
The duplication of questions has been corrected.  
 

11. Please provide the total contributions to the plans in 2019, 2020, 2021. 
 



Please see the response to #5.  
 

12. Please provide the total distributions from the plans in 2019,2020, 2021. 
 

Please see the response to #6.  
 

13. Does the plans currently offer loans? If so, please provide the total number of loans outstanding as well as 
the total number of loans issued in 2020. 
 
Yes, loans are currently offered. There are currently 175 outstanding loans. There were 32 loans issued in 
2020.  

 
14. Please provide the current service days provided by your recordkeeper. How many group meetings and 

how many individual meetings were held in 2020? How many days per year would the plan prefer going 
forward? 
 
The current service days provided by each provider is currently not available. For purposes of this RFP, please 
build-in 75 on-site service days into your proposal.  

 
15. Please provide information on the fixed funds in the plans today. What is the current crediting rate? What 

are the expense ratios? Are there any termination provisions or liquidity restrictions (i.e. MVA, 12 month 
put, etc.)? 

 
This data is not available for all vendors. We have provided information on some of the largest vendors in the 
plan.  

 
16. What are the current fees for the plans today? 

 
This data is currently not available.  

 
17. Please indicate if any of the revenue produced by the fund line-up is kept by the recordkeepers or returned 

to the plan and or the participants. 
 

All revenue produced by the fund lineup should be returned to the participants.  
 

18. Does the plan prefer a fee assuming no proprietary funds in the plan? Or would the plan accept a fee 
assuming proprietary funds? 

 
The RFP has requested quotes in various scenarios.  

 
19. Does the plan currently have managed account programs? If so, please provide the total assets in those 

programs today. 
 

This information is currently not available.  
 

20. Does FCPS have a preference for a fixed option type? Would you prefer a stable value or general account 
solution? 

 
Products eligible for a 403(b) and a 457(b) plan are preferred.  

 
21. Do you currently process payroll in house or work with an outside payroll provider? 

 
Payroll is processed in-house.  



 
22. Does Frederick County School think this process will lead to having one or two record keepers (payroll slots) 

moving forward? 
 

Frederick County Public Schools will be maintaining multiple vendors for the 403(b) and 457(b) plans.  
 

23. What are the total assets currently held in all plans when combined? 
 

Please see the attached excel spreadsheet.  

24. Can you provide the six current provider names? 
 

The current 6 providers that are able to write new contracts include: AIG, American Century, AXA, Plan 
Member Services, Security Benefits and Voya.  

 
25. Can you provide the assets under management by each vendor? 

 
Please see the attached excel spreadsheet.  

26. What is the current annual contributions to each plan? 
 

Please see the attached excel spreadsheet.  

27. Can you provide a breakdown of participants by vendor? 
 

Please see the attached excel spreadsheet.  

28. Do you anticipate a finalist presentation and when will it be? 
 

Yes, we anticipate finalist presentations. These meetings have not yet been scheduled.  
 

29. Can you provide a copy of the current plan document? 
 

The plan document has been attached.  
 

30. Is there a preference on compensation for on-site representatives? 
 

There is a preference for non-commissioned on-site representatives.  
 

31. On page 9, item 3 it references proof of insurance if applicable. Are you requesting a copy of the coverage 
of insurance for this proposal? 

 
Yes 
 

32. On page 9, item f in the RFP document, it requests proof of Certificate of Registered and a tax certification 
number. Are these items to be included in the exhibit section of the proposal or after the bid has been 
awarded? 

 
Please include these items in your proposal.  
 

 
33. How many vendors do you anticipate awarding the contract to? 

 
Please see the response to question 22.  



 
34. Who are the current plan providers? 
 

Please see the attached spreadsheet.  

35. What are the current plan assets?  
 

Please see the attached excel spreadsheet.  

36. What are the current annual flows (net contributions) for each plan? 
 
The attached spreadsheet has the current contributions. We do not have information about distributions.  

37. How many participants with an account balance are there in each plan? 
 

Please see the attached excel spreadsheet.  

38. How many onsite communication/education days are currently provided each year? 
 
This data is not available.  

 
39. How many onsite communication/education days are requested as part of this RFP? 

 
Please see the response to question 14.  

 
40. How many group/individual meetings are currently conducted for FCPS employees each year? 

 
This data is not available. 

41. How many group/individual meetings for FCPS employees are requested as part of this RFP each year?  
 
Please see the response to question 14.  
 

42. The RFP lists an anticipated award date of March 23, 2022, but within the questionnaire is listed a desired 
implementation date of January 2, 2022. What is the actual preferred implementation date? 

 
The anticipated contract start date is July 1, 2022.  

43. Can you provide the total assets with each vendor? 
 

Please see the attached spreadsheet.  
 

44. Can you provide the total assets for each plan? 
 

Please see the attached excel spreadsheet.  

45. Can you provide the asset allocations for each plan? 
 

This data is not available.  
 

46. Can you provide the total fixed or stable value assets for each plan? 
 

This data is not available.  
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I. General Information 

 
A. Organization  

 
1. Please provide the following information regarding your company:  

a. Full name of company; 
b. Home office address;  
c. Local business address (if available); 
d. Brief overview of your company and history of your organization; 
e. Description of all parent/subsidiary/affiliate relationships;  
f. An organizational chart of your retirement plan operations. 
 

2. Are there any public agreements to merge or sell your company or parts of your 
company?  

 
  Yes  No 

 
3. Is any portion of your services, including but not limited to recordkeeping services, 

subcontracted to a third-party provider?  If yes, please identify the following 
information:   
a. Name of third party; 
b. History of the subcontractor’s organization (including date of entry into the benefits 

field); 
c. Length of contract; 
d. Flexibility to terminate contract (with or without cause); 
e. Current contingency plans in the event that subcontractor terminates services, is 

terminated, or is purchased. 
 

4. Please provide the following information regarding your employees:   
a. Number of individuals employed by your company; 
b. Number of individuals dedicated to the defined contribution market.   

 
5. Please identify your company’s ratings (A.M. Best, Fitch, Moody’s, and Standard & 

Poor’s) for each of the last five (5) years.  If your company is not rated or does not 
have an A.M. Best rating, please explain why not and provide a copy of your 
company’s financial statements.  In addition: 
a. Please explain any upgrades or downgrades to your credit ratings that have 

occurred in the past two (2) years;   
b. Have you been placed on watch list or outlook by any of the rating agencies?   If 

yes, please explain the reason.   
 

Credit Ratings 

Year 
Rating Agency 

A.M. Best Fitch Moody S&P 
2020     
2019         
2018     
2017     
2016     
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B. Insurance   
 
Note:  If you are using subcontracted on-site representatives, please answer all of 
Section I.B, as it pertains to those representatives and their company as well as the 
Third Party Administrator. 
 

1. Does your company maintain E&O coverage for both home office personnel and on-
site representatives?  

   
2. What company provides your firm’s E&O insurance?  
   
3. What is the maximum limit of E&O coverage per occurrence? What is the deductible?  
 
4. What is the maximum limit of E&O coverage per representative? 
   
5. In the past 5 years, have there been any claims submitted to your errors & omissions 

insurance carrier? If yes, please describe.  
 

  Yes  No 
 

6. Does your company provide fidelity bond insurance? If no, please describe what type 
of insurance your company uses to protect against employee theft.  
 

7. What company provides your firm’s fidelity bond insurance? 
 
8. In the past 5 years, have there been any claims submitted to your fidelity bond 

insurance carrier? If yes, please describe. 
  

  Yes  No 
 
 

C. Litigation 
 

1. Are you currently involved in any unresolved litigation regarding your defined 
contributions services? (Yes or No) Will this restrict, limit, or affect your ability to 
provide services to Frederick County Public Schools (“FCPS”)?  

 
Currently Involved in Any 

 
Affect Services 

 
 
If you answered yes to either question, please explain. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  Yes   No 
    
 Yes  No 
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2. Is there any current litigation or other pending actions of a similar type against you or 
your agent(s) in which plaintiff seeks or arguably might be entitled to more than 
$1,000,000 in damages? If so, attach to your proposal an Opinion of Counsel briefly 
describing the litigation’s allegations, the defense to the litigation, and an opinion as to 
whether the outcome of the litigation could potentially impair your organization’s 
financial stability. 
 
Currently Involved in Any 

 
Affect Services 

 
 

If you answered yes to either question, please explain. 
 

3. In the last five years, has your company failed or refused to complete contract?  
 

Currently Involved in Any 
 

Affect Services 
 

 
If you answered yes to either question, please explain. 

 
4. In the past five years, has your company had any of the following denied, revoked, or 

suspended: 1) a license to do business, 2) an agent/broker license, or 3) any other 
license? (Yes or No) Will this restrict, limit, or affect your ability to provide services to 
FCPS?  

 
Currently Involved in Any  Yes  No 

 
Affect Service   Yes  No 

 
If you answered yes to either question, please explain. 

 
5. Has your company ever been involved in any settlements regarding its compliance 

services for failure to calculate or providing inaccurate calculations on any compliance 
limits? (Yes or No) Will this restrict, limit, or affect your ability to provide services to 
FCPS?  

 
Currently Involved in Any 
 
Affect Services 

 
If you answered yes to either question, please explain. 

 
6. Has your company been cited by any state or federal regulators for violations of any 

laws or regulations? (Yes or No) Will this restrict, limit, or affect your ability to provide 
services to FCPS?  

 

 Yes  No 

 Yes  No 

 Yes  No 

 Yes  No 

  Yes   No 
    
 Yes  No 
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Currently Involved in Any 
 
Affect Services 

 
If you answered yes to either question, please explain. 

 
7. Has your company been investigated by the Department of Labor within the past 5 

years? (Yes or No) Will this restrict, limit, or affect your ability to provide services to 
FCPS?  

 
Currently Involved in Any 
 
Affect Services 

 
 If you answered yes to either question, please explain. 

 
8. In your opinion, what are some of the largest fiduciary concerns plan sponsors are 

facing administering their defined contribution plans? 
 
 
D. Experience & References 

 
1. What year did your company enter the 403(b) marketplace? 

 
2. How many unique 403(b) recordkeeping clients has your company gained and lost 

each year during the past 5 years?  Please do not include: current clients who have 
added new plans, any clients gained/lost due to mergers or acquisitions, or the 
purchase of TPAs.  In a given year, if the number of clients lost exceeds the number 
of clients gained, please explain.  

 
 

K-12 403(b) Plans 
Year Gained Lost 
2020   
2019   
2018     
2017   
2016   

 
3. As of June 30, 2021, what is your company’s (not parent company): 

a. Total retirement plan assets under administration; 
b. Total defined contribution assets under administration;  
c. Total retirement plans under administration; 
d. Total retirement plan participants under administration. 

 
4. As of June 30, 2021, what is your company’s (not parent company): 

a. Total 403(b) participants under administration; 
b. Total 403(b) assets under administration;   
c. Total K-12 403(b) assets under administration;  

  Yes   No 
    
 Yes  No 

  Yes   No 
    
 Yes  No 
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Amount of 
Employees 

Number of 403(b) 
Plans 

 
Up to 500 

 

 
500 – 1,000 

 

 
1,000 – 2,000 

 

 
Over 2,000 

 

 
Total 

 

 
 

 
Amount of 
Employees 

Number of K-12 
403(b) Plans 

 
Up to 500 

 

 
500 – 1,000 

 

 
1,000 – 2,000 

 

 
Over 2,000 

 

 
Total 

 

 
 

5. Enter the number of your recordkeeping and administration plans by asset size: 
 
 

 
Amount of Assets 

Number of 403(b) 
Plans 

 
Up to $10 million 

 

 
$10M to $50M 

 

 
$50M to $100M 

 

 
$100M to $250M 

 

 
More than $250 Million 

 

 
Total 
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Amount of Assets 
Number of K-12 

403(b) Plans 
 
Up to $10 million 

 

 
$10M to $50M 

 

 
$50M to $100M 

 

 
$100M to $250M 

 

 
More than $250 Million 

 

 
Total 

 

 
 

6. Please provide the number of 403(b) plans in Maryland that your firm currently 
administers.  

 
7. Please provide the number of K-12 403(b) plans in Maryland that your firm currently 

administers.  
  

8. What is the average client relationship duration? 
 

9. Please provide three (3) references for plans which are currently utilizing your 
recordkeeping service and have similar demographics to FCPS in terms of expected 
cash flow, asset size, and participants. For each reference please provide the 
following: 

 
Entity name 
Contact name and title 
Telephone number and e-mail address 
Plan type (403(b), etc.) 
Number of participants 
Length and dates of relationship 

 
 

10. Please provide three (3) past customer references (no longer clients of your firm).  
For each reference please provide the following: 

 
Entity name 
Contact name and title 
Telephone number and e-mail address 
Plan type (403(b), etc.) 
Number of participants 
Length and dates of relationship 
Reason for termination of relationship 
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II. Recordkeeping and Administration 

 
A. Auditor Report 
 

1. Please provide the following information regarding how your firm meets SSAE 18:  
a. Date of the most recent independent quality control audit of your recordkeeping 

system; 
b. Name of auditing company;   
c. Total number of all exceptions found;    
d. Frequency of audits performed;   
e. Please provide a copy of auditor’s most recent report, as well as their opinion letter.  

 
2. If exceptions were noted in the auditor’s report, please list them along with the 

corrective steps which your company has taken (please do not refer to attachments).   
 
3. Regarding testing criteria for the SOC audits: 

a. How is testing criteria determined? 
b. Is this for Type 1 and Type 2?  
c. Who determines the test criteria?  
d. How many control objectives were set? Please provide an actual figure. 
e. How many actual tests were conducted to evaluate the control objectives? Please 

provide an actual figure. 
 

 
B. Systems Maintenance 

 
Note:  Please answer the following as it pertains to the recordkeeping system that 
will be used for FCPS. 

 
1. If an outside vendor provides your recordkeeping system, please identify the outside 

vendor and describe the arrangement, including terms and guarantees. 
 
2. Was the recordkeeping system developed internally, purchased, or leased from 

another provider?   
 
3. Does your record keeping system have a formal name? 
   
4. How long has your recordkeeping system been in place?  
 
5. In addition to the current recordkeeping system that your firm is proposing, how many 

other recordkeeping platforms does your firm currently have in place? 
 

6. Who has the ultimate responsibility/authority to make sure the system remains current 
with laws, regulations, client needs, etc.? 

 
7. Does your organization have different groups for systems development and product 

support? Identify the number of full-time employees that comprise systems 
development and product support. 
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8. How many participants have been maintained on the proposed recordkeeping system 
each year over the past 5 years (2020, 2019, 2018, 2017, and 2016)?   

 
9. How many plans have been maintained on the proposed recordkeeping system each 

year over the past 5 years (2020, 2019, 2018, 2017 and 2016)?   
 

10. Does your recordkeeping system protect participant data?  If yes, please describe the 
security protocols.  
 

11. Describe the security features for on-line and Internet access, both upon conversion 
and ongoing. 

 
12. Have your security protocols failed within the past 5 years? If so, please list the date 

and describe the security compromise.  
 

13. What percentage of your operating budget has your firm budgeted for a recordkeeping 
system in 2021? 

 
14. What system enhancements do you have planned over the next three years for your 

core recordkeeping system and service technology?   
  

15. How much did you spend on your recordkeeping system over the past 3 years (2020, 
2019 and 2018)? 

 
16. What makes your record keeping system and technology unique compared to your 

competitors? 
 

17. Describe your maintenance and backup procedures, including how frequently backups 
are performed, backup data retention timetable, and backup storage procedures.  How 
long is historical information retained on the system?  Do you store data off-line?  If 
yes, where?  When is it moved?  

18. Describe your system security and disaster recovery procedures.  How frequently are 
they tested?  When was the last test given and what were the results? 

 
19. Where are your redundancy centers located?  
 

20. How long does it take to switch over to the redundancy center?  
 

21. How often do you test your redundancy centers and are they tested for full fail?  
 

22. Do you have a Tier 3 Data center? Where is it located? 
 

23. In the next few years, how will the plan sponsor and participant experience change 
based on your firm’s planned technological changes? Please describe the specific 
enhancements.  

 
 
C. Cybersecurity 
 

1. Describe your underlying system. Is it a mainframe-based or a server-based system? 
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2. How often are updates and enhancements made to your recordkeeping system? 
 
3. Does your system update with batch processing or real-time functionality? 
 
4. How do you pass encrypted files? 
 
5. Do you transmit and store passwords and passcodes in a one-way encrypted format? 
 
6. How are your systems integrated? 
 
7. How do you manage attempted data breaches? 
 
8. Does the company use firewall technology to protect its network? 
 
9. Provide a description of your firm’s data security systems. 
 

10. Is there a cyber security guarantee? If so, what is it? 
 

11. Do you own your own data security center? 
 

12. Describe your disaster recovery and business continuity plans. 
 

13. Does your recordkeeping partner have full control of its recordkeeping system, or is 
reliant on others?  

 
14. Has your company had a data security breach where you needed to notify affected 

individuals or clients of loss of their personal identifiable information (PII)? 
 

 
III. Interactive Participant Services 

 
A. Voice Response Unit (“VRU”) 

 
1. Do you offer voice response services?   
 
2. What is your VRU toll-free number? 
 

3. Is voice system key entry only or does it have natural voice recognition capabilities as 
well?  Indicate all that apply:  
a. Key entry 
b. Voice recognition (number, short phrases) 
c. Natural voice recognition (full speech and sentences) 

 
4. Describe the services available through your VRU. 
 
5. Describe how data is secured within the system (i.e. PIN, audit trail, confirmations). 

 
6. Describe the level of customization available within your VRU. 
 
7. What transactions cannot be performed through VRU? 
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8. Can a participant elect to move from the VRU to a service representative? 
 
9. How often is the data on the VRU updated?  How does the VRU interface with the 

recordkeeping system? 
 

10. Can the plan sponsor broadcast special messages? 
 

 
B. Administration Call Center 

 
1. Does your organization offer live administrative support?  If yes, do you tape calls?  
 
2. Where is your call center located?   
 
3. How many call center representatives are currently employed?  
 
4. Please identify the toll-free number participants can call to reach a representative? 
 
5. What are the days and hours of availability for telephone account service 

representatives?   
  

6. Please provide the following information regarding your call center for each of the past 
five (5) years: 
a. Number of calls   
b. Average response time in seconds  
c. What are your service goals? (e.g. 75% of calls answered within 30 seconds) 
d. Average length of call  
e. Percentage of calls requiring follow-up    
f. Quality standards for call abandonment rate 
g. Actual call abandonment rate 
h. Percentage of incoming calls totally handled via VRU versus toll-free live service 

center representative. 
i. Percentage of service requests handled via website versus call center and VRU. 

 
7. How are participant calls logged and tracked and who has access to that information?     

Describe the steps taken to monitor and manage call volumes. 
 

8. What are your case management procedures for calls that have service issues? 
 

9. Do you offer phone services to Spanish speaking participants?  Are additional 
languages available?  If yes, please identify the languages that are readily available. 

 
10. Do you offer phone services to hearing-impaired participants?  If no, how do these 

participants communicate with your administration call center? 
 

11. Can your firm provide any dedicated representative(s) for FCPS?  If not, please explain 
how FCPS participants will be handled. 
 

12. Do you monitor/record all calls to the Administrative Call Center? 
 

13. Do you monitor for quality call assurance? Can you site a specific example? 
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14. Please describe security measures used in the Administrative Call Center to ensure 

caller identity. 
 
 
C. Internet Capabilities 

 
1. Please provide demo links and passwords to participant websites.    
 
2. What is the address of the participant website? 

 
3. Describe the account services and transaction capabilities available through your 

participant website. 
 

4. Can your firm provide automatic enrollment and automatic escalation to FCPS? 
 

5. Do you have back-up procedures in the event your server goes down?  Please explain. 
 
6.  Are there any transactions that cannot be processed through your website? 
 
7. If a participant elects to move from the website to a call center representative, describe 

the interface between the website and the representative. 
 
8. Is all data on the website real-time?  Is it also real-time with the recordkeeping system? 

 
9. What security protocols are in place to protect employee data?  

   
10. Have your security protocols ever been compromised?  If yes, what have you done to 

address this? 
 

  Yes  No 
 

11. What transactions can be processed on your website? (Yes or No) 
  
a. Confirmation reports; 
b. PIN resets;   
c. Request prospectus; 
d. Auto-rebalancing; 
e. Transaction history data; 
f. Deliver statements by email (e-delivery);   
g. Online enrollment for new participants;  
h. Balance Inquiries; 
i. Contribution changes; 
j. Beneficiary changes; 
k. Dollar cost averaging? 

  
12. Please describe your company’s rebalancing capabilities. How often can participants 

rebalance their accounts (e.g. daily, quarterly, semi-annually and annually)?  If the 
plan changes investment options, will participants need to re-select the option to 
rebalance?   
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D.   Interactive Participant Services 

 
1. Please provide a sample participant statement. 

 
2. Are participant statements mailed to the recipient’s home?  Can statements be e-

mailed rather than mailed?  If yes, who makes this choice? 
 
3. Please disclose the physical location of where these statements are generated and 

sent. 
 

4. Are participant statements available on the website?  
 
5. Are beneficiaries shown on participant statements? 

 
6. How many days after the end of the quarter are participant statements sent by mail?  

Are there additional costs for mailing statements?  
 
7. How many days after the end of the quarter are participant statements available on 

the website? 
 
8. Do you provide personalized rate-of-returns on your statements? On your website?  
 
9. What personalized rate-of-return time periods are reflected on the participant 

statements?  
 

10. What personalized rate-of-return time periods are available on the website?  
 

11. Can your firm import pension plan data from the State of Maryland? Can your firm 
provide a direct feed or will you need to make assumptions? 

 
12. Can your firm bring in outside sources of income? (e.g. Social Security and IRAs) Does 

your firm have the ability to aggregate and display this data on the participant website? 
   

13. Do you provide participants with the ability to calculate the after-tax impact of different 
deduction sizes on their take-home pay?   

 
14. Can you provide a required minimum distribution (RMD) calculator? 

 
15. Is your website fully functional even if a participant does not enroll in the proposed 

managed account program? 
 
 

IV. Communications 
 

A. Case Management 
 
1. Please identify the external case manager(s) (relationship managers) who will be 

assigned to work with FCPS’s staff. Please include their location and bio(s) with related 
experience, including number of years employed with your company.  
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2. To whom do the external case manager(s) report? How often will the external case 
manager(s) meet with their supervisor to review FCPS’s plan? Please include the 
supervisor’s bio with related experience, including number of years employed with 
your company. 
 

3. Please identify the internal case manager who will be assigned to work with FCPS 
staff. Please include their bio with related experience, including number of years 
employed with your company.  
 

4. What criteria did your firm use to determine that these individuals would serve as lead 
for FCPS?  

 
5. How many years of case manager experience do the proposed case managers each 

have?  
 

6. Please state the total number of cases, regardless of location or size, which are 
currently assigned to the proposed case managers? 
   

7. Within the past 5 years, have there been any written complaints filed against any of 
the proposed case managers? If yes, please describe.  

 
8. Please state whether case managers are salaried or commission-based employees. 
 
9. Please describe the compensation and incentive packages for the case manager.  
  

10. Is the proposed case manager eligible to receive a bonus? Under what conditions? 
 

11. If the proposed case manager will be salary based for this assignment, are they 
assigned to any other cases where they are compensated on a commission basis? If 
yes, how many of these cases are assigned on a commission basis? 

 
12. How many cases are jointly shared between the proposed internal and external case 

managers? If applicable, how many years have they been working together?  
 

13. How often would your firm be willing to meet with FCPS to review the plan?  
 

14. Please provide a sample plan sponsor review report. 
 
 
B. On-Site Representatives  
 

1. Please list all on-site representatives who will be assigned to work with FCPS 
participants. Please include their location and bios with related experience, including 
number of years employed with your company.  
 

2. Is the proposed on-site representative a W-2 employee or an independent contractor? 
 
• If they are an independent contractor, please provide proof of insurance coverage. 

 
• If your firm is using an independent representative, will they work exclusively with 

your firm for FCPS? 
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3. If your firm is utilizing independent contractors, what controls, if any, do you have over 

their business activity at FCPS including preventing non-sanctioned products from 
being solicited? How often is this reviewed and monitored? Please describe the 
monitoring process.  
 

4. Who is the proposed back-up representative? Please provide the biography of this 
person.  
 

5. How many years of experience as an on-site representative do each of the proposed 
on-site representatives have? 
 

6. Are there minimum qualification requirements for hiring an on-site representative? If 
so, please identify these requirements. 
 

7. Please describe your annual training procedures. 
 

8. Please describe the training received by the on-site representative(s) scheduled for 
2022.  

 
9. How did your firm determine that this individual would the most appropriate 

representative for FCPS?  
 

10. What designations and/or licenses are held by each proposed on-site representative?  
 

11. Can the proposed representative(s) give guidance or advice? 
 
12. Please state the total number of cases, regardless of location or size, which are 

currently assigned to the proposed on-site representatives?  
 

13. Within the past 5 years, have there been any written complaints filed against any of 
the proposed on-site representatives?  If yes, please describe.  

 
14. How often do the on-site representative and the external case manager meet to 

discuss the strategy for communicating the plan to participants?  
 
15. How many cases are assigned jointly to the proposed external case manager and the 

proposed on-site representative? What is the date that they began working together? 
 
16.  What has been your company’s annual historical turnover of on-site representatives?  
 
17. Can your firm provide any guarantees as to how long the on-site representative will be 

assigned to FCPS?  
 
18. Will your firm allow FCPS to select the on-site representative? 
 
19. Do you permit your representatives to solicit non-sanctioned products? How does your 

company ensure that non-sanctioned products are not sold?  
 
20. Please state whether on-site representatives are salaried or commission-based 

employees.  
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21. If the proposed on-site representatives will be salaried based for this assignment, are 

they assigned to any other cases where they are compensated on a commission 
basis? If yes, how many cases are assigned on a commission basis?  

 
22. Identify the percentage of compensation that is variable based upon performance. 

 
23. What does the on-site representative believe has been the most effective strategy or 

tool to increase participation and salary deferrals?  
 
24. If your firm is not providing the identity of the on-site representative at this time, at what 

point in the process will this be determined?   
 
 
C. Financial Planning Services 

 
1. Please describe the additional financial planning services that your firm can provide. 

 
2. Will your firm or an outside firm be providing these services?  
 
3. Will this firm be able to provide guidance or advice? 

 
4. Is there an additional cost for these services? 

 
5. Will all participants have access to these services? 

 
6. Who is the ideal candidate to utilize these services?  

 
7. Does this include access to a CFP?  
 
 

D. Ongoing Communications 
 

1. Can your company provide additional days of on-site meeting if FCPS desires them?  
If yes, what is the cost for each additional meeting? 

 
2. Can your company provide both group seminars and individual meetings to FCPS 

participants?  
 
3. Will your company provide night/evening hours for on-site support?  
 
4. How do you communicate with the plan sponsor to set up ongoing group seminars and 

individual meetings?  
 

5. Are participants able to schedule these meetings online? 
 

6. Can your firm attend FCPS’s new employee orientations as part of its communication 
strategy? Is this included in your proposed number of communication days?  

 
7. What behavioral finance insights does your company use to increase participation or 

expand participation to non-participants? 
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8. What behavioral finance insights does your company use to maintain existing 

participation? 
 
9. Describe the process you use to help plan sponsors measure the effectiveness of 

employee education efforts. 
 

10. Can you provide targeted communications to certain employee groups or 
demographics? 

 
• What types of communication materials will you provide to retirees? 

 
11. Do you provide communication and education material in a foreign language? If so, 

what language(s) and what material?  
 
12. If changes are made to the investment fund line-up, will your company communicate 

these changes to the participant, or is it the responsibility of FCPS? 
 

13. Can your firm provide participant outreach to assist participants in updating their 
beneficiaries? If so, please explain. 

 
 

D. Implementation 
 

1. How many initial enrollment days are you willing to provide?  
 

2. How do you communicate with the plan sponsor to set up initial enrollment meetings?  
 

3. How many representatives will be available during the initial enrollment process? 
 
4. Provide a draft implementation plan including appropriate milestone deliverables and 

dates. Can you meet the implementation date outlined in the request for proposal (July 
1, 2022)? What is the latest selection date that would still allow you to meet the 
implementation?   

5. How frequently do you anticipate meeting/conferencing with the plan sponsor during 
the implementation? 
 

6. Describe your proposed plan for participant assets that would be subject to transfer 
charges or have other transfer restrictions. What outreach efforts would you 
recommend toward this participant demographic based on your experience with 
similar situations? Describe the communications at implementation and after. 
 

7. Please identify the individuals who will be assigned to this implementation, the number 
of years of experience applicable to each, and their respective biographies. 

 
8. What are the various stages of proofing communication materials before they are sent 

to participants? 
 

9. Describe the process used to ensure that implementation is successful and that key 
milestones are achieved. 
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10. Include a description of the role and responsibilities of the plan sponsor as a participant 

in all the above. 
 

11. Will you guarantee your stated implementation time frame and adjust fees if the 
original dates agreed upon are not met? What type of fee adjustment will your firm 
make? 

 
12. What administrative activities will remain a responsibility of the plan sponsor after 

implementation is completed? 
 
 
E. Webinars 
 

1. Please describe your ability to conduct webinars to communicate important aspects of 
the plan.  
 

2. What makes your webinars unique compared to your competitors? 
 

 
V.   Custodial Services   

 
1.   Will you provide custodial services in-house or use an independent third party? 

 
2.   What are the custodian’s fiduciary responsibilities? 
 
3. Identify the asset level currently in custody with the proposed custodian/trustee. 

Provide a copy of the organization’s most recent annual report.  
4. How many years have custodial services been provided to defined contribution plans? 
 

 5.   What type of insurance coverage will the custodian provide? 
 
6.   What is your turn-around time on check issuance? Can you accommodate other forms 

of payment? What payment methods are available?  
 
7.   Is your trust accounting system integrated with your recordkeeping system?   

 
 

VI. Investment Line-Up 
 

A. Investment Platform 
 

1. Please identify the total number of fund families which can be made available to FCPS.  
 
2. Please identify the total number of funds which can be made available to FCPS. If 

possible, do not include multiple share classes of the same fund.  
 

3. Will your company require that FCPS utilize any of your proprietary funds? If so, what 
percentage of funds must be your proprietary funds?  

 
4. Please provide a sample announcement letter regarding a fund option change.  
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5. How many annual “fund actions” are allowed annually in the contract? 

 
 
B. Managed Account Services 

 
1. Please identify the option(s) available to assist participants with managed asset 

allocation of their accounts.  For each service offered, please include: 
a.   Product name;  
b. Identify the fiduciary for each product; 
c. Fee schedule for each product offered. 

 
2. Generally, what is the percentage of your plans currently utilizing this managed 

account service? 
 

3. Describe any steps your company went through in selecting an independent advice 
provider. What continuing due diligence is performed regarding the advice provider? 
 

4. Identify all the channels through which investment advice is provided:  
a. Internet 
b. Service rep over phone 
c. Face to face  

5. Describe the process for a participant to enroll in the managed account service.  
6. What communications are sent to participants enrolled in managed accounts to solicit 

updated information? Provide a sample. 
 

 
C. Capital Preservation Strategy 

Note: Please provide a response for each capital preservation strategy. 
 

1. What type of investment vehicle(s) is your proposed capital preservation strategy?  
 

2. What is the current net rate of interest being credited to new deposits under this option 
as of June 30, 2021?  

 
3. Does this option credit “old” deposits with a different crediting rate? If yes, what is the 

current net interest rate being credited to old deposits as of June 30, 2021? 
  
4. If interest on new deposits is credited on a new money basis, please describe the 

method used for crediting interest to old money (i.e., banded - different rates credited 
to different cells or buckets, pooled - portfolio interest crediting, or other). 

 
5. Is the rate declared monthly, quarterly, semi-annually, or annually? 
 
6. Do inactive accounts receive the same interest rate as the rate credited to active 

accounts? 
 
7. Do you guarantee the current rate on new deposits? If yes, for what period of time? Is 

this a contractual rate guarantee? 
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8. Do you guarantee the rate credited to old money? If yes, for what period of time? 
 
9. Do you offer any guaranteed rate minimums? If so, please describe. 
 

10. Please provide the historical crediting rates of the proposed product for each quarter 
over the past 5 years starting with Q1 2021 (if available). 
 

11. What is the duration of the portfolio? 
 

12. What is the average credit quality of the portfolio backing the proposed capital 
preservation portfolio?  
 

13. What is the total asset amount in the proposed capital preservation strategy? 
 

14. Please provide the inception date of the proposed capital preservation strategy.  
 

15. Please describe any plan sponsor transfer restrictions on your proposed capital 
preservation strategy should another provider be selected.  

 
16. Are there any surrender charges? If yes, please describe. 
 

17. Are the assets subject to a Market Value Adjustment (“MVA”)? Please describe.    
 

18. Does your company offer a 90-day or 12-month put?  
 

19. If the proposed product is not a proprietary fund, do the deposits placed in this product 
generate any additional revenue for your firm? If so, please describe. 

 
20. Describe the liquidity of the capital preservation fund with regard to employer-directed 

transfers, withdrawals or contract termination, including the period of time over which 
the fixed account could be liquidated.  Describe any employer-directed restrictions or 
limitations (including any market value adjustment), which would apply. 

 
 
D. Self-Directed Brokerage  

 
1. Do you offer a self-directed brokerage option (“SDBO”)?  If no, please skip to section 

VII. 
 
2. Is this SDB being offered to FCPS? 
 
3. Is there an annual fee associated with this option? 

 
 
VII. In-Plan Annuity 

 
1. Does your firm offer an in-plan annuity for participants who wish to annuitize all or part 

of their assets? If so, please describe. 
 

2. Please describe the portability of the in-plan annuity. 
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3. In your opinion, if a plan implements an in-plan annuity, what are some additional plan 
sponsor fiduciary responsibilities for this program? 

 
 

VIII. Fee Disclosure 
 

1. Can your firm make fee disclosure available to participants and the Plan Sponsor? 
Please provide a sample of a participant fee disclosure form.  
 

2. Please confirm that your firm has the ability to show administrative fees on participant 
statements. 
 

3. Are individual participant measurements available to the Plan Sponsor? 
 

4. What documents do participants receive that identify the plan fees? 
 

5. Will your firm send the fee disclosure directly to participants? How is this 
disseminated?  
 

  Yes  No 
 

6. Will there be an additional cost to send the fee disclosures? 
 

7. Does your firm have the ability to implement fund revenue equalization or a zero-
revenue sharing arrangement?  

 
 
IX. Miscellaneous 
 

1. Please explain your firm’s strategy for consolidating participant assets from legacy 
vendors or from prior employers into the plan? 

 
2. Please describe your firm’s value proposition and how it differentiates itself in the 

marketplace. 
 

3. How often are client surveys sent out? 
 

4. Do you have live chat/text messaging service? 
 

5. Do you offer a student debt solution?  
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Pricing Proposal/Program Fees 
 
Note:  Please submit a pricing quote on one, or all, of the following scenarios. Please 
check which scenarios your firm will be bidding and show how your pricing would differ 
in each scenario.  
 
 __ 1 of 2 vendors; 
 __ 1 of 3 vendors; 
 __ 1 of 4 vendors;  
 __ 1 of 5 vendors 
 __ 1 of 6 vendors 
 __ More than 6 vendors; 
 

 
1. Are there any administrative fees?  If yes, please describe all administrative fees including, 

but not limited to administrative fees on your capital preservation strategy? 
 
2. What is your required revenue (in both basis points and fixed dollars) to administer this 

program? Please include your pricing assumptions.  
 
3. What is your revenue requirement (in both basis points and fixed dollars) to administer the 

program if your fund lineup does not include any proprietary options including capital 
preservation, managed accounts or target date funds? Please include your pricing 
assumptions. 

 
4. How long does your standard contract guarantee your professional fee schedule? 
 
5. Will your pricing be affected if FCPS defaults participants into e-delivery of statements? 
 

  Yes  No 
 
If yes, please describe. 

 
6. Other than investment management fees, are there any charges/fees assessed under your 

program which have not been covered in this section?  If yes, please explain. 
 

7. Please provide the following information regarding your self-directed brokerage capabilities: 
 

a. Name of brokerage firm; 
b. Annual fees; 
c. Transaction fees. 

 
8. What are the associated costs of your in-plan annuity program, if applicable? 
 

9. Please describe your service guarantees and associated penalties. 



Program Structure 
 
Note:  FCPS will be exploring various vendor scenarios shown below. Please check 
which scenarios your firm will be bidding.  
 
 __ 1 of 2 vendors; 
 __ 1 of 3 vendors; 
 __ 1 of 4 vendors;  
 __ 1 of 5 vendors 
 __ 1 of 6 vendors 
  __ More than 6 vendors; 



Vendor

403(b) 457(b) 403(b) 457(b) 403(b) 457(b) 403(b) 457(b)
AIG Retirement Services (VALIC) $36,599,844.08 $420,323.10 $1,664,661.81 $123,496.37 $1,979,699.52 $128,158.99 $1,773,890.52 $78,094.15
Ameriprise Financial $54,930.14 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Equitable $59,707,344.92 $1,077,047.90 $4,120,595.66 $322,542.97 $4,460,218.05 $297,142.62 $3,771,129.83 $209,354.46
FPS Trust Company - Plan(b) $264,066.07 $188,297.29 $63,543.70 $73,108.64 $115,984.59 $37,656.30 $30,272.72 $38,423.30
Franklin Templeton Mutual Funds $176,001.09 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Horace Mann Insurance Company $1,385,674.35 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Invesco OppenheimerFunds $257,882.57 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
IPX_American Century Services, LLC $15,210,723.31 $814,610.45 $1,017,854.18 $167,145.58 $1,000,470.89 $256,290.93 $985,647.94 $259,772.27
Lincoln Investment Planning, LLC $2,143,351.84 $0.00 $93,415.45 $0.00 $83,158.48 $0.00 $44,378.65 $0.00
Lincoln National Life Insurance Company $24,430,238.80 $0.00 $406,756.77 $0.00 $459,168.26 $0.00 $312,485.87 $0.00

Mass Mutual (Talcott-Hartford) $7,663,020.41 $0.00 $421,203.70 $0.00 $449,509.15 $0.00 $316,858.12 $0.00
Metropolitan Life Insurance Company $25,992,033.76 $0.00 $466,743.81 $0.00 $358,378.15 $0.00 $250,541.74 $0.00
PlanMember Services $37,511,367.22 $1,161,903.08 $1,459,245.56 $317,114.85 $1,284,926.78 $292,047.49 $1,000,907.69 $249,680.88
Security Benefit Group $15,602,634.69 $172,187.72 $541,657.66 $25,550.00 $538,401.27 $28,950.00 $563,210.67 $82,043.82
VOYA Financial $60,141,726.90 $3,756,915.39 $2,203,877.86 $687,472.93 $2,281,306.91 $887,372.00 $2,139,968.87 $918,201.93

Total $287,140,840.15 $7,591,284.93 $12,459,556.16 $1,716,431.34  $  13,011,222.05  $  1,927,618.33 $11,189,292.62 $1,835,570.81

Frederick County Public Schools 
Contributions And Participant Counts

Assets 2019 Annual Contributions 2020 Annual Contributions 2021 YTD Contributions

Page 1 of 1  TSA Consulting Group, Inc. is a retirement plan compliance administrator with corporate offices in Fort Walton Beach, Florida. TSA Consulting Group, Inc. does not market or sell investments and does not give
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Section 403(b) Plan Document for 
Public Schools, Community Colleges, and Public Universities and Colleges 

 
Article I – Purpose 

 
1.01 Purpose: Section 403(b) of the Code of 1986 permits contributions to be made to annuity contracts and custodial 

accounts under a 403(b) Plan to provide retirement benefits for employees of certain non-profit educational, 
charitable, humane and religious organizations.  The Employer whose name and signature appear on the Adoption 
Agreement hereby adopts a 403(b) Plan in the form of this Volume Submitter 403(b) Plan Document for Public 
Schools, as modified by the information provided and selections made in the Adoption Agreement, for the exclusive 
benefit of Employees and their beneficiaries. 

 
Article II- Definitions 

 
The following words and terms, when used in the Plan and the Adoption Agreement, shall have the meaning set forth below.  
 
2.01 Account: The account or accumulation maintained for the benefit of any Participant or Beneficiary under one or 

more Annuity Contracts or Custodial Accounts. For purposes of this Plan a separate account (including a separate 
bookkeeping account) shall include separate accounting. 

 
2.02 Account Balance: The bookkeeping account maintained for each Participant which reflects the aggregate amount 

credited to the Participant's Account under all Accounts, including the Participant's Elective Deferrals, the earnings or 
loss of each Annuity Contract or a Custodial Account (net of expenses) allocable to the Participant, any transfers for 
the Participant's benefit, and any distribution made to the Participant or the Participant's Beneficiary. If permitted in 
the applicable Annuity Contract or Custodial Account Agreement, in the case where a Participant has more than one 
Beneficiary at the time of the Participant's death, then a separate Account Balance shall be maintained for each 
Beneficiary. The Account Balance includes any account established under Article VIII  for rollover contributions and 
plan-to-plan transfers or exchanges made for a Participant, the account established for a Beneficiary after a 
Participant's death, and any account or accounts established for an Alternate Payee (as defined in section 414(p)(8) 
of the Code). 

 
2.03 Accumulated Benefit:  the sum of a Participant’s or Beneficiary’s Account Balances under all Funding Vehicles 

under the Plan. 
 
2.04 Administrative Appendix (Appendix): Persons to whom administrative functions have been allocated and the 

specific functions allocated to such persons shall be identified in an Administrative Appendix to the Plan. Service 
agreements and other records or information pertaining to the administration of the Plan may be included or 
incorporated by reference in the Administrative Appendix.  The Appendix will also include a list of all the Vendors of 
Funding Vehicles approved for use under the Plan, including sufficient information to identify the approved Funding 
Vehicles. This Appendix may be modified from time to time.  A modification of the Appendix is not an amendment 
of the Plan. 

 
2.05 Administrator: The person, committee, or other organization named in the Adoption Agreement, appointed by the 

Employer to administer the Plan. If no such Entity is named, the Administrator shall be the Employer. Functions of 
the Administrator, including those described in the Plan, may be performed by Vendors, designated agents of the 
Administrator, or others (including Employees a substantial portion of whose duties is administration of the Plan) 
pursuant to the terms of the Individual Agreements, written service agreements or other documents under the Plan.  
For this purpose, an Employee is treated as having a substantial portion of his or her duties devoted to administration 
of the Plan if the Employee’s duties with respect to administration of the Plan are a regular part of the Employee’s 
duties and the Employee’s duties relate to Participants and Beneficiaries generally (and the Employee only performs 
those duties for himself or herself as a consequence of being a Participant or Beneficiary). Such duties shall be 
outlined and provided to the Employer under the Administrative Appendix.  

 
2.06 Adoption Agreement: The instrument completed and executed by the Employer, in which the Employer adopts 

this Volume Submitter 403(b) Plan and selects its options under the Plan. Such Agreement may be amended by the 
Employer from time to time. 

 
2.07 After-Tax (Nondeductible) Employee Contribution: Any contribution made to the Plan by a Participant as an 

After–Tax Employee Contribution that is included in the Participant's gross income in the year in which made and 
that is maintained under a separate account or separate accounting to which earnings and losses are allocated. If 
elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, After-Tax Employee Contributions may be designated as 
Mandatory Employee Contributions. 
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2.08 Alternate Payee: A spouse, former spouse, child or other dependent of a Participant who is assigned under a 
qualified domestic relations order (as defined in §414(p) of the Code) a right to receive all or a portion of the benefits 
payable with respect to a Participant. 

 
2.09 Annuity Contract: A nontransferable group or individual contract as defined in sections 403(b)(1) and 401(g) of 

the Code, established for each Participant by the Employer, or by each Participant individually, that is issued by an 
insurance company qualified to issue annuities under any applicable State law and that includes payment in the form 
of an annuity.  

 
2.10 Beneficiary: The designated person or persons entitled to receive benefits under the Plan after the death of a 

Participant, subject to such additional rules as may be set forth in the Individual Agreements. If no designation has 
been made, or if no beneficiary is living at the time of a Participant's death, his Beneficiary shall be: 
 
(a) His surviving spouse; but if he has no surviving spouse, then 

 
(b) His surviving children, in equal shares; but if he has no surviving children, then 

 
(c) His estate. 

 
If the Individual Agreement permits, a Beneficiary may designate a subsequent Beneficiary(ies) to receive the 
remaining balance in the account upon such original Beneficiary's death. 

 
2.11 Break in Service 
 

(a) Hour of Service Method - If the Employer has specified in the Adoption Agreement that the Hour of Service 
method shall be used, then a Break in Service shall mean a Plan Year during which an Employee does not 
complete more than 500 (or less, if so elected in the Adoption Agreement) Hours of Service with the Employer. 
However, in determining the Break in Service referenced in this paragraph, the computation period shall be the 
same as that which is used to determine a Year of Service for eligibility purposes. 

 
 Solely for the purpose of determining whether a Break in Service for eligibility and vesting purposes has occurred 

in a computation period, an individual who is absent from work for maternity or paternity reasons shall receive 
credit for the Hours of Service which would otherwise have been credited to such individual but for such absence, 
or in any case in which such hours cannot be determined, 8 Hours of Service per day of such absence. The Hours 
of Service credited under this paragraph shall be credited in the computation period in which the absence begins 
if the crediting is necessary to prevent a Break in Service in that period, or, in all other cases, in the following 
computation period. 

 
(b) Elapsed Time Method - If the Employer has specified in the Adoption Agreement that the elapsed time method 

shall be used, then a Break in Service shall mean a Period of Severance of at least twelve-consecutive months. 
 

 A Period of Severance is a continuous period of time during which the Employee is not employed by the Employer. 
Such period begins on the date the Employee retires, quits, or is discharged, or if earlier, the 12 month 
anniversary of the date on which the Employee was otherwise first absent from service. 

 
 In the case of an individual who is absent from work for maternity or paternity reasons, the twelve-consecutive 

month period beginning on the first anniversary of the first date of such absence shall not constitute a Break in 
Service. 

 
(c) For purposes of Section 2.11(a) and (b) above, an absence from work for maternity or paternity reasons means 

an absence (1) by reason of the pregnancy of the individual, (2) by reason of the birth of a child of the individual, 
(3) by reason of the placement of a child with the individual in connection with the adoption of such child by 
such individual, or (4) for the purpose of caring for such child for a period beginning immediately following such 
birth or placement.  The total number of hours of service under this Section by reason of any such pregnancy or 
placement shall not exceed 501 hours. 

 
2.12 Code: The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as now in effect or as hereafter amended. All citations to sections of the 

Code are to such sections as they may from time to time be amended or renumbered.  
 
2.13 Collective Bargaining Agreement: An agreement which the Secretary of Labor finds to be a Collective Bargaining 

Agreement between employee representatives and one or more employers, if there is evidence that retirement 
benefits were the subject of good faith bargaining and if less than two percent of the Employees of the Employer 
who are covered pursuant to that agreement are professionals as defined in section 1.410(b)(-9(g) of the proposed 
regulations. For this purpose, the term "employee representatives" does not include any organization more than half 
of whose members are employees who are owners, officers, or executives of the Employer. 
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2.14 Compensation:  
 

(a)  All cash compensation for services to the Employer, including salary, wages, fees, commissions, bonuses, and 
overtime pay, that is includible in the Employee's gross income for the calendar year, plus amounts that would 
be cash compensation for services to the Employer includible in the Employee's gross income for the calendar 
year but for a compensation reduction election under section 125, 132(f), 401(k), 403(b), or 457(b) of the Code 
(including an election under Article III made to reduce compensation in order to have Elective Deferrals under 
the Plan). Such Compensation shall be determined under the most recent year of service pursuant to Section 
403(b)(4) of the Code and which precedes the taxable year by no more than five years. 

 
(b) Notwithstanding section 2.14(a) above, if elected in the Adoption Agreement, the Employer may exclude certain 

forms of compensation for purposes of determining the maximum permitted Elective Deferrals, Employer 
Contributions, or any other contributions being made to this Plan. 

 
2.15 Custodial Account: The group or individual custodial account or accounts, as defined in section 403(b)(7) of the 

Code, established for each Participant by the Employer, or by each Participant individually, to hold assets of the Plan.  
 
 2.16 Disabled: The definition of disability provided in the applicable Individual Agreement. If not defined in the Individual 

Agreement, “Disabled” shall mean,  pursuant to section 72(m)(7) of the Code, the inability to engage in any substantial 
gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment that can be expected to result 
in death or to be of long continued and indefinite duration.  The permanence and degree of such impairment shall 
be supported by medical evidence. 

 
2.17 Elective Deferral: The Employer contributions made to the Plan at the election of the Participant in lieu of receiving 

cash compensation. If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, Elective Deferrals may include pre-tax 
salary reduction contributions and Designated Roth Elective Deferrals.  

 
2.18 Employee: Each individual, whether appointed or elected, who is a common law Employee of the Employer 

performing services for a Public School of the State, as an Employee of the Employer. This definition is not applicable 
unless the Employee's Compensation for performing services for a Public School is paid by the Employer. Further, a 
person occupying an elective or appointive public office is not an Employee performing services for a Public School 
unless such office is one to which an individual is elected or appointed only if the individual has received training, or 
is experienced, in the field of education. A public office includes any elective or appointive office of a State or local 
government.  

 
2.19 Employer: The entity whose name appears on the Adoption Agreement executed by it, any successor which elects 

to continue the Plan, and any predecessor which has maintained this Plan.  Such Employer must be an organization 
which is a State or political subdivision of a State or an agency or instrumentality of either, that has employees who 
perform services for an educational institution (as defined in section 170(b)(1)(A)(ii) of the Code. For purposes of 
eligibility to participate in and make contributions to the Plan, “Employer” also includes any Related Employer that is 
an eligible employer within the meaning of section 1.403(b)-2(b)(8) of the Treasury Regulations and that is 
designated in the Adoption Agreement. 

2.20 Employer Contribution: Amounts contributed by the Employer, other than Elective Deferrals, for the Participant 
pursuant to Article XII of the Plan. 

 
2.21 Employer Contribution Account: The account established and maintained for each Participant consisting of the 

Participant's Employer Contribution Account and certain transfers, where no accounting has been maintained with 
respect to principal and interest on Elective Deferrals or other unknown amounts that are part of the Employee’s 
403(b) account. 

 
2.22 Entry Date: The date designated by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement.  
 
2.23   Excess Deferral:  For any taxable year, that portion of an Employee's Elective Deferrals that exceeds the limits of 

Section 402(g) of the Code. 
 
2.24 Funding Vehicles: The Annuity Contracts or Custodial Accounts that satisfy the requirements of section 1.403(b)-

3 of the Treasury Regulations and that are issued or established for funding amounts held under the Plan.  A list of 
Vendors of Funding Vehicles approved for use under the Plan, including sufficient information to identify the approved 
Funding Vehicles, shall be maintained in an appendix to the Plan.  The terms governing each Individual Agreements 
for the Funding Vehicles under the Plan, excluding those terms that are inconsistent with the Plan or section 403(b) 
of the Code, are hereby incorporated by reference in the Plan. 
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2.25 Hardship (Financial Hardship): Hardship is defined as an immediate and heavy financial need of the Employee 
where such Employee lacks other available resources. Unless the Employer maintains a separate Hardship Policy, the 
following are the only financial needs considered immediate and heavy:  

 
(a) expenses (within the meaning of section 213(d) of the Code) incurred or necessary for medical care of the 

Participant, the Participant’s spouse, or dependents or the Participant’s primary beneficiary (as defined in Q&A-
5 of IRS Notice 2007-7); 
 

(b) the purchase (excluding mortgage payments) of a principal residence for the Participant; 
 
(c) payment of tuition and related educational fees for the next 12 months of post-secondary education for the 

Participant, the Participant’s spouse, children or dependents or the Participant’s primary beneficiary;  
 
(d) payments necessary to prevent the eviction of the Participant from, or a foreclosure on the mortgage of, the 

Participant’s principal residence;  
 

(e) payments for burial or funeral expenses for the Participant’s deceased parent, spouse, child or dependent (as 
defined in Section 152, and, beginning on or after August 17, 2006, without regard to Section 152(d)(1)(B)) the 
Participant’s primary beneficiary; 

 
(f) expenses to repair damage to the Participant’s principal residence that would qualify for the casualty loss 

deduction under Code section 165 (determined without regard to whether the loss exceeds 10% of adjusted 
gross income); or 

 
(g) Other definitions of immediate and heavy financial needs promulgated by the Commissioner of Internal Revenue 

through the publication of revenue rulings, notices, and other documents of general applicability. 
  
 The Plan must demonstrate that it satisfies section 1.401(k)-(1)(d)(3)(iv)(E) of the Treasury Regulations. 
 
2.26 Hour of Service: 
 

(a) Each hour for which an Employee is directly or indirectly compensated, or entitled to compensation, by the 
Employer for the performance of duties during the applicable computation period; each hour for which an 
Employee is directly or indirectly compensated or entitled to compensation by the Employer (irrespective of 
whether the employment relationship has terminated) for reasons other than performance of duties (such as 
vacation, holidays, sickness, jury duty, disability, lay-off, military duty, or Authorized Leave of Absence) during 
the applicable computation period; and, each hour for which back pay is awarded or agreed to by the Employer 
without regard to mitigation of damages. 
 

(b) Notwithstanding the above, (1) no more than 501 Hours of Service are required to be credited to an Employee 
on account of any single continuous period during which the Employee performs no duties (whether or not such 
period occurs in a single computation period), (2) an hour for which an Employee is directly or indirectly paid, 
or entitled to payment, on account of a period during which no duties are performed is not required to be 
credited to the Employee if such payment is made or due under a plan maintained solely for the purpose of 
complying with applicable workers' compensation, unemployment compensation, or disability insurance laws; 
and (3) Hours of Service are not required to be credited for a payment which solely reimburses an Employee for 
medical or for medically-related expenses incurred by the Employee. 

 
(c) For purposes of this Section, a payment shall be deemed to be made by, or due from, the Employer regardless 

of whether such payment is made by, or due from, the Employer directly or indirectly through, among others, 
a trust fund, or insurer, to which the Employer contributes or pays premiums, and regardless of whether 
contributions made or due to the trust fund, insurer, or other entity are for the benefit of particular Employees 
or are on behalf of a group of Employees in the aggregate. 

 
(d) An Hour of Service must be counted for the purpose of determining a year of participation for purposes of 

accrued benefits and the employment (or re-employment) commencement date.  The provisions of Department 
of Labor Regulations 2530.200b 2 are incorporated herein by reference. 

 
2.27 Individual Agreement(s): The agreements between a Vendor and the Employer or a Participant that constitutes 

or governs a Custodial Account or an Annuity Contract.  
 
2.28 Nonresident Alien: A nonresident alien who receives no earned income from the Employer which constitutes 

income from sources within the United States (within the meaning of section 861(a)(3) of the Code). 
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2.29 Participant: An individual for whom Elective Deferrals or Employer Contributions are currently being made, or for 
whom Elective Deferrals or Employer Contributions have previously been made, under the Plan and who has not 
received a distribution of his or her entire benefit under the Plan. All Employees of the Employer will be eligible to 
participate in the Plan except for those Employees excluded in the Adoption Agreement. 

2.30 Plan: The name of the Plan, as indicated on the Employer’s Adoption Agreement. 
 
2.31 Plan Year: The calendar year, unless a different12 month period or a short Plan Year is specified by the Employer 

in the Adoption Agreement. 
 
2.32 Public School: An educational organization described in section 170(b)(1)(A)(ii) of the Code (relating to educational 

organizations that normally maintain a regular faculty and curriculum and normally has a regularly enrolled body of 
pupils or students in attendance at the place where educational activities are regularly carried out). Such definition 
shall also include State Departments of Education pursuant to Revenue Ruling 73-607. 

 
2.33 Qualified Employee: For purposes of the special section 403(b) Catch-up limitation (defined under section 4.02, 

an Employee who has completed at least 15 Years of Service taking into account only employment with the Employer. 
 
2.34 Qualified Organization: An organization that is an educational organization described in section 170(b)(1)(A)(ii), 

a hospital, a health and welfare service agency (including a home health service agency), a church related 
organization, or any organization described in section 414(e)(3)(B)(ii).  

 
2.35  Related Employer: The Employer and any other entity which is under common control with the Employer under 

section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code as defined in section 1.403(b)-2(b)(8) of the Treasury Regulations and 
that is designated in the Adoption Agreement. For this purpose, the Employer shall determine which entities are 
Related Employers based on a reasonable, good faith standard and taking into account the special rules applicable 
under Notice 89-23, 1989-1 C.B. 654.  
 

2.36 Roth Elective Deferrals: A Roth Elective Deferral is an Elective Deferral that is: (1) designated irrevocably by the 
Participant at the time of the cash or deferred election as a Roth Elective Deferral that is being made in lieu of all or 
a portion of the pre-tax Elective Deferrals the Participant is otherwise eligible to make under the Plan; and (2) treated 
by the employer as includible in the Participant’s income at the time the Participant would have received that amount 
in cash if the Participant had not made a cash or deferred election. 

 
2.37 Salary Reduction Agreement: A legally binding agreement between the Employer and Employee whereby the 

Employee authorizes a reduction in the Employee's future salary or foregoes an increase in salary with respect to 
amounts earned after the Plan's effective date, and whereby the Employer agrees to contribute the amount of salary 
reduced or foregone by the Employee to the Plan.  The Salary Reduction Agreement may be terminated at any time 
by either the Employer or the Employee with respect to amounts not yet earned by the Employee. 

 
2.38  Severance from Employment: For purpose of the Plan, Severance from Employment means that the Employee 

ceases to be employed by the Employer maintaining the Plan or a Related Employer that is eligible to maintain a 
section 403(b) Plan. However, a Severance from Employment also occurs on any date on which an Employee ceases 
to be an employee of a Public School, even though the Employee may continue to be employed by a Related Employer 
that is another unit of the State or local government that is not a Public School or in a capacity that is not employment 
with a public school (e.g., ceasing to be an employee performing services for a public school but continuing to work 
for the same State or local government employer). 

 
2.39 Sponsor of the 403(b) Volume Submitter Plan (Sponsor): The entity identified in the Adoption Agreement and 

who has received an Advisory Letter from the IRS with respect to the Plan. 
 
2.40  State:  A State, a political subdivision of a State, or any agency or instrumentality of a State.  “State” includes the 

District of Columbia (pursuant to section 7701(a)(10) of the Code).  An Indian tribal government is treated as a State 
pursuant to section 7871(a)(6)(B) of the Code for purposes of section 403(b)(1)(A)(ii) of the Code. 

 
2.41 Valuation Date: The date or dates specified by the Employer and communicated to the Administrator. 
 
2.42  Vendor: The provider of an Annuity Contract or Custodial Account. The Vendors selected by the Employer to receive 

ongoing payroll contributions shall be specified in the Administrative Appendix.  Such Plan Vendor Attachment shall 
specify the Vendors who have entered into Information Sharing Agreements. Such Attachment shall be construed to 
be a part of the 403(b) Plan, and may be amended at any time by the Employer by re-executing such Plan Vendor 
Attachment. 

 
2.43 Year of Service:  
 

(a) For purposes of determining Includible Compensation or Special Catch-Up Contributions, “Year of Service” 
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means each full year during which an individual is a full-time Employee of the Employer, plus fractional credit 
for each part of a year during which the individual is either a full-time Employee of the Employer for a part of 
a year or a part-time Employee of the Employer.  The Employee must be credited with a full Year of Service for 
each year during which the Employee is a full-time Employee and a fraction of a year for each part of a work 
period during which the Employee is a full-time or part-time Employee of the Employer.  An Employee’s number 
of Years of Service equals the aggregate of the annual work periods during which the Employee is employed 
by the Employer.  The work period is the Employer’s annual work period. 
 

(b) For purposes of determining Eligibility and Vesting for Employer Contributions, Year of Service shall be 
determined by one of the following methods:  

 
(1) Hours of Service Method: If the Employer has specified in the Adoption Agreement that service will be 

credited on the basis of hours, days, weeks, semi-monthly payroll periods, or months, a Year of Service is 
a 12-consecutive month computation period during which the Employee completes at least the number of 
Hours of Service (not to exceed 1,000) specified in the Adoption Agreement. 
 

(2) Elapsed Time Method:  
 

(A) If the Employer has specified in the Adoption Agreement (or if the Adoption Agreement default is) 
that service will be credited under the Elapsed Time Method, for purposes of determining an 
Employee's initial or continued eligibility to participate in the Plan or the nonforfeitable interest in a 
Participant's account balance derived from Employer Contributions, a Year of Service is a period of 
service of 365 days 

 
(B) For purposes of determining an Employee's initial or continued eligibility to participate in the Plan or 

the nonforfeitable interest in the Participant's account balance derived from Employer Contributions, 
(except for periods of service which may be disregarded on account of the "rule of parity") an 
Employee will receive credit for the aggregate of all time period(s) commencing with the Employee's 
first day of employment or reemployment and ending on the date a Break in Service begins. The first 
day of employment or reemployment is the first day the Employee performs an Hour of Service. An 
Employee will also receive credit for any period of severance of less than 12 consecutive months. 
Fractional periods of a year will be expressed in terms of days. 

 
(3) Except where specifically excluded under in the Adoption Agreement,  all of an Employee's Years of Service 

shall be taken into account for eligibility and vesting purposes, including Years of Service for an employee 
to be aggregated with the Employer pursuant to section 414(b), (c), or (m) of the Code. 

 
2.44 Definitions Related to Eligible Automatic Contribution Arrangements (EACAs): 
 

(a) EACA:  An “EACA” is an automatic contribution arrangement that satisfies the uniformity requirement in Section 
3 of this Article and the notice requirement in Section 4 of this Article. 
 

(b) Automatic Contribution Arrangement: An "automatic contribution arrangement” is an arrangement under which, 
in the absence of an affirmative election by a Covered Employee, a certain percentage of the Covered Employee’s 
Compensation will be contributed to the Plan as an Elective Deferral in lieu of being included in the Covered 
Employee’s pay. 

 
(c) Covered Employee:  A “Covered Employee” is a Participant identified in the Adoption Agreement as being covered 

under the EACA. 
 

(d) Default Elective Deferrals: “Default Elective Deferrals” are the Elective Deferrals contributed to the Plan under 
the EACA on behalf of Covered Employees who do not have an affirmative election in effect regarding Elective 
Deferrals. 

 
(e) Default Percentage:  The “Default Percentage” is the percentage of a Covered Employee’s Compensation 

contributed to the Plan as a Default Elective Deferral for the Plan Year. The Default Percentage is specified in 
the Adoption Agreement. 

  
 
 
2.45  Definitions Related to Limitation on Annual Additions: 

 
(a) Annual Additions: The following amounts credited to a Participant under the Plan or any other plan aggregated 

with the Plan under sections 5.01(b) and 5.01(c): 
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(1) Employer contributions, including Elective Deferrals (other than age 50 Catch up contributions described 
in section 414(v) of the Code and contributions that have been distributed to the Participant as Excess 
Elective Deferrals); 
 

(2) After-tax Employee contributions; 
 

(3) Forfeitures allocated to the Participant’s Account; 
 

(4) Amounts allocated to an individual medical account, as defined in section 415(l)(2) of the Code, which is 
part of a pension or annuity plan, and amounts derived from contributions paid or accrued which are 
attributable to post-retirement medical benefits, allocated to the separate account of a key employee, as 
defined in section 419A(d)(3) of the Code, under a welfare benefit fund, as defined in section 419(e) of 
the Code; and 

 
(5) Allocations under a simplified employee pension. 

 
Amounts described in 2.45(a)(1), (2), (3) and (5) are annual additions for purposes of both the dollar limitation 
under section 2.45(d)(1) and the percentage of compensation limitation under section 2.45(d)(2).  Amounts 
described in (d) are annual additions solely for purposes of the dollar limitation under section 2.45(d)(1). 

(b) Includible Compensation:  

(1) An Employee's actual wages that are included in the Participant’s gross income for Federal income tax 
purposes (computed without regard to section 911 of the Code, relating to United States citizens or 
residents living abroad), including differential wage payments under section 3401(h) of the Code for the 
most recent period that is a Year of Service.  Includible Compensation also includes any Elective Deferral 
or other amount contributed or deferred by the Employer at the election of the Employee that would be 
includible in gross income but for the rules of section 125, 132(f)(4), 402(e)(3), 402(h)(1)(B), 402(k), or 
457(b) of the Code.  Includible Compensation does not include any compensation received during a period 
when the Employer was not an eligible employer within the meaning of section 1.403(b)-2(b)(8) of the 
Treasury Regulations.  The amount of Includible Compensation is determined without regard to any 
community property laws.  Except as provided in section 1.401(a)(17)-1(d)(4)(ii) of the Treasury 
Regulations with respect to eligible Participants in governmental plans, the amount of Includible 
Compensation of each Participant taken into account in determining contributions shall not exceed 
$265,000, as adjusted for cost-of- living increases in accordance with section 401(a)(17)(B) of the Code 
for periods after 2016. 

(2) For purposes of applying the limitations on Annual Additions to nonelective Employer contributions 
pursuant to section 415 of the Code, Includible Compensation for a Participant who is permanently and 
totally disabled (as defined in section 72(m)(7) of the Code) is the compensation such Participant would 
have received for the Limitation Year if the Participant had been paid at the rate of compensation paid 
immediately before becoming permanently and totally disabled. 

(c) Limitation Year: The Limitation Year means the Plan Year selected in the Adoption Agreement. However, if the 
Participant is in control of an Employer pursuant to section 5.01(c) above, the Limitation Year shall be the 
Limitation Year in the defined contribution plan controlled by the Participant. 

(d) Maximum Annual Addition: The Annual Addition that may be contributed or allocated to a Participant’s account 
under the Plan for any Limitation Year shall not exceed the lesser of: 

(1) $53,000, as adjusted for increases in the cost-of –living under section 415 (d) of the Code for 2015 or 
2016 periods , or 

(2) 100 percent of the Participant’s Includible Compensation for the Limitation Year. 

(e) Contributions for Medical Benefits After Separation of Service: The Includible Compensation limit referred to 
in referred to in (d)(2) above shall not apply to any contribution for medical benefits after separation from 
service (within the meaning of section 401(h) or section 419A(f)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code) which is 
otherwise treated as an Annual Addition. 

(f) Section 403(b) Prototype Plan: A Section 403(b) Prototype Plan means a section 403(b) plan the form of which 
is the subject of a favorable opinion letter from the Internal Revenue Service. 

(g) Employer: Solely for purposes of this Article, “Employer” means the employer that has adopted the Plan and any 
employer required to be aggregated with that employer under section 414(b) and (c) (taking into account section 
415(h)), (m), (o), of the Internal Revenue Code and section 1.414(c)-5 of the Treasury Regulations. 

(h) Excess Annual Addition.  “Excess Annual Addition” means the excess of the Annual Additions credited to the 
Participant for the Limitation Year under the Plan and plans aggregated with the Plan under sections 5.01(b) (c) 
over the Maximum Annual Addition for the Limitation Year under section 5.01(d)  
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2.46  Definitions Related to Employer Contributions: 
 

(a) Vested Percentage:  The nonforfeitable percentage of each Participant's Employer Contribution Account 
determined in accordance with the vesting formula specified in the Adoption Agreement. 

 
(b) For Vesting Purposes - For purposes of computing the Employee's nonforfeitable right to the account balance 

derived from Employer Contributions, Years of Service and Breaks in Service will be measured by the Plan Year. 
 
(c)  If 100% vesting after 2 years of service is selected in the Adoption Agreement and if an Employee has a 1-year 

Break in Service before satisfying the Plan's requirement for eligibility, service before such break will not be taken 
into account. 

 
Article III - Participation and Contributions 

 
3.01  Eligibility: Each Employee shall be eligible to participate in the Plan and elect to have Elective Deferrals made on 

his or her behalf hereunder immediately upon becoming employed by the Employer, or if later, the Entry Date 
specified in the Adoption Agreement. If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement the following Employees 
may also be excluded: (a) nonresident aliens who receive no earned income from the Employer which constitutes 
income from sources within the U.S.;  (b) Employees who are participants in an eligible deferred compensation plan 
within the meaning of section 457 of the Code or a qualified cash or deferred arrangement of the Employer or another 
custodial account or annuity described in section 403(b) of the Code; (c) students performing services in the employee 
of a school, college, or university as descried in section 3121(b)(10); and (d) an Employee who normally works fewer 
than 20 hours per week. 
 

For exclusions outlined above under Section 3.01(c) and (d), if any Employee in one of these two categories is 
permitted to participate, then all employees in that category must be permitted to participate in the Plan. 
 

An Employee normally works fewer than 20 hours per week if, for the 12-month period beginning on the date the 
Employee's employment commenced, the Employer reasonably expects the Employee to work fewer than 1,000 hours 
of service (as defined under section 410(a)(3)(C) of the Code) and, for each Plan Year ending after the close of that 
12-month period, the Employee has worked fewer than 1,000 hours of service. 
 
If the Employer has elected the “20 hour rule” in the Adoption Agreement as an exclusion for Employees to be eligible 
to defer, once the Employee is eligible they will remain eligible for future years. 
 

3.02  Compensation Reduction Election:  
 

(a) General Rule: An Employee elects to become a Participant by executing an election to reduce his or her 
Compensation (and have that amount contributed as an Elective Deferral on his or her behalf) and filing it with 
the Administrator or its designated agent. This Compensation reduction election shall be made on the agreement 
provided by the Administrator under which the Employee agrees to be bound by all the terms and conditions of 
the Plan. The Administrator may establish an annual minimum deferral amount no higher than $200, and may 
change such minimum to a different  amount (but not in excess of $200 or such lower amount so specified in 
the Adoption Agreement), from time to time. The participation election shall also include designation of the 
Funding Vehicles and Accounts therein to which Elective Deferrals are to be made. Any such election shall remain 
in effect until a new election is filed. Only an individual who performs services for the Employer as an Employee 
may reduce his or her Compensation under the Plan. An Employee shall become a Participant as soon as 
administratively practicable following the date applicable under the Employee's election, or if later, the Entry 
Date specified in the Adoption Agreement. 
 

(b) Compensation for Compensation Reduction Election: For purposes of the Compensation Reduction Election, 
unless elected otherwise in the Adoption Agreement, “Compensation” means all cash compensation for services 
to the Employer, including salary, wages, fees, commissions, bonuses and overtime pay, that is includible in the 
Employee’s gross income for the calendar year and amounts that would be cash compensation includible in gross 
income but for a reduction election under section 125, 132(f), 401(k), 403(b), or 457(b) of the Code (including 
a Compensation Reduction Election under the Plan). 

 
(c) Leave of Absence: Unless an election is otherwise revised, if an Employee is absent from work by leave of 

absence, Elective Deferrals under the Plan shall continue to the extent that Compensation continues. 
 

(d) Timing of Elective Deferrals: Elective Deferrals must be transferred to the Plan within a period that is not longer 
than what is reasonable for the proper administration of the Plan. Since this Plan is not subject to ERISA, 
notwithstanding any policy adopted to the contrary, the applicable State laws requirements shall be used. 
 

3.03 Eligible Automatic Contribution Arrangement (EACA)  
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(a)  Rules of Application 
 

(1) Employer Election of EACA Option:  If an EACA is permitted under the terms of an Individual Agreement and 
the Employer has elected the EACA option in the Adoption Agreement, the provisions of this Section 3.03 
shall apply for the Plan Year and, to the extent that any other provision of the Plan is inconsistent with the 
provisions of this section, the provisions of this section shall govern. 
 

(2) Default Elective Deferrals: Default Elective Deferrals will be made on behalf of Covered Employees who do 
not have an affirmative election in effect regarding Elective Deferrals.  The amount of Default Elective 
Deferrals made for a Covered Employee each pay period is equal to the Default Percentage specified in the 
Adoption Agreement multiplied by the Covered Employee’s Compensation for that pay period.  If the 
Employer has so elected in the Adoption Agreement, a Covered Employee’s Default Percentage will increase 
by one percentage point each Plan Year, beginning with the second Plan Year that begins after the Default 
Percentage first applies to the Covered Employee. The increase will be effective beginning with the first 
pay period that begins in such Plan Year or, if elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, the first 
pay period in such Plan Year that begins on or after the date specified in the Adoption Agreement. 

 
(3) Right to Make Affirmative Election: A Covered Employee will have a reasonable opportunity after receipt of 

the notice described in Section 3.03(d) of this Article to make an affirmative election regarding Elective 
Deferrals (either to have no Elective Deferrals made or to have a different amount of Elective Deferrals 
made) before Default Elective Deferrals are made on the Covered Employee’s behalf. Default Elective 
Deferrals being made on behalf of a Covered Employee will cease as soon as administratively feasible after 
the Covered Employee makes an affirmative election to have no Elective Deferrals made or to have a 
different amount of Elective Deferrals made. 
 

 (b)  Definitions:  Refer to Article II, Section 2.43 for definitions related to Eligible Automatic Contribution 
Arrangements (EACAs). 

 
(c)  Uniformity Requirement 

 
(1) Non-increasing Default Percentage. Except as provided in Section 3.03(c)(2) below or if the Employer has 

elected an increasing Default Percentage in the Adoption Agreement, the same percentage of Compensation 
will be withheld as Default Elective Deferrals from all Covered Employees subject to the Default Percentage. 

 

(2) Required Reduction or Cessation of Default Elective Deferrals. Default Elective Deferrals will be reduced or 
stopped to meet the limitations under §§ 402(g), and 415 of the Code and to satisfy any suspension period 
required after a distribution. 

 
(d)  Notice Requirement 

 
(1) Timing of Notice.  At least 30 days, but not more than 90 days, before the beginning of the Plan Year, the 

Employer will provide each Covered Employee a notice of the Covered Employee's rights and obligations 
under the EACA as described in section 3.03(d)(2), written in a manner calculated to be understood by the 
average Covered Employee.  If an Employee becomes a Covered Employee after the 90th day before the 
beginning of the Plan Year and does not receive the notice for that reason, the notice will be provided no 
more than 90 days before the Employee becomes a Covered Employee but not later than the date the 
Employee becomes a Covered Employee. 

 
(2) Content of Notice: The notice must accurately describe: 

(A) The amount of Default Elective Deferrals that will be made on the Covered Employee’s behalf in the 
absence of an affirmative election; 

(B) The Covered Employee’s right to elect to have no Elective Deferrals made on his or her behalf or to 
have a different amount of Elective Deferrals made; 

(C) How Default Elective Deferrals will be invested in the absence of the Covered Employee’s investment 
instructions; and 

(D) The Covered Employee’s right under section 3.03(e)(1) to make a withdrawal of Default Elective 
Deferrals and the procedures for making such a withdrawal. 

 
(e) Withdrawal of Default Elective Deferrals 

 
(1) 90-Day Withdrawal Period. No later than 90 days after a Covered Employee’s pay is first reduced by Default 

Elective Deferrals, the Covered Employee may request a distribution of his or her Default Elective Deferrals.  
No spousal consent is required for a withdrawal under this Section 3.03(e). 
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(2) Amount of Withdrawal.  The amount to be distributed from the Plan upon the Covered Employee’s request 
is equal to the amount of Default Elective Deferrals made through the earlier of (a) the pay date for the 
second payroll period that begins after the Covered Employee’s withdrawal request and (b) the first pay 
date that occurs after 30 days after the Covered Employee’s request, plus attributable earnings through the 
date of distribution. Any fee charged to the Covered Employee for the withdrawal may not be greater than 
any other fee charged for a cash distribution. 

 

(3) Effect of Withdrawal on Elective Deferrals. Unless the Covered Employee affirmatively elects otherwise, 
any withdrawal request will be treated as an affirmative election to stop having Elective Deferrals made on 
the Covered Employee’s behalf as of the date specified in Section 3.03(e)(2) above. 

 

(4) Treatment of Withdrawn Amounts.  Default Elective Deferrals distributed pursuant to this Section 3.03 are 
not counted towards the dollar limitation on Elective Deferrals contained in Code § 402(g).  Matching 
Contributions that might otherwise be allocated to a Covered Employee’s Account on behalf of Default 
Elective Deferrals will not be allocated to the extent the Covered Employee withdraws such Elective Deferrals 
pursuant to this Section 3.03 and any Matching Contributions already made on account of Default Elective 
Deferrals that are later withdrawn pursuant to this Section 3.03 will be forfeited. 

 
(f) Special Rule for Distribution of Excess Aggregate Contributions: If the Employer has elected in the Adoption 

Agreement that all Participants are Covered Employees, then the Plan has until 6 months (rather than 2½ 
months) after the end of the Plan Year to distribute Excess Aggregate Contributions and avoid the Code section 
4979 10% excise tax. 

3.04 Roth 403(b) Elective Deferrals 

 
(a) General Application 

 
(1)  If the Employer has elected in the Adoption Agreement, this Section 3.04 will apply to contributions 

beginning with the effective date specified in the Adoption Agreement but in no event before the first day 
of the first taxable year beginning on or after January 1, 2006. 

(2)  As of the effective date under section 3.04(a)(1), the Plan will accept Roth Elective Deferrals made on behalf 
of Participants. A Participant’s Roth Elective Deferrals will be allocated to a separate account maintained for 
such deferrals as described in section 3.04(b). 

(3)  Unless specifically stated otherwise, Roth Elective Deferrals will be treated as Elective Deferrals for all 
purposes under the Plan. 

 
(b) Separate Accounting 

 
(1) Contributions and withdrawals of Roth Elective Deferrals will be credited and debited to the Roth Elective 

Deferral account maintained for each Participant. 
(2) The Plan will maintain a record of the amount of Roth Elective Deferrals in each Participant’s account. 
(3)  Gains, losses, and other credits or charges must be separately allocated on a reasonable and consistent 

basis to each Participant’s Roth Elective Deferral account and the Participant’s other accounts under the 
Plan. 

(4)  No contributions other than Roth Elective Deferrals and properly attributable earnings will be credited to 
each Participant’s Roth Elective Deferral account. 

 
(c) Direct Rollovers 

 
(1)  Notwithstanding any provision in this Plan, a direct rollover of a distribution from a Roth Elective Deferral 

account under the Plan will only be made to another Roth Elective Deferral account under an applicable 
retirement plan described in section 402A(e)(1) or to a Roth IRA described in  section 408A, and only to the 
extent the rollover is permitted under the rules of section 402(c). 

(2) Notwithstanding any provision in this Plan, unless otherwise provided by the Employer in the Adoption 
Agreement, the Plan will accept a rollover contribution to a Roth Elective Deferral account only if it is a direct 
rollover from another Roth Elective Deferral account under an applicable retirement plan described in section 
402A(e)(1) and only to the extent the rollover is permitted under the rules of section 402(c). 

(3) The Plan will not provide for a direct rollover (including an automatic rollover) for distributions from a 
Participant's Roth Elective Deferral account if the amounts of the distributions that are eligible rollover 
distributions are reasonably expected to total less than $200 during a year. In addition, any distribution 
from a Participant's Roth Elective Deferral account is not taken into account in determining whether 
distributions from a Participant's other accounts are reasonably expected to total less than $200 during a 
year. However, eligible rollover distributions from a Participant's Roth Elective Deferral account are taken 
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into account in determining whether the total amount of the Participant’s account balances under the Plan 
exceeds $1,000 for purposes of mandatory distributions from the Plan. 

 
3.05  Information Provided by the Employee: Each Employee enrolling in the Plan should provide to the Administrator 

at the time of initial enrollment, and later if there are any changes, any information necessary or advisable for the 
Administrator to administer the Plan, including any information required under the Individual Agreements.  

 
3.06  Change in Elective Deferrals Election: Subject to the provisions of the applicable Individual Agreements, an 

Employee may at any time revise his or her participation election, including a change of the amount of his or her 
Elective Deferrals, his or her investment direction, and his or her designated Beneficiary. A change in the investment 
direction shall take effect as of the date provided by the Administrator on a uniform basis for all Employees. A change 
in the Beneficiary designation shall take effect when the election is accepted by the Vendor, or if applicable, the 
Administrator.  

 
3.07  Contributions Made Promptly: Elective Deferrals under the Plan shall be transferred to the applicable Funding 

Vehicle as soon as administratively feasible. An Employer may adopt a policy and procedure that will satisfy State 
Law requirements or adopt the IRS safe harbor rule of depositing the amounts within 15 business days following the 
end of the month in which the amount would otherwise have been paid to the Participant, as long as the IRS safe 
harbor is not a longer period than the applicable State law. 

   
Article IV - Limitations on Amounts Deferred and Other Special Contribution Rules 

 
4.01  Basic Annual Limitation for Elective Deferrals: Except as provided in Sections 4.02 and 4.03, the maximum 

amount of the Elective Deferral under the Plan for any calendar year shall not exceed the lesser of (a) the applicable 
dollar amount or (b) the Participant's Includible Compensation for the calendar year. The applicable dollar amount is 
the amount established under section 402(g)(1)(B) of the Code, which is $18,000 for 2015 and 2016, and is adjusted 
for cost-of-living after 2016 to the extent provided under section 415(d) of the Code.  

 
4.02  Special Section 403(b) Catch-up Limitation for Employees With 15 Years of Service: If elected by the 

Employer in the Adoption Agreement and if the Employer is a Qualified Organization (within the meaning of § 
1.403(b)-4(c)(3)(ii) of the Income Tax Regulations), the applicable dollar amount under Section 4.01 for any 
"Qualified Employee" is increased (to the extent provided in the Individual Agreements) by the least of:  
 
(a) $3,000;  

 
(b)  The excess of:  

(1)  $15,000, over  
(2)  The total special 403(b) catch-up elective deferrals made for the Qualified Employee by the Qualified 

Organization for prior years; or 
 
(c)  The excess of:  

(1) $5,000 multiplied by the number of years of service of the employee with the qualified organization, over  
(2) The total Elective Deferrals made for the employee by the qualified organization for prior years. 

 
4.03 Age 50 Catch-up Elective Deferral Contributions:  If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, an 

Employee who is a Participant who will attain age 50 or more by the end of the calendar year is permitted to elect 
an additional amount of Elective Deferrals, up to the maximum age 50 catch-up Elective Deferrals for the year. The 
maximum dollar amount of the age 50 catch-up Elective Deferrals for a year is $6,000 for 2015 and 2016, and is 
adjusted for cost-of-living after 2016 to the extent provided under the Code.  

 
4.04  Coordination of Catch-up Contributions: Amounts in excess of the limitation set forth in Section 4.01 shall be 

allocated first to the special 403(b) catch-up under Section 4.02 and next as an age 50 catch-up contribution under 
Section 4.03. However, in no event can the amount of the Elective Deferrals for a year be more than the Participant's 
Compensation for the year.  

 
4.05 Special Rule for a Participant Covered by Another Section 403(b) Plan:  For purposes of this Article IV, if 

the Participant is or has been a participant in one or more other plans under section 403(b) of the Code (and any 
other plan that permits elective deferrals under section 402(g) of the Code), then this Plan and all such other plans 
shall be considered as one plan for purposes of applying the foregoing limitations of this Article IV. For this purpose, 
the Administrator shall take into account any other such plan maintained by any Related Employer and shall also take 
into account any other such plan for which the Administrator receives from the Participant sufficient information 
concerning his or her participation in such other plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, another plan maintained by a 
Related Employer shall be taken into account for purposes of Section 4.02 only if the other plan is a section 403(b) 
plan. 
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4.06 Correction of Excess Elective Deferrals in Multiple Plans: 
 

(a) If any portion of an Employee's Elective Deferral exceeds the limitation on Elective Deferrals under this Article 
IV, such portion shall be included in the Employee's gross income and be considered an Excess Deferral.  
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan, Excess Deferrals assigned to this Plan, plus any income and 
minus any losses allocable thereto, shall be distributed no later than April 15 to Participants who claim Excess 
Deferrals for the preceding taxable year and assign them to the Plan for such preceding year.  

 
(b) A Participant may assign to this Plan any Excess Deferrals made during a taxable year of the Participant by 

notifying the Administrator on or before March 1 (unless a later date, but not after April 15th is outlined in the 
Individual Agreement) of the amount of the Excess Deferrals to be assigned to the Plan.  The Participant's notice 
shall be in writing, shall specify the Participant's Excess Deferrals for the preceding taxable year, and shall be 
accompanied by the Participant's written statement that if such amounts are not distributed, such Excess 
Deferrals when added to amounts deferred under other plans or arrangements described in sections 401(k), 
408(k), 408(p) or 403(b) of the Code, exceed the limit imposed on the Participant by section 402(g) of the Code 
for the year in which the deferral occurred. For years beginning after 2005, distribution of Excess Deferrals for 
a year shall be made first from the Participant’s pre-tax Elective Deferral account to the extent pre-tax Elective 
Deferrals were made for such year, unless the Employer elects otherwise in the Adoption Agreement. 

 
(c) Excess Deferrals shall be adjusted for any income or loss up to the date of distribution.  The income or loss 

allocable to Excess Deferrals is the income or loss allocable to the Participant's Employee Elective Deferral 
account for the taxable year multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is such Participant's Excess Deferrals 
for the year and the denominator is the Participant's account balance attributable to Elective Deferrals without 
regard to any income or loss occurring during such taxable year; and income or loss allocable to the Participant’s 
Elective Deferral account from the beginning of the next Plan Year through the date of correction. If the Elective 
Deferral on behalf of a Participant for any calendar year exceeds the limitations described above, or the Elective 
Deferral on behalf of a Participant for any calendar year exceeds the limitations described above when combined 
with other amounts deferred by the Participant under another plan of the Employer under section 403(b) of the 
Code (and any other plan that permits elective deferrals under section 402(g) of the Code for which the 
Participant provides information that is accepted by the Administrator), then the Elective Deferral, to the extent 
in excess of the applicable limitation (adjusted for any income or loss in value, if any, allocable thereto), shall be 
distributed to the Participant. 

 
4.07  Return of Excess 415 Contributions:  
  

(a) If, as a result of a reasonable error in estimating a Participant's annual compensation, a reasonable error in 
determining the amount of Elective Deferrals under Section 402(g)(3) of the Code, or any other circumstances 
that the Internal Revenue Service shall determine meets the requirements of Section 415 of the Code and the 
regulations thereunder, an excess annual addition occurs in any Participant's account, a distribution is permitted 
of such excess. Such corrections of 415 excesses shall also include any subsequent guidance provided by the 
Treasury and any correction procedure included under the Employee Plans Compliance Resolution System 
(EPCRS). 

  
(b) Excess annual addition amounts which are distributed shall not be deemed annual additions for the limitation 

year during which such contributions were made, and are disregarded for purposes of Section 402(g) of the 
Code. 

  
(c) Distributions made under this section 4.07 include distributions of Elective Deferrals or employee  After-

Tax contributions. Such distributions will also include the income attributable to the excess annual addition. 
 
4.08 Protection of Persons Who Serve in a Uniformed Service: An Employee whose employment is interrupted by 

qualified military service under section 414(u) of the Code or who is on a leave of absence for qualified military 
service under section 414(u) of the Code may elect to make additional Elective Deferrals upon resumption of 
employment with the Employer equal to the maximum Elective Deferrals that the Employee could have elected during 
that period if the Employee's employment with the Employer had continued (at the same level of Compensation) 
without the interruption or leave, reduced by the Elective Deferrals, if any, actually made for the Employee during 
the period of the interruption or leave. Except to the extent provided under section 414(u) of the Code, this right 
applies for five years following the resumption of employment (or, if sooner, for a period equal to three times the 
period of the interruption or leave).  

 
4.09 Amounts Paid after Severance Treated as Compensation: 

 
(a) Effective Date: The provisions of this Section 4.10 shall apply to limitation years beginning on or after July 1, 

2007.  
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(b) Compensation paid after severance from employment: If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, 
Compensation shall be adjusted, as set forth herein and as otherwise elected in this Section 4.10, for the following 
types of compensation paid after a Participant's severance from employment with the Employer maintaining the 
Plan (or any other entity that is treated as the Employer pursuant to sections 414(b), (c), (m) or (o)). However, 
amounts described in subsections (1i) and (2) below may only be included in Compensation to the extent such 
amounts are paid by the later of 2 1/2 months after severance from employment or by the end of the limitation 
year that includes the date of such severance from employment. Any other payment of compensation paid after 
severance of employment that is not described in the following types of compensation is not considered 
Compensation within the meaning of section 415(c)(3), even if payment is made within the time period specified 
above. 

 
(1) Regular pay: Compensation shall include regular pay after severance of employment if (1) the payment is 

regular compensation for services during the participant's regular working hours, or compensation for 
services outside the participant's regular working hours (such as overtime or shift differential), commissions, 
bonuses, or other similar payments; and (2) the payment would have been paid to the participant prior to 
a severance from employment if the Participant had continued in employment with the Employer. 

 
(2) Leave cashouts and deferred compensation: Leave cashouts shall be included in Compensation, unless 

otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, if those amounts would have been included in the definition 
of Compensation if they were paid prior to the Participant's severance from employment, and the amounts 
are payment for unused accrued bona fide sick, vacation, or other leave, but only if the Participant would 
have been able to use the leave if employment had continued. In addition, deferred compensation shall be 
included in Compensation, unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, if the compensation would 
have been included in the definition of Compensation if it had been paid prior to the Participant's severance 
from employment, and the compensation is received pursuant to a nonqualified unfunded deferred 
compensation plan, but only if the payment would have been paid at the same time if the Participant had 
continued in employment with the Employer and only to the extent that the payment is includible in the 
Participant's gross income. 

 
4.10 Salary continuation payments for military service participants: Compensation does not include, unless 

otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, payments to an individual who does not currently perform services for 
the Employer by reason of qualified military service (as that term is used in Code section 414(u)(1)) to the extent 
those payments do not exceed the amounts the individual would have received if the individual had continued to 
perform services for the Employer rather than entering qualified military service.  

 
4.11 Administrative delay ("the first few weeks") rule: Compensation for a limitation year shall not include, unless 

otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, amounts earned but not paid during the limitation year solely because 
of the timing of pay periods and pay dates. However, if elected, Compensation for a limitation year shall include 
amounts earned but not paid during the limitation year solely because of the timing of pay periods and pay dates, 
provided the amounts are paid during the first few weeks of the next limitation year, the amounts are included on a 
uniform and consistent basis with respect to all similarly situated Participants, and no compensation is included in 
more than one limitation year. 

 
 

 
Article V – Limitation on Annual Additions 

 
5.01 Limitations on Aggregate Annual Additions 

 
(a) General Limitation on Annual Additions: A Participant’s Annual Additions under the Plan for a Limitation Year may 

not exceed the Maximum Annual Addition as set forth in section 5.02(d) below. 
 

(b) Aggregation of Section 403(b) Plans of the Employer.  If Annual Additions are credited to a Participant under any 
section 403(b) plans of the Employer in addition to this Plan for a Limitation Year, the sum of the Participant’s 
Annual Additions for the Limitation Year under this Plan and such other section 403(b) plans may not exceed the 
Maximum Annual Addition as set forth in section 5.02(d) below. 

 
(c) Aggregation Where Participant is in Control of Any Employer.  If a Participant is in control of any employer for a 

Limitation Year, the sum of the Participant’s Annual Additions for the Limitation Year under this Plan, any other 
section 403(b) plans of the Employer, any defined contribution plans maintained by controlled employers, and 
any section 403(b) plans of any other employers may not exceed the Maximum Annual Addition as set forth in 
section 5.02(d) below.  For purposes of this paragraph, a Participant is in control of an employer based upon the 
rules of sections 414(b), 414(c), and 415(h) of the Code; and a defined contribution plan means a defined 
contribution plan that is qualified under section 401(a) or 403(a) of the Code, a section 403(b) plan, or a simplified 
employee pension within the meaning of section 408(k) of the Code. 
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(d) Notice to Participants.  The Administrator will provide written or electronic notice to Participants that explains 

the limitation in section 5.01(c) in a manner calculated to be understood by the average Participant and informs 
Participants of their responsibility to provide information to the Administrator that is necessary to satisfy section 
5.01(c).  The notice will advise Participants that the application of the limitations in section 5.01(c) will take into 
account information supplied by the Participant and that failure to provide necessary and correct information to 
the Administrator could result in adverse tax consequences to the Participant, including the inability to exclude 
contributions to the Plan under section 403(b) of the Code. The notice will be provided annually, beginning no 
later than the year in which the Employee becomes a Participant. 
 

(e) Coordination of Limitation on Annual Additions Where Employer Has Another Section 403(b) Prototype Plan or 
Participant is in Control of Employer.  The Annual Additions which may be credited to a Participant under this 
Plan for any Limitation Year will not exceed the Maximum Annual Addition under section 2.4, reduced by the 
Annual Additions credited to the Participant under any other Section 403(b) Prototype Plans of the Employer in 
addition to this Plan and, if the Participant is in control of an employer, any defined contribution plans maintained 
by controlled employers and section 403(b) plans of any other employers. Contributions to the Participant’s 
Accounts under this Plan will be reduced to the extent necessary to prevent this limitation from being exceeded. 
 

(f) Excess Annual Additions: 

(1) If, notwithstanding sections 5.01(a) through 5.01(e), a Participant’s Annual Additions under this Plan, or 
under this Plan and plans aggregated with this Plan under sections 5.01(b) and 5.01(c), result in an Excess 
Annual Addition for a Limitation Year, the Excess Annual Addition will be deemed to consist of the Annual 
Additions last credited, except Annual Additions to a defined contribution plan qualified under section 401(a) 
of the Code or a simplified employee pension maintained by an employer controlled by the Participant will 
be deemed to have been credited first.  

(2) If an Excess Annual Addition is credited to a Participant under this Plan and another Section 403(b) Prototype 
Plan of the Employer on the same date, the Excess Annual Addition attributable to this Plan will be the 
product of: 
(A) the total Excess Annual Addition credited as of such date, times 
(B) the ratio of (1) the Annual Additions credited to the Participant for the Limitation Year as of such date 

under this Plan to (2) the total Annual Additions credited to the Participant for the Limitation Year as 
of such date under this Plan and all other Section 403(b) Prototype Plans of the Employer. 

(3) Any Excess Annual Addition attributable to this Plan will be corrected in the manner described in section 
5.01(h). 
 

(g) Coordination of Limitation on Annual Additions Where Employer Has Another Section 403(b) Plan that is Not a 
Prototype Plan.  If Annual Additions are credited to the Participant for the Limitation Year under another section 
403(b) plan of the Employer which is not a Section 403(b) Prototype Plan, the Annual Additions which may be 
credited to the Participant under this Plan for the Limitation Year will be limited in accordance with sections 
5.01(e) and 5.01(f) as though the other plan were a Section 403(b) Prototype Plan unless the Employer provides 
other limitations in the Adoption Agreement. 
 

(h) Correction of Excess Annual Additions. A Participant’s Excess Annual Additions for a taxable year are includible 
in the Participant’s gross income for that taxable year.  A Participant’s Excess Annual Additions attributable to 
this Plan will be credited in the year of the excess to a separate account under the Plan for such Excess Annual 
Additions which will be maintained by the Vendor until the Excess Annual Additions are distributed.  This separate 
account will be treated as a separate contract to which section 403(c) (or another applicable provision of the 
Code) applies.  Amounts in the separate account may be distributed at any time, notwithstanding any other 
provisions of the Plan. 
 

5.02  Definitions: Refer to Article II, Section 2.45 for definitions related to Limitation on Annual Additions. 
 

Article VI – Loans 
 

6.01 Loans: Loans shall be permitted under the Plan to the extent permitted by the Individual Agreements controlling the 
Account assets from which the loan is made.  

 
6.02 Information Coordination Concerning Loan: Each Vendor is responsible for all information reporting and tax 

withholding required by applicable federal and state laws in connection with distributions and loans. To minimize the 
instances in which Participants have taxable income as a result of loans from the Plan, the Administrator shall take 
such steps as may be appropriate to coordinate the limitations on loans set forth in Section 6.03, including the 
collection of information from Vendors, and transmission of information requested by any Vendor, concerning the 
outstanding balance of any loans made to a Participant under the Plan or any other plan of the Employer. The 
Administrator shall also take such steps as may be appropriate to collect information from Vendors and transmission 
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of information to any Vendor, concerning any failure by a Participant to repay timely any loans made to a Participant 
under the Plan or any other plan of the Employer.  

 
6.03 Maximum Loan Amount: No loan to a Participant under the Plan may exceed the lesser of:  
 

(a)  $50,000, reduced by the greater of (1) the outstanding balance on any loan from the Plan to the Participant on 
the date the loan is made or (2) the highest outstanding balance on loans from the Plan to the Participant during 
the one-year period ending on the day before the date the loan is approved by the Administrator (not taking 
into account any payments made during such one-year period); or  

 
(b)  one- half of the value of the Participant's vested Account Balance (as of the valuation date immediately preceding 

the date on which such loan is approved by the Administrator) or, if greater, the total accrued benefit up to 
$10,000. 

 
For purposes of this Section 6.03, any loan from any other plan maintained by the Employer and any Related Employer 
shall be treated as if it were a loan made from the Plan, and the Participant's vested interest under any such other 
plan shall be considered a vested interest under this Plan; provided, however, that the provisions of this paragraph 
shall not be applied so as to allow the amount of a loan to exceed the amount that would otherwise be permitted in 
the absence of this paragraph.  

 
6.04 Failure to Make Loan Payment: If a Participant fails to make a loan payment when due, such Participant will have 

a reasonable period as described in the loan agreement and applied on a uniform basis, (but no longer than the end 
of the calendar quarter following the calendar quarter in which the loan payment was due) after such loan payment 
due date to cure such default.  

 
6.05 Suspension of Certain Loan Payments: Loan payments may be suspended under this Plan: 

 
(a) as permitted under section 414(u)(4) of the Code during participants' periods of military service; and 

 
(b) during any Participants' leave of absence as defined in section 72(p) of the Code and the regulations thereunder, 

but in no event shall such suspension exceed one year. 
 

6.06 Term of Loan:  Any loan shall by its terms require that repayment (principal and interest) be amortized in level 
payments, not less frequently than quarterly, over a period not extending beyond five years from the date of the 
loan.  If such loan is used to acquire a dwelling unit which within a reasonable time (determined at the time the loan 
is made) will be used as the principal residence of the Participant, the amortization period shall not extend beyond 
30 years from the date of the loan. 

 
6.07  Assignment or Pledge: An assignment or pledge of any portion of the Participant’s interest in the Plan and a 

loan, pledge, or assignment with respect to any insurance contract purchased under the Plan, will be treated as a 
loan under this paragraph. 

 
6.08 Administration of Loans: Any applicable loan will be administered based on the loan policy of the Vendor or the 

Employer, whichever is applicable, Such policy(ies) must satisfy section 72(p) and the regulations thereunder. 
 
6.09 Repayment of Loan: The terms governing the applicable Investment Arrangement shall determine the method of 

repayment of loans. 
 

Article VII - Benefit Distributions 
 

7.01 Benefit Distributions At Severance from Employment or Other Distribution Event:  
 

(a) Except as permitted under Section 4.06 (relating to excess Elective Deferrals), Section 7.04 (relating to 
withdrawals of amounts rolled over into the Plan), Section 7.05 (relating to hardship), or Section 10.03 (relating 
to termination of the Plan), pre-1989 Elective Deferral contributions (excluding earnings thereon ) to an Annuity 
Contract that are separately accounted for, amounts rolled over into the Plan, a qualified reservist distributions 
as defined in section 72(t)(2(G) of the Code, a payment pursuant to a qualified domestic relations order, or an 
IRS Levy, or as may otherwise be provided by law and in regulations or other rules of general applicability 
published by the Department of the Treasury or the Internal Revenue Service,  distributions from a Participant's 
Elective Deferral Account may not be made earlier than the earliest of the date on which the Participation has a 
Severance from Employment, dies, becomes Disabled, or attains age 59 1/2. Distributions shall otherwise be 
made in accordance with the terms of the Individual Agreements. 
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For purposes of this paragraph, a Participant shall be treated as having a Severance from Employment during 
any period the Participant is performing service in the uniformed services described in section 3401(h)(2)(A) of 
the Code. 
 

(b) Except for a payment pursuant to section 7.01(a) of the Plan, or as may otherwise be provided by law in 
regulations or other rules of general applicability published by the Department of the Treasury or the Internal 
Revenue Service, Employer contributions held in a Custodial Account may not be distributed earlier than the 
earliest of the date on which the Participant has a Severance from Employment, dies, becomes Disabled, or 
attains age 59 ½. The available forms of distribution will be based on the terms governing the applicable 
Investment Arrangement.  

 
(c) Except for a payment pursuant to section 7.01(a) of the Plan, or as may otherwise be provided by law in 

regulations or other rules of general applicability published by the Department of the Treasury or the Internal 
Revenue Service, Employer contributions held in an Annuity Contract may not be distributed earlier than the 
earliest of the date on which the Participant has a Severance from Employment or upon the prior occurrence of 
an event as specified in the Adoption Agreement such as after a fixed number of years, attainment of a stated 
age, or after the Participant becomes disabled. The available forms of distribution will be based on the terms 
governing the applicable Investment Arrangement.  

 

7.02 Small Account Balances: To the extent permitted under the terms governing the applicable Funding Vehicles, and 
if elected in the Adoption Agreement, distributions may be made in the form of a lump-sum payment, without the 
consent of the Participant or Beneficiary, but not without the consent of the Participant or Beneficiary if the 
Participant’s Accumulated Benefit (determined without regard to any separate account that holds rollover 
contributions) exceeds $5,000 or any lesser amount specified in the Funding Vehicle, (“Small Account Balance”).  Any 
such distribution shall comply with the requirements of section 401(a)(31)(B) of the Code (relating to automatic 
distribution as a direct rollover to an individual retirement plan for distributions in excess of $1,000). 

 
7.03 Minimum Distributions: The Plan shall comply with the distribution requirements of section 401(a)(9) of the Code 

and the regulations thereunder in accordance with the terms of each Individual Agreement, unless and to the extent 
otherwise permitted by law and on regulations or other rules of general applicability published by the Department of 
the Treasury or the Internal Revenue Service.  For purposes of applying the distribution rules of section 401(a)(9) of 
the Code, each Individual Agreement is treated as an individual retirement account (IRA) and distributions shall be 
made in accordance with the provisions of §1.408-8 of the Treasury Regulations, except as provided in §1.403(b)-
6(e) of the Treasury Regulations.  

 
7.04 In-Service Distributions From Rollover Account: If a Participant has a separate account attributable to rollover 

contributions to the Plan, to the extent permitted by the applicable Individual Agreement, if elected by the Employer 
in the Adoption Agreement, the Participant may at any time elect to receive a distribution of all or any portion of the 
amount held in the rollover account.  

 
7.05 Hardship Withdrawals:  
 

(a) Hardship withdrawals shall be permitted under the Plan to the extent elected in the Adoption Agreement and 
permitted by the Individual Agreements controlling the Account assets to be withdrawn to satisfy the hardship. 
If applicable under an Individual Agreement, no Elective Deferrals or After-Tax Employee Contributions 
(excluding Mandatory Employee Contributions) shall be allowed under the Plan during the 6-month period 
beginning on the date the Participant receives a distribution on account of hardship. A Participant who receives 
a distribution of Elective Deferrals on account of hardship shall be prohibited from making Elective Deferrals 
and/or After Tax Employee Contributions under this and all other plans of the Employer for 6 months after receipt 
of the distribution; 
 

(b) The Individual Agreements shall provide for the exchange of information among the Employer and the Vendors 
or the Administrator to the extent necessary to implement the Individual Agreements, including, in the case of 
a hardship withdrawal that is automatically deemed to be necessary to satisfy the Participant's financial need 
(pursuant to section 1.401(k)-1(d)(3)(iv)(E) of the Income Tax Regulations), the Vendor or the Administrator 
notifying the Employer of the withdrawal in order for the Employer to implement the resulting 6-month 
suspension of the Participant's right to make Elective Deferrals under the Plan. In addition, in the case of a 
hardship withdrawal that is not automatically deemed to be necessary to satisfy the financial need (pursuant to 
section 1.401(k)-1(d)(3)(iii)(B) of the Income Tax Regulations), the Vendor or the Administrator, if applicable 
shall obtain information from the Employer or other Vendors to determine the amount of any plan loans and 
rollover accounts that are available to the Participant under the Plan to satisfy the financial need; 

 
(c)  The distribution is not in excess of the amount of the immediate and heavy financial need (including amounts 

necessary to pay any federal, state or local income taxes or penalties reasonably anticipated to result from the 
distribution); and 
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(d) If required by Treasury regulations, the Participant has obtained all distributions, other than hardship 

distributions, and all nontaxable loans under all plans maintained by the Employer (except to the extent such 
actions would be counterproductive to alleviating the financial need). 
 

(e) In applying the overall permitted Hardship distribution, such amounts shall be limited to the aggregate dollar 
amount of the Participant’s section 403(b) elective deferrals under the applicable custodial agreements and 
contracts (and may not include any income thereon), reduced by the aggregate dollar amount of Elective Deferral 
distributions previously made to the Participant from the custodial agreements and/or contracts. 

 
7.06 Rollover Distributions:  
 

(a) A Participant or the Beneficiary of a deceased Participant (or a Participant's spouse or former spouse who is an 
Alternate Payee under a domestic relations order, as defined in section 414(p) of the Code) who is entitled to 
an eligible rollover distribution may elect to have any portion of an eligible rollover distribution (as defined in 
section 402(c)(4) of the Code) from the Plan paid directly to an eligible retirement plan (as defined in section 
402(c)(8)(B) of the Code) specified by the Participant in a direct rollover. In the case of a distribution to a 
Beneficiary who at the time of the Participant's death was neither the spouse of the Participant nor the spouse 
or former spouse of the Participant who is an Alternate Payee under a domestic relations order, a direct rollover 
is payable only to a traditional individual retirement account or traditional individual retirement annuity (IRA) 
that has been established on behalf of the Beneficiary as an inherited traditional IRA (within the meaning of 
section 408(d)(3)(C) of the Code).  
 

(b) For distributions made after December 31, 2007, Participants must be given the option to directly rollover to a 
Roth IRA as a qualified rollover contribution pursuant to section 408A(e) of the Code. 

 
(c) Pursuant to section 402(c)(11) of the Code and section 108(f) of WRERA, for Plan Years after December 31, 

2009, a plan must permit rollovers by nonspouse Beneficiaries and a rollover by a nonspouse Beneficiary must 
be made in a Direct Rollover to either a Roth IRA or traditional IRA. A surviving spouse Beneficiary who makes 
a rollover to a Roth IRA or a traditional IRA from this Plan may elect either to treat the Roth IRA or traditional 
IRA as his or her own or establish the Roth IRA or traditional IRA in the name of the decedent with the surviving 
spouse as the Beneficiary. 
 

(d)  Each Vendor shall be separately responsible for providing, within a reasonable time period before making an 
initial eligible rollover distribution, an explanation to the Participant of his or her right to elect a direct rollover 
and the income tax withholding consequences of not electing a direct rollover. 

 
7.07 Nonspouse Beneficiary Direct Rollover 

  
(a)  A direct trustee-to-trustee transfer of any portion of a benefit payable upon the death of a Participant may be 

distributed from this Plan to an individual retirement plan described in section 408(a) or  
 (b) of the Code (an “IRA”) that is established for the purpose of receiving the distribution on behalf of a 

Designated Beneficiary who is a nonspouse beneficiary. The transfer is treated as a direct rollover of an eligible 
rollover distribution for purposes of section 402(c) of the Code. 

 
  The IRA of the nonspouse beneficiary is treated as an inherited IRA within the meaning of section   
  408(d)(3)(C) of the Code. 
 

(b)  This Plan shall offer a direct rollover of a distribution to a nonspouse beneficiary who is a Designated Beneficiary 
within the meaning of section 401(a)(9)(E) of the Code, provided that the distributed amount satisfies all the 
requirements to be an eligible rollover distribution other than the requirement that the distribution be made to 
the participant or the participant’s spouse. The direct rollover must be made to an IRA established on behalf of 
the Designated Beneficiary that will be treated as an inherited IRA pursuant to the provisions of section 
402(c)(11) of the Code. If a nonspouse beneficiary elects a direct rollover, the amount directly rolled over is not 
includible in gross income in the year of the distribution.  

 
(c)  Section 402(c)(11) of the Code provides that a direct rollover of a distribution by a nonspouse beneficiary is a 

rollover of an eligible rollover distribution only for purposes of section 402(c) of the Code. Therefore, the 
distribution is not subject to the direct rollover requirements of section 401(a)(31) of the Code, the notice 
requirements of section 402(f) of the Code, or the mandatory withholding requirements of section 3405(c) of 
the Code. If an amount distributed from a plan is received by a nonspouse beneficiary, the distribution is not 
eligible for rollover. 

 
(d)  This Plan may make a direct rollover to an IRA on behalf of a trust where the trust is the named beneficiary of 

a decedent, provided the beneficiaries of the trust meet the requirements to be designated beneficiaries within 
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the meaning of section 401(a)(9)(E) of the Code. In such a case, the beneficiaries of the trust are treated as 
having been designated as beneficiaries of the decedent for purposes of determining the distribution period 
under section 401(a)(9) of the Code, if the trust meets the requirements set forth in Treasury Regulation section 
1.401(a)(9)-4, Q&A-5, with respect to the IRA. 

 
(e)  Determination of Required Minimum Distributions: 

 
General rule. If the Employee dies before his or her Required Beginning Date, the required minimum distributions 
for purposes of determining the amount eligible for rollover with respect to a nonspouse beneficiary are 
determined under either the5-year rule described in section 401(a)(9)(B)(ii) of the Code or the life expectancy 
rule described in section 401(a)(9)(B)(iii) of the Code. Under either rule, no amount is a required minimum 
distribution for the year in which the Employee dies. The rule in Treasury Regulation section 1.402(c)-2, Q&A-
7(b) (relating to distributions before an Employee has attained age 70½) does not apply to nonspouse 
beneficiaries. 

 
Five-year rule. Under the 5-year rule described in section 401(a)(9)(B)(ii) of the Code, no amount is required to 
be distributed until the fifth calendar year following the year of the Employee’s death. In that year, the entire 
amount to which the beneficiary is entitled under the plan must be distributed. Thus, if the 5-year rule applies 
with respect to a nonspouse beneficiary who is a designated beneficiary within the meaning of section 
401(a)(9)(E) of the Code, for the first 4 years after the year the Employee dies, no amount payable to the 
beneficiary is ineligible for direct rollover as a required minimum distribution. Accordingly, the beneficiary is 
permitted to directly roll over the beneficiary’s entire benefit until the end of the fourth year (but, the 5-year rule 
must also apply to the IRA to which the rollover contribution is made). On or after January 1 of the fifth year 
following the year in which the Employee died, no amount payable to the beneficiary is eligible for rollover. 

 
Life expectancy rule. (1) General rule. If the life expectancy rule described in section 401(a)(9)(B)(iii) of the 
Code applies, in the year following the year of death and each subsequent year thereafter, there is a required 
minimum distribution. The amount not eligible for rollover includes all undistributed required minimum 
distributions for the year in which the direct rollover occurs and any prior year (even if the excise tax under 
section 4974 of the Code has been paid with respect to the failure in the prior years). (2) Special rule. If, under 
Treasury Regulation section 1.401(a)(9)-3, Q&A, paragraph (b) or (c) the 5-year rule applies, the nonspouse 
Designated Beneficiary may determine the required minimum distribution under the plan using the life 
expectancy rule in the case of a distribution made prior to the end of the year following the year of death. 
However, in order to use this rule, the required minimum distributions under the IRA to which the direct rollover 
is made must be determined under the life expectancy rule using the same Designated Beneficiary. 

 
(f) If an Employee dies on or after his or her Required Beginning Date, within the meaning of section 401(a)(9)(C) 

of the Code, for the year of the Employee’s death, the required minimum distribution not eligible for rollover is 
the same as the amount that would have applied if the Employee were still alive and elected the direct rollover. 
For the year after the year of the Employee’s death and subsequent years thereafter, see Q&A-5 of Treasury 
Regulation section 1.401(a)(9)-5, Q&A-5, to determine the applicable distribution period to use in calculating the 
required minimum distribution. As in the case of death before the Employee’s Required Beginning Date, the 
amount not eligible for rollover includes all undistributed required minimum distributions for the year in which 
the direct rollover occurs and any prior year, including years before the Employee’s death. 

 
(g)  Under section 402(c)(11) of the Code, an IRA established to receive a direct rollover on behalf of a nonspouse 

Designated Beneficiary is treated as an inherited IRA within the meaning of section 408(d)(3)(C) of the Code. 
The required minimum distribution requirements set forth in section 401(a)(9)(B) of the Code and the regulations 
thereunder apply to the inherited IRA. The rules for determining the required minimum distributions under the 
Plan with respect to the nonspouse beneficiary also apply under the IRA. Thus, if the Employee dies before his 
or her Required beginning Date and the 5-year rule in section 401(a)(9)(B)(ii) of the Code applied to the 
nonspouse Designated Beneficiary under the plan making the direct rollover, the 5-year rule applies for purposes 
of determining required minimum distributions under the IRA. If the life expectancy rule applied to the nonspouse 
Designated Beneficiary under the plan, the required minimum distribution under the IRA must be determined 
using the same applicable distribution period as would have been used under the plan if the direct rollover had 
not occurred. Similarly, if the Employee dies on or after his or her Required Beginning Date, the required 
minimum distribution under the IRA for any year after the year of death must be determined using the same 
applicable distribution period as would have been used under the plan if the direct rollover had not occurred. 

 
7.08 Qualified Reservist Distribution: 
 

(a) This provision applies to individuals ordered or called to active duty after September 11, 2001. The two-year 
period for making repayments of Qualified Reservist Distributions does not end before the date that is two years 
after the date of enactment. 
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(b) A Qualified Reservist Distribution is a distribution (1) from an IRA or attributable to elective deferrals under a 
401(k) plan, 403(b) plan, or certain similar arrangements, (2) made to an individual who (by reason of being a 
member of a reserve component as defined in section 101 of title 37 of the U.S. Code) was ordered or called to 
active duty for a period in excess of 179 days or for an indefinite period, and (3) that is made during the period 
beginning on the date of such order or call to duty and ending at the close of the active duty period. A 401(k) 
plan or 403(b) plan does not violate the distribution restrictions applicable to such plans by reason of making a 
Qualified Reservist Distribution. 

 
(c)  An individual who receives a Qualified Reservist Distribution may, at any time during the two-year period 

beginning on the day after the end of the active duty period, make one or more contributions to an IRA of such 
individual in an aggregate amount not to exceed the amount of such distribution. The dollar limitations otherwise 
applicable to contributions to IRAs do not apply to any contribution made pursuant to the provision. No deduction 
is allowed for any contribution made under the provision. 

 
Article VIII - Rollovers to the Plan and Transfers from the Plan 

 
8.01 Eligible Rollover Contributions to the Plan: 

 
(a) Eligible Rollover Contributions: If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement and to the extent provided 

in the Individual Agreements, an Employee who is a Participant who is entitled to receive an eligible rollover 
distribution from another eligible retirement plan may request to have all or a portion of the eligible rollover 
distribution paid to the Plan. The Vendor or the Administrator, if applicable, may require such documentation 
from the distributing plan as it deems necessary to effectuate the rollover in accordance with section 402 of the 
Code and to confirm that such plan is an eligible retirement plan within the meaning of section 402(c)(8)(B) of 
the Code. If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement and permitted in the Individual Agreements, 
the Plan may accept a rollover contribution from a Roth elective deferral account under an applicable retirement 
plan described in section 402A(e)(1) of the Code.  

  
(b)  Eligible Rollover Distribution: For purposes of Section 8.01(a), an eligible rollover distribution means any 

distribution of all or any portion of a Participant's benefit under another eligible retirement plan, except that an 
eligible rollover distribution does not include (1) any installment payment for a period of 10 years or more, (2) 
any distribution made as a result of an unforeseeable emergency or other distribution which is made upon 
hardship of the employee, or (3) for any other distribution, the portion, if any, of the distribution that is a required 
minimum distribution under section 401(a)(9) of the Code. In addition, an eligible retirement plan means an 
individual retirement account described in section 408(a) of the Code, an individual retirement annuity described 
in section 408(b) of the Code, a qualified trust described in section 401(a) of the Code, an annuity plan described 
in section 403(a) or 403(b) of the Code, or an eligible governmental plan described in section 457(b) of the 
Code, that accepts the eligible rollover distribution.  

 
(c)  Eligible Retirement Plan.  An Eligible Retirement Plan means a qualified trust described in section 401(a) of the 

Code, an annuity plan described in section 403(a) or 403(b) of the Code, an individual retirement account 
described in section 408(a) of the Code, an individual retirement annuity described in section 408(b) of the Code, 
or an eligible governmental plan described in section 457(b) of the Code. 

 
(d) Separate Accounts: The Vendor, or the Administrator if applicable, shall establish and maintain for the Participant 

a separate account for any eligible rollover distribution paid to the Plan. 
 

(e) Roth Rollovers: If provided by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, the plan will accept a rollover 
contribution to a Roth Elective Deferral account only if it is a direct rollover from another Roth elective deferral 
account under an applicable retirement plan described in section 402A(e)(1) of the Code and only to the extent 
the rollover is permitted under the rules of section 402(c) of the Code. 

 
(f) Information Regarding Participant Basis Required. A rollover of an Eligible Rollover Distribution that includes 

after-tax employee contributions or Roth Elective Deferrals will only be accepted if the Administrator obtains 
information regarding the Participant’s tax basis under section 72 of the Code in the amount rolled over. 

 
8.02 Plan-to-Plan Transfers to the Plan: If elected in the Adoption Agreement, plan-to-plan transfers for a Participant 

shall be permitted as provided in this section. 
 
(a)  At the direction of the Employer, for a class of Employees who are Participants or Beneficiaries in another plan 

under section 403(b) of the Code, the Administrator may permit a transfer of part or all of the assets to the Plan 
as provided in this Section 8.02. Such a transfer is permitted only if the other plan provides for the direct transfer 
of each person's interest therein (entire or partial interest) to the Plan and the participant is an employee or 
former employee of the Employer. The Administrator and any Vendor accepting such transferred amounts may 
require that the transfer be in cash or other property acceptable to it. The Administrator or any Vendor accepting 
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such transferred amounts may require such documentation from the other plan as it deems necessary to 
effectuate the transfer in accordance with §1.403(b)-10(b)(3) of the Income Tax Regulations and to confirm that 
the other plan is a plan that satisfies section 403(b) of the Code.  

 
(b)  The amount so transferred shall be credited to the Participant's Account Balance, so that the Participant or 

Beneficiary whose assets are being transferred has an accumulated benefit immediately after the transfer at 
least equal to the accumulated benefit with respect to that Participant or Beneficiary immediately before the 
transfer.  

 
(c) To the extent provided in the Individual Agreements holding such transferred amounts, the amount transferred 

shall be held, accounted for, administered and otherwise treated in the same manner as an Elective Deferral by 
the Participant under the Plan, except that (1) the Individual Agreement which holds any amount transferred to 
the Plan must provide that, to the extent any amount transferred is subject to any distribution restrictions 
required under section 403(b) of the Code, the Individual Agreement must impose restrictions on distributions 
to the Participant or Beneficiary whose assets are being transferred that are not less stringent than those imposed 
on the transferor plan and (2) the transferred amount shall not be considered an Elective Deferral under the 
Plan in determining the maximum deferral under Article IV. The Employer reserves the right to establish 
procedures with respect to former employees. 
 

(d) Plan-to-Plan transfer may not be made between this Plan and a qualified plan or a 457(b) Plan. Notwithstanding 
the previous sentence if the Plan Sponsor is a church, or church related organization transfers and mergers may 
be made between a qualified plan and a 403(b) or vice versa. 

 
8.03 Plan-to-Plan Transfers from the Plan: If elected in the Adoption Agreement, plan-to-plan transfers for a 

Participant shall be permitted as provided in this section. 
 
(a)  At the direction of the Employer, the Administrator may permit a class of Participants and Beneficiaries to elect 

to have all or any portion of their Account Balance transferred to another plan that satisfies section 403(b) of 
the Code in accordance with §1.403(b)-10(b)(3) of the Income Tax Regulations. A transfer is permitted under 
this Section 8.03(a) only if the Participants or Beneficiaries are employees or former employees of the employer 
(or the business of the employer) under the receiving plan and the other plan provides for the acceptance of 
plan-to-plan transfers with respect to the Participants and Beneficiaries and for each Participant and Beneficiary 
to have an amount under the other plan immediately after the transfer at least equal to the amount transferred.  

 
(b)  The other plan must provide that, to the extent any amount transferred is subject to any distribution restrictions 

required under section 403(b) of the Code, the other plan shall impose restrictions on distributions to the 
Participant or Beneficiary whose assets are transferred that are not less stringent than those imposed under the 
Plan. In addition, if the transfer does not constitute a complete transfer of the Participant's or Beneficiary's 
interest in the Plan, the other plan shall treat the amount transferred as a continuation of a pro rata portion of 
the Participant's or Beneficiary's interest in the transferor plan (e.g., a pro rata portion of the Participant's or 
Beneficiary's interest in any after-tax employee contributions).  

 
(c)  Upon the transfer of assets under this Section 8.03, the Plan's liability to pay benefits to the Participant or 

Beneficiary under this Plan shall be discharged to the extent of the amount so transferred for the Participant or 
Beneficiary. The Administrator may require such documentation from the receiving plan as it deems appropriate 
or necessary to comply with this Section 8.03 (for example, to confirm that the receiving plan satisfies section 
403(b) of the Code and to assure that the transfer is permitted under the receiving plan) or to effectuate the 
transfer pursuant to § 1.403(b)-10(b)(3) of the Income Tax Regulations.  

 
8.04 Contract and Custodial Account Exchanges: 

 
(a) A Participant or Beneficiary is permitted to change the investment of his or her Account Balance among the 

Vendors under the Plan, subject to the terms of the Individual Agreements. However, an investment change that 
includes an investment with a Vendor that is not eligible to receive contributions under Article III (referred to 
below as an exchange) is not permitted unless the conditions in paragraphs (b) through (d) of this Section 8.04 
are satisfied.  

 
(b)  The Participant or Beneficiary must have an Account Balance immediately after the exchange that is at least 

equal to the Account Balance of that Participant or Beneficiary immediately before the exchange (taking into 
account the Account Balance of that Participant or Beneficiary under both section 403(b) contracts and custodial 
accounts immediately before the exchange).  

 
(c)  The Individual Agreement with the receiving Vendor has distribution restrictions with respect to the Participant 

that are not less stringent than those imposed on the investment being exchanged.  
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(d)  The Employer or the Administrator enters into an agreement with the receiving Vendor for the other contract or 
custodial account under which the Employer and the Vendor will from time to time in the future provide each 
other with the following information:  

 
(1)  Information necessary for the resulting contract or custodial account, or any other contract or custodial 

accounts to which contributions have been made by the Employer, to satisfy section 403(b) of the Code, 
including the following: (1) the Employer providing information as to whether the Participant's employment 
with the Employer is continuing, and notifying the Vendor when the Participant has had a Severance from 
Employment (for purposes of the distribution restrictions in Section 7.01); (2) the Vendor notifying the 
Employer of any hardship withdrawal under Section 7.05 if the withdrawal results in a 6-month suspension 
of the Participant's right to make Elective Deferrals under the Plan; and (3) the Vendor providing information 
to the Employer or other Vendors concerning the Participant's or Beneficiary's section 403(b) contracts or 
custodial accounts or qualified employer plan benefits (to enable a Vendor to determine the amount of any 
plan loans and any rollover accounts that are available to the Participant under the Plan in order to satisfy 
the financial need under the hardship withdrawal rules of Section 7.05); and 

 
(2)  Information necessary in order for the resulting contract or custodial account and any other contract or 

custodial account to which contributions have been made for the Participant by the Employer to satisfy other 
tax requirements, including the following: (1) the amount of any plan loan that is outstanding to the 
Participant in order for a Vendor to determine whether an additional plan loan satisfies the loan limitations 
of Section 603, so that any such additional loan is not a deemed distribution under section 72(p)(1); and 
(2) information concerning the Participant's or Beneficiary's after-tax employee contributions in order for a 
Vendor to determine the extent to which a distribution is includible in gross income. 
 

(e)  If any Vendor ceases to be eligible to receive Elective Deferrals under the Plan, the Employer or the Administrator 
will enter into an information sharing agreement as described in Section 8.04(d) to the extent the Employer's 
contract with the Vendor does not provide for the exchange of information described in Section 8.04(d)(1) and 
(2). 

 
(f) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this section, if the Employer does not permit Exchanges under this 

Plan, an invalid exchange (an exchange that occurs after September 24, 2007) shall be permitted to be re-
exchanged into an approved Vendor under this Plan.  

 
8.05 Permissive Service Credit Transfers: 
 

(a)  If a Participant is also a participant in a tax-qualified defined benefit governmental plan (as defined in section 
414(d) of the Code) that provides for the acceptance of plan-to-plan transfers with respect to the Participant, 
then the Participant may elect to have any portion of the Participant's Account Balance transferred to the defined 
benefit governmental plan. A transfer under this Section 8.05(a) may be made before the Participant has had a 
Severance from Employment.  

 
(b)  A transfer may be made under Section 8.05(a) only if the transfer is either for the purchase of permissive service 

credit (as defined in section 415(n)(3)(A) of the Code) under the receiving defined benefit governmental plan or 
a repayment to which section 415 of the Code does not apply by reason of section 415(k)(3) of the Code. 

  
(c) In addition, if a plan-to-plan transfer does not constitute a complete transfer of the Participant's or Beneficiary's 

interest in the transferor plan, the Plan shall treat the amount transferred as a continuation of a pro rata portion 
of the Participant's or Beneficiary's interest in the transferor plan (e.g., a pro rata portion of the Participant's or 
Beneficiary's interest in any after-tax employee contributions).  
 

8.06 Transfer by Employer. To the extent permitted by applicable law and the underlying Individual Agreements, and 
subject to rules and procedures established by the Administrator, an Employer may request a transfer of all Accounts 
maintained under its Plan to another section 403(b) plan that it has established. 
 

Article IX - Investment of Contributions 

 
9.01 Manner of Investment: All Elective Deferrals or other amounts contributed to the Plan, all 

property and rights purchased with such amounts under the Funding Vehicles, and all income attributable to such 
amounts, property, or rights shall be held and invested in one or more Annuity Contracts or Custodial Accounts. Each 
Custodial Account shall provide for it to be impossible, prior to the satisfaction of all liabilities with respect to 
Participants and their Beneficiaries, for any part of the assets and income of the Custodial Account to be used for, or 
diverted to, purposes other than for the exclusive benefit of Participants and their Beneficiaries.  

 
9.02 Investment of Contributions: Each Participant or Beneficiary shall direct the investment of his or her Account 

among the investment options available under the Annuity Contract or Custodial Account in accordance with the 
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terms of the Individual Agreements. Transfers and Exchanges among Annuity Contracts and Custodial Accounts may 
be made to the extent provided in the Individual Agreements, the Plan and permitted under applicable Income Tax 
Regulations.  

 
9.03 Current and Former Vendors: The Administrator shall maintain a list of all Vendors under the Plan. Each Vendor 

and the Administrator shall exchange such information as may be necessary to satisfy section 403(b) of the Code or 
other requirements of applicable law. In the case of a Vendor which is not eligible to receive Elective Deferrals under 
the Plan (including a Vendor which has ceased to be a Vendor eligible to receive Elective Deferrals under the Plan 
and a Vendor holding assets under the Plan in accordance with Plan Vendor Attachment which is incorporated in the 
Administrative Appendix), the Employer shall keep the Vendor informed of the name and contact information of the 
Administrator in order to coordinate information necessary to satisfy section 403(b) of the Code or other requirements 
of applicable law.  

 
Article X - Amendment and Plan Termination 

 
10.01 Termination of Contributions: The Employer has adopted the Plan with the intention and expectation that 

contributions will be continued indefinitely. However, the Employer has no obligation or liability whatsoever to 
maintain the Plan for any length of time and may discontinue contributions under the Plan at any time without any 
liability hereunder for any such discontinuance.  

 
10.02 Amendment and Termination By Employer: The Employer reserves the authority to amend or terminate this 

Plan at any time. An Employer that amends the Plan, other than to change the choice of options or procedures in the 
Adoption Agreement or to add certain sample or model amendments published by the Internal Revenue Service 
which specifically provide that their adoption will not cause the Plan to be treated as individually designed, will no 
longer participate in this section 403(b) volume submitter plan and will be considered to have an individually designed 
403(b) plan. 

 
 10.03  Distribution upon Termination of the Plan: The Employer may provide that, in connection with a termination of 

the Plan and subject to any restrictions contained in the Individual Agreements, all Accounts will be distributed, 
provided that the Employer and any Related Employer on the date of termination do not make contributions to an 
alternative section 403(b) contract that is not part of the Plan during the period beginning on the date of plan 
termination and ending 12 months after the distribution of all assets from the Plan, except as permitted by the 
Income Tax Regulations. Upon Termination of the Plan all nonvested amounts under the Plan shall become fully 
vested. In addition, all accumulated benefits for a Participant must be distributed to Participants and Beneficiaries as 
soon as administratively feasible as described in section 1.403(b)-10(b)(1)(i) of the Treasury regulations. 

 
10.04 Amendment by Sponsor of Volume Submitter:  

 
(a)  The Sponsor reserves the right to amend the Plan from time to time on behalf of all adopting employers, including 

those Employers who have adopted the Plan prior to this amendment, for changes in the Code, regulations, 
revenue rulings, other statements published by the Internal Revenue Service, including model, sample or other 
required good faith amendments, but only if their adoption will not cause such Plan to be individually designed, 
and for corrections of prior approved plans. These amendments will be applied to all Employers who have 
adopted the plan and such amendments will comply with section 12.03 of Revenue Procedure 2013-22. The 
Mass Submitter, as agent for the Sponsor, shall have the right to unilaterally amend the Plan on behalf of the 
Sponsors of the Volume Submitter for purposes of any amendments mandated for changes in the Code, 
regulations, or other guidance issued from the IRS, Department of Labor or other government entity, as it may 
deem appropriate. 

  
  Notwithstanding the paragraph above, if the amendment that is being made requires an election by the 

Employer, then the Sponsor will maintain, or have maintained on its behalf, a record of the Employers that have 
adopted the Plan, and the Sponsor will make reasonable and diligent efforts to ensure that adopting Employers 
have actually received and are aware of all Plan amendments and that such Employers adopt new documents 
when necessary. This amendment supersedes other provisions of the Plan to the extent those other provisions 
are inconsistent with this amendment. 

  
 (b)  The Sponsor may preselect options on the Adoption Agreements where necessary, from time to time. The 

Sponsor also reserves the right to amend the “Defaults” that are in the Adoption Agreements to reflect the 
administration of the plans, or to only permit certain options to be available to adopting Employers. The 
“Defaults” that may appear on the Adoption Agreements below certain items are not to be considered a part of 
the Plan and may be amended or removed at the discretion of the Employer, Sponsor, or Administrator. 

 
10.05  Amendment of Vesting Schedule: If the Plan's vesting schedule is amended, or the Plan is amended in any way 

that directly or indirectly affects the computation of a Participant's nonforfeitable percentage, each Participant with 
at least 3 years of service with the Employer may elect, within a reasonable period after the adoption of the 
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amendment or change, to have the nonforfeitable percentage computed under the Plan without regard to such 
amendment or change. For Participants who do not have at least 1 Hour of Service in any Plan Year beginning after 
December 31, 1988, the preceding sentence shall be applied by substituting "5 Years of Service" for "3 Years of 
Service" where such language appears. 

 
The period during which the election may be made shall commence with the date the amendment is adopted or 
deemed to be made and shall end on the latest of: 

 
(a) 60 days after the amendment is adopted; 

 
(b) 60 days after the amendment becomes effective; or 

 
(c)  60 days after the Participant is issued written notice of the amendment by the Employer or Administrator. 

 
Article XI – Miscellaneous and Administration of the Plan 

 
11.01 Non-Assignability: Except as provided in Section 10.02 and 10.03, the interests of each Participant or Beneficiary 

under the Plan are not subject to the claims of the Participant's or Beneficiary's creditors; and neither the Participant 
nor any Beneficiary shall have any right to sell, assign, transfer, or otherwise convey the right to receive any payments 
hereunder or any interest under the Plan, which payments and interest are expressly declared to be nonassignable 
and nontransferable.  

 
11.02 Domestic Relation Orders: Notwithstanding Section 10.01, if a judgment, decree or order (including approval of 

a property settlement agreement) that relates to the provision of child support, alimony payments, or the marital 
property rights of a spouse or former spouse, child, or other dependent of a Participant is made pursuant to the 
domestic relations law of any State ("domestic relations order"), then the amount of the Participant's Account Balance 
shall be paid in the manner and to the person or persons so directed in the domestic relations order. Such payment 
shall be made without regard to whether the Participant is eligible for a distribution of benefits under the Plan. The 
Administrator shall establish reasonable procedures for determining the status of any such decree or order and for 
effectuating distribution pursuant to the domestic relations order.  

 
11.03 IRS Levy: Notwithstanding Section 10.01, the payor or the Administrator, as applicable may pay from a Participant's 

or Beneficiary's Account Balance the amount that the Administrator finds is lawfully demanded under a levy issued 
by the Internal Revenue Service with respect to that Participant or Beneficiary or is sought to be collected by the 
United States Government under a judgment resulting from an unpaid tax assessment against the Participant or 
Beneficiary. 

  
11.04 Tax Withholding: Contributions to the Plan are subject to applicable employment taxes (including, if applicable, 

Federal Insurance Contributions Act (FICA) taxes with respect to Elective Deferrals, which constitute wages under 
section 3121 of the Code). Any benefit payment made under the Plan is subject to applicable income tax withholding 
requirements (including section 3405 of the Code and the Employment Tax Regulations thereunder). A payee shall 
provide such information as the payor or the Administrator, if applicable may need to satisfy income tax withholding 
obligations, and any other information that may be required by guidance issued under the Code.      

  
11.05 Payments to Minors and Incompetents: Subject to any State law requirements, if a Participant or Beneficiary 

entitled to receive any benefits hereunder is a minor or is adjudged to be legally incapable of giving valid receipt and 
discharge for such benefits, or is deemed so by the payor or the Administrator, if applicable, benefits will be paid to 
such person as the payor or the Administrator may designate for the benefit of such Participant or Beneficiary. Such 
payments shall be considered a payment to such Participant or Beneficiary and shall, to the extent made, be deemed 
a complete discharge of any liability for such payments under the Plan.  

 
11.06 Mistaken Contributions: If any contribution (or any portion of a contribution) is made to the Plan by a good faith 

mistake of fact, then within one year after the payment of the contribution, and upon receipt in good order of a 
proper request approved by the Administrator, the amount of the mistaken contribution (not adjusted for any income 
but adjusted for loss in value, if any, allocable thereto) shall be returned directly to the Employer. 

  
11.07 Procedure When Distributee Cannot Be Located: The Administrator shall make all reasonable attempts to 

determine the identity and address of a Participant or a Participant's Beneficiary entitled to benefits under the Plan. 
For this purpose, a reasonable attempt means (a) the mailing by certified mail of a notice to the last known address 
shown on the Employer’s or the Administrator's records, (b) notification sent to the Internal Revenue Service, the 
Social Security Administration or the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation (under their respective programs to 
identify payees under retirement plans), and (c) the payee has not responded within 6 months. If the Administrator 
is unable to locate such a person entitled to benefits hereunder, or if there has been no claim made for such benefits, 
the funding vehicle shall continue to hold the benefits due such person. 
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11.08 Plan Administration: The Plan shall be administered, and the provisions of the various documents comprising the 
Plan shall be coordinated, in accordance with the terms of the Plan and the requirements of section 403(b) of the 
Code.  These provisions and requirements (as outlined in the Administrative Appendix) include but are not limited to: 

 
(a) Determining whether an employee is eligible to participate in the Plan 
 
(b) Determining whether contributions comply with the applicable limitations 

 
(c) Determining whether hardship withdrawals and loans comply with applicable requirements and limitations 

 
(d) Determining that any transfers, rollovers, or purchases of service credit comply with applicable requirements and 

limitations 
 

(e) Determining that the requirements of the Plan and section 403(b) of the Code are properly applied, including 
whether the Employer is a member of a controlled group 

 
(f) Determining the status of domestic relations orders or qualified domestic relations orders 

 
Administrative functions, including functions to comply with section 403(b) of the Code and other tax requirements 
may be allocated among various persons pursuant to service agreements or other written documents, including the 
Administrative Appendix. However, in no case shall administrative functions be allocated to Participants (other than 
permitting Participants to make investment elections for self-directed accounts). Any administrative functions not 
allocated to other persons are reserved to the Employer. 
 
In the event there is a conflict between the provisions of this Plan (including the Adoption Agreement) and the 
underlying Custodial Accounts and/or the Annuity Contracts, the provisions of this Plan shall govern. 

  
11.09 Responsibilities of Employer:  The Employer shall have the following responsibilities with respect to administration 

of the Plan: 
 

(a) The Employer shall make any Employer Contributions required under the Plan. 
 

(b) The Employer shall serve as Administrator of the Plan, unless the Employer designates in writing another person 
to administer the Plan on behalf of the Employer.  The Employer may remove and reappoint a Plan Administrator 
from time to time in the Employer's discretion. 

 
(c) The Employer shall supply the Administrator in a timely manner with all information necessary for the 

Administrator to fulfill its responsibilities under the Plan, including Compensation of Participants and other 
pertinent facts. 

 
11.10 Responsibilities of Administrator: The Administrator shall administer the Plan according to its terms for the 

exclusive benefit of Participants, former Participants, and their Beneficiaries in accordance with the following 
provisions: 

 
(a) The Administrator's responsibilities shall include, but shall not be limited to, the following: 

 
(1) To determine all questions relating to the eligibility of Employees to participate or remain Participants 

hereunder. 
(2) To maintain all records necessary for administration of the Plan. 
(3) To interpret the provisions of the Plan and prepare and publish rules and regulations for the Plan. 
(4) To comply with all reporting, disclosure, and notice requirements of the Code. 

 
(b) In order to fulfill its responsibilities, the Plan Administrator shall have all powers necessary or appropriate to 

accomplish its duties under the Plan, including the power to determine all questions arising in connection with 
the administration, interpretation, and application of the Plan.  Any such determination shall be conclusive and 
binding upon all persons.  However, all discretionary acts, interpretations, and constructions shall be done in a 
nondiscriminatory manner based upon uniform principles consistently applied. 
 

(c) In order to fulfill its responsibilities hereunder, the Administrator shall be specifically authorized to employ such 
agents, or attorneys, or contract for such assistance, as the Plan Administrator may from time to time deem 
necessary or advisable in connection with its responsibilities hereunder and to pay the fees, commission, or 
salaries incurred on account thereof as an expense of administration of the Plan. The Administrator is authorized 
to delegate administrative duties to the Custodian when not inconsistent with the terms of this Plan. 

 
(d) The Administrator shall serve as the designated agent for legal purposes under the Plan. 
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11.11 Resignation and Removal of Administrator: The Administrator may resign at any time by giving the Employer 

thirty (30) days prior written notice.  The Employer may waive such notice.  The Employer may remove the 
Administrator from office at any time by giving written notice to the Administrator, which removal shall be effective 
as of the date specified in the notice. 

 
11.12 Expenses of Administration: All costs and expenses of administering this Plan shall be paid pursuant to the service 

agreement(s) entered into by the Employer. Expenses shall be paid: directly by the Employer; or where applicable, 
shall be paid pro rata or per capita from each Participant's Account; or where applicable shall be paid by the Vendors.  
Payment of such expenses shall not be considered to be Employer Contributions. 

 
11.13 Incorporation of Individual Agreements: The Plan, together with the Individual Agreements, is intended to 

satisfy the requirements of section 403(b) of the Code and the Income Tax Regulations thereunder. Terms and 
conditions of the Individual Agreements are hereby incorporated by reference into the Plan, excluding those terms 
that are inconsistent with the Plan or section 403(b) of the Code.  

 
11.14 Governing Law: The Plan will be construed, administered and enforced according to the Code and the laws of the 

State in which the Employer has its principal place of business.  
 
11.15 Headings:  Headings of the Plan have been inserted for convenience of reference only and are to be ignored in any 

construction of the provisions hereof.  
 
11.16  Gender: Pronouns used in the Plan in the masculine or feminine gender include both genders unless the context 

clearly indicates otherwise.  
 
11.17 This Plan Is Not An Employment Contract: Neither the adoption of the Plan by the Employer, nor any action of 

the Employer or the Administrator under this Plan, nor the establishment of any custodial account, nor the payment 
of any benefits, shall be construed to confer upon any person any legal right to be continued as an Employee of the 
Employer or any affiliated or related employer.  All Employees shall be subject to discharge to the same extent as 
they would have been had this Plan never have been adopted. 

 
11.18 USERRA - Military Service Credit: Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary, contributions, 

benefits and service credit with respect to qualified military service will be provided in accordance with section 414(u) 
of the Internal Revenue Code.  In addition, the survivors of any Participant who dies on or after January 1, 2007, 
while performing qualified military service, are entitled to any additional benefits (other than benefit accruals relating 
to the period of qualified military service) that would have been provided under the Plan had the Participant resumed 
employment and then terminated employment on account of death. 

 

Article XII – Employer Contributions 
 

12.01 Employer Contributions: If the Adoption Agreement provides that this Plan shall accept Employer Contributions, 
then the following rules shall apply. 

 
(a) Unless otherwise elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, Employer Contributions shall be an 

amount, if any, determined annually in the sole discretion of the Employer.  
 

(b) Post-Employment Employer Contributions shall follow the rules of Section 12.03. 
 

(c) Optional Retirement Plan (ORP) Provisions:  
 
(1) General Application.  This Section 12.01(c) shall apply only if the Employer has indicated that it offers an 

Optional Retirement Program (ORP) on the Adoption Agreement and only if permitted under the Adoption 

Agreement being completed. Not all Adoption Agreements that accompany this Plan will permit this 

selection.   

 
(2) Incorporation of ORP.  The ORP is established and governed by separate plan documentation which may 

include a plan document, statutory language and/or regulatory guidance.  The terms and conditions of the 

ORP are incorporated herein by reference.  If there is a conflict between the Plan and the requirements of 

the ORP, the ORP shall govern with respect to those provisions that are exclusive to the ORP.  The Plan 

shall govern in all other circumstances.   

 
(3) ORP Contributions.  Employer shall make contributions under the ORP to the Accounts of Participants 

that are also participating in the ORP in accordance with the terms of the ORP and/or as authorized by the 
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Employer on the Adoption Agreement. Unless otherwise provided by the ORP, such contributions shall be 

treated as Employer Contributions and are therefore subject to the requirements and limitations imposed 

by section 415(c) of the Code.     

 
(4) Separate Accounting Requirements. ORP contributions and withdrawals, including any earnings or 

losses thereon, shall be credited and debited to each participating Participant’s Account and shall be 
separately accounted for under each Employee’s Account.  

 
(5) Deposit Requirements.  ORP contributions shall be deposited with the applicable Funding Vehicles as 

soon as practicable in conformity with any requirements established in the ORP, or if applicable by the State 

law.   

 

(d)  Supplemental 403(b) Contributions: 
 

(1) General Application.  This Section 12.01(d) shall apply only if the Employer has indicated that it offers a 

Supplemental 403(b) Program on the Adoption Agreement and only if permitted under the Adoption 

Agreement being completed. Not all Adoption Agreements will permit this optional provision. 

 
(2) Incorporation of Supplemental 403(b) Program.  The Supplemental 403(b) Program is established 

and governed by a separate plan document.  The Plan includes the Adoption Agreement and the document 

establishing the Supplemental 403(b) Program, as identified on the Adoption Agreement.  If there is a 

conflict between the Plan and the Supplemental 403(b) Program document, the Supplemental 403(b) 

Program shall govern with respect to those provisions that are exclusive to the Supplemental Program.  The 

Plan shall govern in all other circumstances.   

 
(3) Supplemental 403(b) Contributions.  Employer shall make contributions as required under the 

Supplemental 403(b) Contributions to the Accounts of Participants that are participating in the Supplemental 

403(b) Program in accordance with the terms of the Supplemental 403(b) Program.  Such contributions 

shall be subject to the appropriate annual contribution limitations based on the type of contribution required 

under the Supplemental 403(b) Program.      

 
(4) Separate Accounting Requirements. Supplemental 403(b) Program contributions and withdrawals, 

including any earnings or losses thereon, shall be credited and debited to each participating Participant’s 
Account and shall be separately accounted for under each Employee’s Account.  

 
(5) Deposit Requirements.  Supplemental 403(b) Program Contributions shall be deposited with the 

applicable Funding Vehicles as soon as practicable in conformity with the Supplemental 403(b) Program 

document, or if applicable State law.     

 

(e)  The Employer has evidenced its intent to adopt this Plan by executing the Adoption Agreement which is a part 
of this 403(b) Plan document.  This Plan document, the Adoption Agreement, documents governing ORPs and 
Supplemental 403(b) Programs, as applicable, and any underlying Annuity Contracts and Custodial Accounts 
provided by the Vendors authorized by the Employer, as well as necessary forms and administrative policies and 
procedures incorporated by the Employer, an Administrator or any Funding Vehicle shall constitute the entire 
Plan.   

 
12.02 Correction of Allocations: 
 

(a) In the event that the Administrator learns that Employer allocations have not been made on behalf of an 
Employee for whom an allocation should have been made pursuant to the terms of this Plan, the Participant's 
account for such Employee shall be restored to its proper balance as soon as is reasonably possible. 

 
(b)  In the event that the Administrator learns that contributions or allocations have been made on behalf of an 

Employee for whom allocations should not have been made pursuant to the terms of the Plan; and if such 
contributions were made pursuant to a mistake of fact, such contributions shall be returned to the Employer 
within one year of the contributions. Earnings attributable to the mistaken contribution shall not be returned to 
the Employer, but losses attributable to the mistaken contribution shall reduce the amount to be returned to the 
Employer. 

 
12.03  Employer Contributions for former Employees: 
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(a) Includible compensation deemed to continue for post-employment Employer Contributions - For purposes of 

applying paragraph (b) of this section, a former Employee is deemed to have monthly includible compensation 
for the period through the end of the taxable year of the Employee in which he or she ceases to be an Employee 
and through the end of each of the next five taxable years. The amount of the monthly Includible Compensation 
is equal to one twelfth of the former Employee's Includible Compensation during the former Employee's most 
recent year of service. Accordingly, post-employment Employer Contributions for a former Employee must not 
exceed the limitation of section 415(c)(1) up to the lesser of the dollar amount in section 415(c)(1)(A) or the 
former Employee's annual Includible Compensation based on the former Employee's average monthly 
compensation during his or her most recent year of service. 

 
(b) If a Participant who is a former Employee dies during the first 5 calendar years following the date on which the 

Participant ceases to be an Employee, and Employer contributions are being made pursuant to this Section 12.03, 
then any additional contributions made after the death of the Participant or former Employee may not exceed 
the lesser of – 
 
(1) The excess of the former Employee’s Includible Compensation for the year of death over the contributions 

previously made for the former Employee for that year; or 
 
(2)  The total contributions that would have been made on the former Employee’s behalf thereafter if he or she 

had survived to the end of the 5-year period. 
 

12.04 Service: Service will be computed on the basis designated by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement. Except 
where specifically excluded under this section, all of an Employee's Years of Service will be taken into account for 
purposes of eligibility, including: 

 
(a) Years of Service for employment with an employer required to be aggregated with the Employer under section 

414(b), (c), (m), or (o) of the Code; 
 

(b) Years of Service for an employee required under section 414(n) or 414(o) of the Code to be considered an 
employee of any employer aggregated with the Employer under section 414(b), (c), or (m) of the Code; 

  
(c) Years of Service with the predecessor Employer, if the Adoption Agreement allows and the Employer so specifies; 

and  
 

(d) Years of Service with the predecessor employer during the time a qualified plan was maintained, if the Adoption 
Agreement allows and the Employer so specifies. If the Employer maintains the Plan of a predecessor Employer, 
Service with such Employer will be treated as Service for the Employer. 

 
12.05 Eligibility Computation Periods: 
 

(a) Hours of Service Method - If the Employer has specified in the Adoption Agreement that service will be credited 
on the basis of hours, days, weeks, semi-monthly payroll periods, or months, the initial eligibility computation 
period is the 12-consecutive month period beginning on the date the Employee first performs an Hour of Service 
for the Employer ("employment commencement date"). Pursuant to the Employer's election in the Adoption 
Agreement, the succeeding 12-consecutive month periods shall commence with either: 

 
(1) the first anniversary of the Employee's employment commencement date; or 
(2)  the first Plan Year which commences prior to the first anniversary of the Employee's employment 

commencement date regardless of whether the Employee is entitled to be credited with 1,000 Hours of 
Service (or any lesser number specified by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement) during the initial 
eligibility computation period. An employee who is credited with 1,000 Hours of Service (or such lesser 
number specified by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement) in both the initial eligibility computation 
period and the first Plan Year which commences prior to the first anniversary of the Employee's initial 
eligibility computation period will be credited with two Years of Service for purposes of eligibility to 
participate. 

 
(b) Elapsed Time Method - If the Employer has specified in the Adoption Agreement (or if the Adoption Agreement 

default is) that service will be credited under the elapsed time method, an Employee will receive credit for the 
aggregate of all time periods commencing with the Employee's first day of employment or reemployment and 
ending on the date a Break in Service begins. The first day of employment or reemployment is the first day an 
Employee performs an Hour of Service. An Employee shall also receive credit for any Period of Severance of less 
than twelve consecutive months. Fractional periods of a year will be expressed in terms of days. For purposes 
of this paragraph, Hour of Service shall mean each hour for which an Employee is paid or entitled to payment 
for the performance of duties for the Employer. 
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12.06 Use of Computation Periods: Years of Service and Breaks in Service shall be measured on the same eligibility 

computation period. 
 
12.07 Eligibility Break in Service: In the case of any Participant who has a 1-year Break in Service, years of eligibility 

service before such break will not be taken into account until the Employee has completed a Year of Service after 
returning to employment. Pursuant to the Employer's election in the Adoption Agreement, such Year of Service will 
be measured by the 12-consecutive month period beginning on an Employee's reemployment commencement date 
and, if necessary, either:  

 
(a) subsequent 12-consecutive month periods beginning on anniversaries of the reemployment commencement 

date; or  
 
(b) Plan Years beginning with the Plan Year which includes the first anniversary of the reemployment commencement 

date. The reemployment commencement date is the first day on which the Employee is credited with an Hour 
of Service for the performance of duties after the first eligibility computation period in which the Employee incurs 
a one year Break in Service. 

  
  If a Participant completes a Year of Service in accordance with this provision, his or her participation will be reinstated 

as of the reemployment commencement date.  
 
12.08  Entry into Plan: Each Employee who is a member of an eligible class of employees specified in the Adoption 

Agreement will participate on the Entry Date selected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement after such 
Employee has met the minimum age and service requirements, if any, in the Adoption Agreement. 

 
12.09 Participation upon Return to Eligible Class: In the event a Participant is no longer a member of an eligible class 

of employees and becomes ineligible to participate but has not incurred a Break in Service, such Employee will 
participate immediately upon returning to an eligible class of employees. If such Participant incurs a Break in Service, 
eligibility will be determined under the Break in Service rules of the Plan. 

 
 In the event an Employee who is not a member of an eligible class of employees becomes a member of an eligible 

class, such Employee will participate immediately if such Employee has satisfied the minimum age and service 
requirements and would have otherwise previously become a Participant. 

 
12.10 Participation during an Authorized Leave of Absence: All contributions on behalf of the Participant shall be 

suspended, but membership in the Plan shall be deemed to be continuous, unless otherwise terminated, for the 
period of any Authorized Leave of Absence, provided that the Employee returns to work for the Employer upon 
completion of such Authorized Leave of Absence. 

 
12.11  Eligibility upon Reemployment: 
 

(a) A former Participant will become a Participant immediately upon returning to the employ of the Employer if such 
former Participant had a nonforfeitable right to all or a portion of his accrued benefit attributable to Employer 
Contributions at the time of termination from service. 
 

(b) For a former Participant who did not have a nonforfeitable right to any portion of his accrued benefit attributable 
to Employer Contributions or for a former Employee (other than an Employee required to complete more than 
one Year of Service in order to become eligible to participate in the Plan) who had not yet become a Participant 
at the time of termination from service, the Participant's Years of Service prior to the Break(s) in Service will be 
disregarded if the number of consecutive 1-year Breaks in Service equal or exceed the greater of five (5) or the 
aggregate number of Years of Service before such Breaks in Service. 

 
(c) If an Employee is required to complete more than one Year of Service for in order to become eligible to participate 

in the Plan, and such an Employee incurs a 1-year Break in Service before satisfying the Plan's eligibility 
requirements, service prior to such 1-year Break in Service shall not be taken into account in the determination 
of the Employee's eligibility to participate in the Plan upon reemployment. 

 
(d) A former Participant who’s Years of Service before termination from service cannot be disregarded pursuant to 

Section 12.11(b) shall participate immediately upon reemployment. 
 

(e) A former Employee who had met the eligibility requirements specified in the Adoption Agreement before 
termination from service but who had not become a Participant and who’s Years of Service before termination 
from service cannot be disregarded pursuant to Section 12.11(b) will become a Participant as of the later of: 

 
(1)  his date of reemployment; or 
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(2)  the Entry Date next following his date of termination from service. 
 

(f) A former Employee (including a former Participant) who’s Years of Service before termination from service can 
be disregarded pursuant to Section 12.11(b) will be treated as a new Employee for eligibility purposes and will 
be eligible to participate once he has met the requirements under the Plan following his most recent date of 
employment. 

 
12.12 Vesting and Forfeitures 
 

(a)  Each type of contribution made by the Employer on behalf of a Participant that is subject to a different vesting 
schedule will be credited to a separate bookkeeping account.  Any portion of such account in which the participant 
is not vested shall be accounted for separately and treated as a contract to which section 403(c) (or another 
applicable provision under the Internal Revenue Code) applies. 

 
(b) Employee Contribution Accounts: A Participant's Elective Deferral Account, After-Tax Employee  

Contribution Account and Rollover/Transfer Account, and all earnings, appreciations, and additions thereto, less 
any losses, depreciation, and distributions allocable thereto, shall be fully vested and nonforfeitable at all times. 

 
(c) Employer Contribution Account: A Participant's Vested Percentage in his Employer Contribution Account shall be 

determined as follows: 
 

(1)  Death or Disability: A Participant's interest in his Employer Contribution Account shall become fully vested 
upon his death or Disability prior to Retirement Age. 

(2) Termination of Employment: A Participant's Vested Percentage in his Employer Contribution Account shall 
be determined according to the vesting formula specified in the Adoption Agreement when the Participant 
terminates his employment. 

(3) Plan Termination: A Participant's interest in his Employer Contribution Account shall become fully vested in 
the event of termination or partial termination (but only if the partial termination applies to the Participant) 
of this Plan. 

 
12.13 Vesting at Termination: When a Participant's employment is terminated on account of retirement, death, disability, 

or otherwise, the Vested Percentage of his Employer Contribution Account (after all required adjustments thereto) 
shall be determined in accordance with this Article and the vesting formula specified in the Adoption Agreement as 
of termination of employment.  The difference between the balance of the Participant's Employer Contribution 
Account and the Participant's Vested Percentage shall be forfeiture and shall be allocated pursuant to Section 12.15 
below. 

 
12.14 Computation of Vested Account Balance: 

 
(a) Service will be computed on the basis designated by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement.  Except where 

specifically excluded under this Article XII, all of the Employee's Years of Service will be taken into account for 
purposes of vesting, including: 
 
(1)  Years of service for employment with an employer required to be aggregated with the Employer under 

section 414(b), (c), (m), or (o) of the Code;  
(2)  Years of Service for an employee required under section 414(n) or 414(o) of the Code to be considered any 

employee of any employer aggregated with the Employer under section 414(b), (c), or (m) of the Code;  
(3)  Years of Service with the predecessor Employer, if the Adoption Agreement allows and the Employer so 

specifies; and  
(4) Years of Service with the predecessor employer during the time a qualified plan was maintained, if the 

Adoption Agreement allows and the Employer so specifies. 
 

(b) The Employer shall designate in the Adoption Agreement the period described in either (1) or (2) below as the 
Vesting Computation Period: 
 
(1)  For purposes of computing the Employee's nonforfeitable right to the account balance derived from 

Employer Contributions, Years of Service and Breaks in Service will be measured by the Plan Year. 
(2)  For purposes of determining Years of Service and Breaks in Service for purposes of computing an Employee's 

nonforfeitable right to the account balance derived from Employer Contributions, the 12-consecutive month 
period will commence on the date the Employee first performs an Hour of Service and each subsequent 12-
consecutive month period will commence on the anniversary of such date. 

 
(c) In the case of a Participant who has incurred a 1-year Break in Service, Years of Service before such break will 

not be taken into account until the Participant has completed a Year of Service after such Break in Service. 
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12.15 Forfeitures: Notwithstanding the Employer's election in the Adoption Agreement, Forfeitures may be allocated as 
follows: 

 
(a) to restore Participant's Employer Contribution Accounts pursuant to the buy-back provisions of Section 12.18; 

  
(b) used to pay any expenses of administration of the Plan; and/or 

 
(c) used to make or reduce Employer Contributions required under the terms of the Plan. 

 
12.16 Forfeitures - Withdrawal of Employee Contributions: No Forfeitures will occur solely as a result of an 

Employee's withdrawal of Employee Contributions. 
 
12.17 Vesting for Pre-Break and Post-Break Account: In the case of a Participant who has 5 or more consecutive 1-

year Breaks in Service, all service after such Breaks in Service will be disregarded for the purpose of vesting the 
employer-derived account balance that accrued before such Breaks in Service. Such Participant's pre-break service 
will count in vesting the post-break employer-derived account balance only if either: 
(a) such Participant has any nonforfeitable interest in the account balance attributable to Employer Contributions at 

the time of separation from service; or 
 
(b) upon returning to service, the number of consecutive 1-year Breaks in Service is less than the number of Years 

of Service. 
 
Separate accounts will be maintained for the Participant's pre-break and post-break employer derived account 
balance. Both accounts will share in the earnings and losses of the fund.. 

 
12.18 Buy-back: If a former Participant is reemployed by the Employer before the former Participant incurs five 

consecutive 1-year Breaks in Service, and such former Participant has received a distribution of the entire Vested 
Percentage of his Employer Contribution Account prior to his reemployment, any forfeited amounts shall be reinstated 
only if he repays the full amount of his Employer Contribution Account distributed to him before he incurs five 
consecutive 1-year Breaks in Service after the date of the distribution.  In the event the former Participant does repay 
the full amount distributed to him, his Employer Contribution Account balance will be restored to the amount on the 
date of distribution. 

 
12.19 Missing Participants: If a benefit is forfeited because the Participant or Beneficiary cannot be found, such benefit 

will be reinstated if a claim is made by the Participant or Beneficiary. 
 
12.20 Definitions: Refer to Article II, Section 2.45 for definitions related to Employer Contributions. 
 

Article XIII - Deemed IRAs 
 

13.01  Applicability and Effective Date: This section shall apply if elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement 
and shall be effective for Plan Years beginning after the date specified in the Adoption Agreement.  

 
13.02 Definitions 

 
(a) Deemed IRAs:  Each Participant may make voluntary employee contributions to the Participant's "traditional" 

or "Roth" IRA under the Plan, as elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement. The Plan shall establish a 
separate account or annuity for the designated IRA contributions of each Participant and any earnings properly 
allocable to the contributions, and maintain separate recordkeeping with respect to each such IRA.  

 
(b) Deemed IRA contributions:  For purposes of this section, Deemed IRA contributions means any contribution 

(other than a mandatory contribution within the meaning of section 411(c)(2) of the Code) that is made by the 
Participant and which the Participant has designated, at or prior to the time of making the contribution, as a 
contribution to which this section applies.  

 
(c) Deemed IRA Participant:  Any Participant or Employee or group of Employees eligible to make Deemed IRA 

Contributions to the Plan.  
 

(d) IRA Trustee (or Custodian or Issuer):  The entity that provides the separate trust agreement, custodial 
agreement or annuity contract which the Participant executes to establish the IRA account. Throughout this 
document where IRA Trustee is mentioned, it shall also include an IRA Custodian; or if applicable an Issuer of 
the IRA Annuity Contract. 

 
13.03  Separate Accounting 
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(a) IRAs established pursuant to this Article XIII shall be held in a trust, custodial account or an annuity (as evidenced 
by the separate trust, custodial agreement or annuity contract established by the Participant and shall be 
separate from the Trust established under this Plan to hold contributions other than deemed IRA contributions 
and shall satisfy the applicable requirements of sections 408 and 408A of the Code, which requirements are set 
forth in sections 13.04 through 13.16 below.  
 

(b) Separate records will be maintained for the interest of each Participant or Beneficiary. 
 

13.04 Individual’s Interest is Nonforfeitable: The interest of an individual in the balance in his or her Deemed IRA 

account is nonforfeitable at all times. 

 

13.05 Prohibited Investments: 

 

(a) If the trust acquires collectibles within the meaning of Code § 408(m) after December 31, 1981, trust assets will 

be treated as a distribution in an amount equal to the cost of such collectibles.  

 

(b) No part of the trust funds will be invested in life insurance contracts. 

 

13.06 Reporting Duties:   

 

(a) The Trustee, Custodian or Issuer of the Deemed IRA shall be subject to the reporting requirements of section 

408(i) of the Internal Revenue Code with respect to all Deemed IRAs that are established and maintained under 

the plan. 

 

(b) The Trustee, Custodian or Issuer of a Deemed IRA shall furnish annual calendar-year reports concerning the 

status of the account and such information concerning required minimum distributions as is prescribed by the 

Commissioner of Internal Revenue. 

 

13.07 Non-Bank Trustee or Custodian: If the Deemed IRA is held by a non-bank Trustee or Custodian, the non-bank 

Trustee or Custodian shall substitute another trustee or custodian if the non-bank Trustee or Custodian receives 

notice from the Commissioner of Internal Revenue that such substitution is required because it has failed to comply 

with the requirements of § 1.408-2(e) of the Income Tax Regulations. 

 

13.08 Traditional IRA Maximum Permissible Annual Contributions: 

 
(a) Except in the case of a rollover contribution (as permitted by Internal Revenue Code §§ 402(c), 402(e)(6), 

403(a)(4), 403(b)(8), 403(b)(10), 408(d)(3) and 457(e)(16)) or a contribution made in accordance with the 

terms of a Simplified Employee Pension (SEP) as described in § 408(k), no contributions will be accepted unless 

they are in cash, and the total of such contributions shall not exceed $5,000 for any taxable year beginning in 

2008 and years thereafter. After 2008, the limit will be adjusted by the Secretary of the Treasury for cost-of-

living increases under Code § 219(b)(5)(D).  Such adjustments will be in multiples of $500. 

 

(b) In the case of an individual who is 50 or older, the annual cash contribution limit is increased by $1,000 for any 

taxable year beginning in 2006 and years thereafter. 

 

(c) In addition to the amounts described in paragraphs (a) and (b) above, an individual may make additional 

contributions specifically authorized by statute – such as repayments of qualified reservist distributions, 

repayments of certain plan distributions made on account of federally declared disasters and certain amounts 

received in connection with the Exxon Valdez litigation. 

 

(d) No contributions will be accepted under a SIMPLE IRA plan established by any employer pursuant to § 408(p). 

Also, no transfer or rollover of funds attributable to contributions made by a particular employer under its SIMPLE 

IRA plan will be accepted from a SIMPLE IRA, that is, an IRA used in conjunction with a SIMPLE IRA plan, prior 

to the expiration of the 2-year period beginning on the date the individual first participated in that employer's 

SIMPLE IRA plan. 

 

(e) If this is an inherited IRA within the meaning of § 408(d)(3)(C), no contributions will be accepted. 

 

13.09 Roth IRA Maximum Permissible Annual Contributions:  

 
(a) Except in the case of a qualified rollover contribution (as defined in (g) below) or a recharacterization (as defined 

in (f) below), no contribution will be accepted unless it is in cash and the total of such contributions to all the 
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individual's Roth IRAs for a taxable year does not exceed the applicable amount (as defined in (b) below), or the 

individual's compensation (as defined in (h) below), if less, for that taxable year. The contribution described in 

the previous sentence that may not exceed the lesser of the applicable amount or the individual's compensation 

is referred to as a "regular contribution." However, notwithstanding the preceding limits on contributions, an 

individual may make additional contributions specifically authorized by statute – such as repayments of qualified 

reservist distributions, repayments of certain plan distributions made on account of a federally declared disaster 

and certain amounts received in connection with the Exxon Valdez litigation. Contributions may be limited under 

(c) through (e) below. 

 

(b)  Applicable Amount: The applicable amount is determined below: 

 

(1) If the individual is under age 50, the applicable amount is $5,000 for any taxable year beginning in 2008 

and years thereafter. After 2008, the $5,000 amount will be adjusted by the Secretary of the Treasury for 

cost-of-living increases under Code §219(b)(5)(D). Such adjustments will be in multiples of $500. 

(2) If the individual is 50 or older, the applicable amount under paragraph (1) above is increased by $1,000 for 

any taxable year beginning in 2006 and years thereafter. 

 

(c)  Regular Contribution Limit. The maximum regular contribution that can be made to all the individual's Roth IRAs 

for a taxable year is the smaller amount determined under (1) or (2) below. 

 

(1)  The maximum regular contribution is phased out ratably between certain levels of modified adjusted gross 

income in accordance with the following table:  

 

Filing Status Full Contribution Phase-out Range No Contribution 

Single or Head of 

Household 
$95,000 or less Between $95,000-$110,000 $110,000 or more 

Joint Return or 

Qualifying Widow(er)  
$150,000 or less 

Between $150,000-

$160,000 
$160,000 or more 

Married- Separate Return $0 Between $0-$10,000 $10,000 or more 

 

An individual's modified adjusted gross income ("modified AGI") for a taxable year is defined in Code § 

408A(c)(3) and does not include any amount included in adjusted gross income as a result of a qualified 

rollover contribution. If the individual's modified AGI for a taxable year is in the phase-out range, the 

maximum regular contribution determined under this table for that taxable year is rounded up to the next 

multiple of $10 and is not reduced below $200. After 2006, the dollar amounts above will be adjusted by 

the Secretary of the Treasury for cost-of-living increases under Code § 408A(c)(3). Such adjustments will 

be in multiples of $1,000. 

(2)  If the individual makes regular contributions to both Roth and non-Roth IRAs for a taxable year, the 

maximum regular contribution that can be made to all of the individual's Roth IRAs for that taxable year is 

reduced by the regular contributions made to the individual's non-Roth IRAs for the taxable year. 

 

(d)  SIMPLE IRA Limits: No contributions will be accepted under a SIMPLE IRA plan established by any employer 

pursuant to §408(p). Also, no transfer or rollover of funds attributable to contributions made by a particular 

employer under its SIMPLE IRA plan will be accepted from a SIMPLE IRA, that is, an IRA used in conjunction 

with a SIMPLE IRA plan, prior to the expiration of the 2-year period beginning on the date the individual first 

participated in that employer's SIMPLE IRA plan. 

 

(e) Inherited Roth IRA. If this is an inherited Roth IRA within the meaning of § 408(d)(3)(C), no contributions will 

be accepted. 

 

(f)  Recharacterization. A regular contribution to a non-Roth IRA may be recharacterized pursuant to the rules in § 

1.408A-5 of the regulations as a regular contribution to this Roth IRA, subject to the limits in (c) above. 

 

(g)  Qualified Rollover Contribution. A "qualified rollover contribution" is a rollover contribution of a distribution from 

an eligible retirement plan described in § 402(c)(8)(B). If the distribution is from an IRA, the rollover must meet 

the requirements of Code § 408(d)(3), except the one-rollover-per-year rule of § 408(d)(3)(B) does not apply if 

the distribution is from a non-Roth IRA. If the distribution is from an eligible retirement plan other than an IRA, 

the rollover must meet the requirements of Code § 402(c), 402(e)(6), 403(a)(4), 403(b)(8), 403(b)(10), 

408(d)(3) or 457(e)(16), as applicable. A qualified rollover contribution also includes (1) and (2) below. 
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(1)  All or part of a military death gratuity or service members’ group life insurance (“SGLI”) payment may be 
contributed if the contribution is made within 1 year of receiving the gratuity or payment. Such contributions 

are disregarded for purposes of the one-rollover-per-year rule under § 408(d)(3)(B). 

(2)  All or part of an airline payment (as defined in § 125 of the Worker, Retiree, and Employer Recovery Act of 

2008 (“WRERA”), Pub. L. 110-458) received by certain airline employees may be contributed if the 

contribution is made within 180 days of receiving the payment, or such other dates as provided by the 

Treasury Department. 

 

(h) Compensation. For purposes of (a) above, compensation is defined as wages, salaries, professional fees, or other 

amounts derived from or received for personal services actually rendered (including, but not limited to 

commissions paid salesmen, compensation for services on the basis of a percentage of profits, commissions on 

insurance premiums, tips, and bonuses) and includes earned income, as defined in Code §401(c)(2) (reduced 

by the deduction the self-employed individual takes for contributions made to a self-employed retirement plan). 

For purposes of this definition, §401(c)(2) shall be applied as if the term trade or business for purposes of §1402 

included service described in subsection (c)(6). Compensation does not include amounts derived from or received 

as earnings or profits from property (including but not limited to interest and dividends) or amounts not includible 

in gross income (determined without regard to §112). Compensation also does not include any amount received 

as a pension or annuity or as deferred compensation. The term "compensation" shall include any amount 

includible in the individual's gross income under §71 with respect to a divorce or separation instrument described 

in subparagraph (A) of §71(b)(2). In the case of a married individual filing a joint return, the greater 

compensation of his or her spouse is treated as his or her own compensation, but only to the extent that such 

spouse's compensation is not being used for purposes of the spouse making an IRA contribution. The term 

“compensation” also includes any differential wage payments as defined in §3401(h)(2). 
 

13.10  Deemed IRA Annuity Contract Requirements for Roth and Traditional IRAs:  

  

 (a)  This contract is nontransferable by the individual.  

 

(b) Any refund of premiums (other than those attributable to excess contributions) will be applied, before the close 

of the calendar year following the year of the refund, toward the payment of future premiums or the purchase 

of additional benefits. 

 

(c) If the premium payments are interrupted, the contract will be reinstated at any date prior to maturity upon 

payment of a premium to the Company, and the minimum premium amount for reinstatement shall be 

determined by the underlying Individual Agreement of the Annuity Contract;  however, the Issuer may at its 

option either accept additional future payments or terminate the contract by payment in cash of the then present 

value of the paid up benefit if no premiums have been received for two full consecutive policy years and the paid 

up annuity benefit at maturity would be less than $20 per month.  

 
13.11  Required Minimum Distributions from a Traditional IRA:  

 
(a) Notwithstanding any provision of this IRA to the contrary, 

 

(1) The distribution of the individual's interest in the Deemed IRA Custodial Account shall be made in accordance 

with the requirements of Code §408(a)(6) and the regulations thereunder, the provisions of which are herein 

incorporated by reference.  If distributions are made from an annuity contract purchased from an insurance 

company, distributions thereunder must satisfy the requirements of Q&A-4 of § 1.401(a)(9)-6 of the Income 

Tax Regulations, rather than paragraphs (b), (c) and (d) below and section 13.12. The required minimum 

distributions calculated for this IRA may be withdrawn from another IRA of the individual in accordance with 

Q&A-9 of § 1.408-8 of the Income Tax Regulations.  
(2) The distribution of the individual's interest in the Deemed IRA Annuity Contract shall be made in accordance 

with the requirements of Code § 408(b)(3) and the regulations thereunder, the provisions of which are 

herein incorporated by reference.  If distributions are not made in the form of an annuity on an irrevocable 

basis (except for acceleration), then distribution of the interest in the IRA (as determined under section 

13.13(c) must satisfy the requirements of Code §408(a)(6) and the regulations thereunder, rather than 

paragraphs (b), (c) and (d) below and section 13.13.  

 

(b) The entire value or interest of the Deemed IRA Account of the individual for whose benefit the account is 

maintained will commence to be distributed no later than: 
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(1) In the case of a Trust or Custodial Account,   the first day of April following the calendar year in which such 

individual attains age 70½ (the "required beginning date") over the life of such individual or the lives of 

such individual and his or her designated beneficiary. 

(2) In the case of an Annuity Contract, the first day of April following the calendar year in which such individual 

attains age 70½ (the "required beginning date") over (A) the life of such individual or the lives of such 

individual and his or her designated beneficiary or (B) a period certain not extending beyond the life 

expectancy of such individual or the joint and last survivor expectancy of such individual and his or her 

designated beneficiary. Payments must be made in periodic payments at intervals of no longer than 1 year 

and must be either nonincreasing or they may increase only as provided in Q&As-1 and -4 of §1.401(a)(9)-

6 of the Income Tax Regulations. In addition, any distribution must satisfy the incidental benefit 

requirements specified in Q&A-2 of §1.401(a)(9)-6. If this is an inherited IRA within the meaning of 

§408(d)(3)(C), this paragraph and paragraphs (c) & (d) below do not apply. 

 

(c) The amount to be distributed each year, beginning with the calendar year in which the individual attains age 

70½ and continuing through the year of death, shall not be less than the quotient obtained by dividing the value 

of the IRA (as determined under section 13.12(c) as of the end of the preceding year by the distribution period 

in the Uniform Lifetime Table in Q&A-2 of §1.401(a)(9)-9 of the Income Tax Regulations, using the individual's 

age as of his or her birthday in the year. However, if the individual's sole designated beneficiary is his or her 

surviving spouse and such spouse is more than 10 years younger than the individual, then the distribution period 

is determined under the Joint and Last Survivor Table in Q&A-3 of § 1.401(a)(9)-9, using the ages as of the 

individual's and spouse's birthdays in the year. 

 

(d) The required minimum distribution for the year the individual attains age 70½ can be made as late as April 1 of 

the following year. 

 

(1) For distributions from a Custodial Account, the required minimum distribution for any other year must be 

made by the end of such year  

(2) For distributions from an Annuity Contract, the first required payment can be made as late as April 1 of the 

year following the year the individual attains age 70½ and must be the payment that is required for one 

payment interval. The second payment need not be made until the end of the next payment interval. 

(3) In the case of an Annuity Contract, the distribution periods described in paragraph (b) above cannot exceed 

the periods specified in § 1.401(a)(9)-6 of the Income Tax Regulations. 

 

13.12 Distributions Due to Death from a Traditional Deemed IRA Custodial Account:  

 

(a) Death On or After Required Beginning Date:  If the individual dies on or after the required beginning date, the 

remaining portion of his or her interest will be distributed at least as rapidly as follows: 

 

(1) If the designated beneficiary is someone other than the individual's surviving spouse, the remaining interest 

will be distributed over the remaining life expectancy of the designated beneficiary, with such life expectancy 

determined using the beneficiary's age as of his or her birthday in the year following the year of the 

individual's death, or over the period described in paragraph (a)(3) below if longer. 

(2) If the individual's sole designated beneficiary is the individual's surviving spouse, the remaining interest will 

be distributed over such spouse's life expectancy or over the period described in paragraph (a)(3) below if 

longer. Any interest remaining after such spouse's death will be distributed over such spouse's remaining 

life expectancy determined using the spouse's age as of his or her birthday in the year of the spouse's death, 

or, if the distributions are being made over the period described in paragraph (a)(3) below, over such period. 

(3) If there is no designated beneficiary, or if applicable by operation of paragraph (a)(1) or (a)(2) above, the 

remaining interest will be distributed over the individual's remaining life expectancy determined in the year 

of the individual's death. 

(4) The amount to be distributed each year under paragraph (a)(1), (2) or (3), beginning with the calendar 

year following the calendar year of the individual's death, is the quotient obtained by dividing the value of 

the IRA as of the end of the preceding year by the remaining life expectancy specified in such paragraph. 

Life expectancy is determined using the Single Life Table in Q&A-1 of § 1.401(a)(9)-9 of the Income Tax 

Regulations. If distributions are being made to a surviving spouse as the sole designated beneficiary, such 

spouse's remaining life expectancy for a year is the number in the Single Life Table corresponding to such 

spouse's age in the year. In all other cases, remaining life expectancy for a year is the number in the Single 

Life Table corresponding to the beneficiary's or individual's age in the year specified in paragraph (a)(1), (2) 

or (3) and reduced by 1 for each subsequent year. 

 

(b) Death Before Required Beginning Date: If the individual dies before the required beginning date, his or her 

entire interest will be distributed at least as rapidly as follows: 
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(1) If the designated beneficiary is someone other than the individual's surviving spouse, the entire interest will 

be distributed, starting by the end of the calendar year following the calendar year of the individual's death, 

over the remaining life expectancy of the designated beneficiary, with such life expectancy determined using 

the age of the beneficiary as of his or her birthday in the year following the year of the individual's death, 

or, if elected, in accordance with paragraph (b)(3) below. If this is an inherited IRA within the meaning of 

Code § 408(d)(3)(C) established for the benefit of a nonspouse designated beneficiary by a direct trustee-

to-trustee transfer from a retirement plan of a deceased individual under §402(c)(11), then, notwithstanding 

any election made by the deceased individual pursuant to the preceding sentence, the nonspouse designated 

beneficiary may elect to have distributions made under this paragraph (b)(1) if the transfer is made no later 

than the end of the year following the year of death. 

(2) If the individual's sole designated beneficiary is the individual's surviving spouse, the entire interest will be 

distributed, starting by the end of the calendar year following the calendar year of the individual's death (or 

by the end of the calendar year in which the individual would have attained age 70½, if later), over such 

spouse's life expectancy, or, if elected, in accordance with paragraph (b)(3) below. If the surviving spouse 

dies before distributions are required to begin, the remaining interest will be distributed, starting by the end 

of the calendar year following the calendar year of the spouse's death, over the spouse's designated 

beneficiary's remaining life expectancy determined using such beneficiary's age as of his or her birthday in 

the year following the death of the spouse, or, if elected, will be distributed in accordance with paragraph 

(b)(3) below. If the surviving spouse dies after distributions are required to begin, any remaining interest 

will be distributed over the spouse's remaining life expectancy determined using the spouse's age as of his 

or her birthday in the year of the spouse's death. 

(3) If there is no designated beneficiary, or if applicable by operation of paragraph (b)(1) or (b)(2) above, the 

entire interest will be distributed by the end of the calendar year containing the fifth anniversary of the 

individual's death (or of the spouse's death in the case of the surviving spouse's death before distributions 

are required to begin under paragraph (b)(2) above). 

(4) The amount to be distributed each year under paragraph (b)(1) or (2) is the quotient obtained by dividing 

the value of the IRA as of the end of the preceding year by the remaining life expectancy specified in such 

paragraph. Life expectancy is determined using the Single Life Table in Q&A-1 of § 1.401(a)(9)-9 of the 

Income Tax Regulations. If distributions are being made to a surviving spouse as the sole designated 

beneficiary, such spouse's remaining life expectancy for a year is the number in the Single Life Table 

corresponding to such spouse's age in the year. In all other cases, remaining life expectancy for a year is 

the number in the Single Life Table corresponding to the beneficiary's age in the year specified in paragraph 

(b)(1) or (2) and reduced by 1 for each subsequent year. 

 

(c) IRA Value: The "value" of the IRA includes the amount of any outstanding rollover, transfer and 

recharacterization under Q&As-7 and -8 of § 1.408-8 of the Income Tax Regulations. 

 

(d) Spouse as Sole Beneficiary: If the sole designated beneficiary is the individual's surviving spouse, the spouse 

may elect to treat the IRA as his or her own IRA. This election will be deemed to have been made if such 

surviving spouse makes a contribution to the IRA or fails to take required distributions as a beneficiary. 

 

(e) Distribution may be met in another IRA: The required minimum distributions payable to a designated beneficiary 

from this IRA may be withdrawn from another IRA the beneficiary holds from the same decedent in accordance 

with Q&A-9 of §1.408-8 of the Income Tax Regulations.  

 
13.13 Distributions Due to Death from a Traditional Deemed IRA Annuity Contract:  

 
(a)  Death On or After Required Distributions Commence. If the individual dies on or after required distributions 

commence, the remaining portion of his or her interest will continue to be distributed under the contract option 

chosen. 

 

(b)  Death Before Required Distributions Commence. If the individual dies before required distributions commence, 

his or her entire interest will be distributed at least as rapidly as follows: 

 

(1)  If the designated beneficiary is someone other than the individual's surviving spouse, the entire interest 

will be distributed, starting by the end of the calendar year following the calendar year of the individual's 

death, over the remaining life expectancy of the designated beneficiary, with such life expectancy 

determined using the age of the beneficiary as of his or her birthday in the year following the year of the 

individual's death, or, if elected, in accordance with paragraph (b)(3) below. If this is an inherited IRA within 

the meaning of Code § 408(d)(3)(C) established for the benefit of a nonspouse designated beneficiary by a 

direct trustee-to-trustee transfer from a retirement plan of a deceased individual under § 402(c)(11), then, 
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notwithstanding any election made by the deceased individual pursuant to the preceding sentence, the 

nonspouse designated beneficiary may elect to have distributions made under this paragraph (b)(1) if the 

transfer is made no later than the end of the year following the year of death. 

(2)  If the individual's sole designated beneficiary is the individual's surviving spouse, the entire interest will be 

distributed, starting by the end of the calendar year following the calendar year of the individual's death (or 

by the end of the calendar year in which the individual would have attained age 70½, if later), over such 

spouse's life expectancy, or, if elected, in accordance with paragraph (b)(3) below. If the surviving spouse 

dies before required distributions commence to him or her, the remaining interest will be distributed, starting 

by the end of the calendar year following the calendar year of the spouse's death, over the spouse's 

designated beneficiary's remaining life expectancy determined using such beneficiary's age as of his or her 

birthday in the year following the death of the spouse, or, if elected, will be distributed in accordance with 

paragraph (b)(3) below. If the surviving spouse dies after required distributions commence to him or her, 

any remaining interest will continue to be distributed under the contract option chosen. 

(3)  If there is no designated beneficiary, or if applicable by operation of paragraph (b)(1) or (b)(2) above, the 

entire interest will be distributed by the end of the calendar year containing the fifth anniversary of the 

individual's death (or of the spouse's death in the case of the surviving spouse's death before distributions 

are required to begin under paragraph (b)(2) above). 

(4)  Life expectancy is determined using the Single Life Table in Q&A-1 of § 1.401(a)(9)-9 of the Income Tax 

Regulations. If distributions are being made to a surviving spouse as the sole designated beneficiary, such 

spouse's remaining life expectancy for a year is the number in the Single Life Table corresponding to such 

spouse's age in the year. In all other cases, remaining life expectancy for a year is the number in the Single 

Life Table corresponding to the beneficiary's age in the year specified in paragraph (b)(1) or (2) and reduced 

by 1 for each subsequent year. 

 

(c)  The "interest" in the IRA includes the amount of any outstanding rollover, transfer and recharacterization under 

Q&As-7 and -8 of § 1.408-8 of the Income Tax Regulations and the actuarial value of any other benefits provided 

under the IRA, such as guaranteed death benefits. 

 

(d)  For purposes of paragraphs (a) and (b) above, required distributions are considered to commence on the 

individual's required beginning date or, if applicable, on the date distributions are required to begin to the 

surviving spouse under paragraph (b)(2) above. However, if distributions start prior to the applicable date in the 

preceding sentence, on an irrevocable basis (except for acceleration) under an annuity contract meeting the 

requirements of § 1.401(a)(9)-6 of the Income Tax Regulations, then required distributions are considered to 

commence on the annuity starting date. 

 

(e) If the sole designated beneficiary is the individual's surviving spouse, the spouse may elect to treat the IRA as 

his or her own IRA. This election will be deemed to have been made if such surviving spouse makes a contribution 

to the IRA or fails to take required distributions as a beneficiary. 

 

(f) The required minimum distributions payable to a designated beneficiary from this IRA may be withdrawn from 

another IRA the beneficiary holds from the same decedent in accordance with Q&A-9 of § 1.408-8 of the Income 

Tax Regulations.   
 

13.14 No Required Minimum Distribution from Roth Deemed IRA Account: No amount is required to be distributed 

prior to the death of the individual for whose benefit the account was originally established. If this is an inherited IRA 

within the meaning of Code § 408(d)(3)(C), this paragraph does not apply. 

 

13.15 Distributions Due to Death from a Roth Deemed IRA Custodial Account:  

 

(a)  Notwithstanding any provision of this IRA to the contrary, the distribution of the individual's interest in the 

account shall be made in accordance with the requirements of Code § 408(a)(6), as modified by § 408A(c)(5), 

and the regulations thereunder, the provisions of which are herein incorporated by reference. If distributions are 

made from an annuity contract purchased from an insurance company, distributions thereunder must satisfy the 

requirements of § 1.401(a)(9)-6 of the Income Tax Regulations (taking into account Code § 408A(c)(5)), rather 

than the distribution rules in paragraphs (b), (c) and (d) below. 

 

(b) Upon the death of the individual, his or her entire interest will be distributed at least as rapidly as follows: 

 

(1)  If the designated beneficiary is someone other than the individual's surviving spouse, the entire interest 

will be distributed, starting by the end of the calendar year following the calendar year of the individual's 

death, over the remaining life expectancy of the designated beneficiary, with such life expectancy 

determined using the age of the beneficiary as of his or her birthday in the year following the year of the 
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individual's death, or, if elected, in accordance with paragraph (b)(3) below. If this is an inherited IRA within 

the meaning of Code § 408(d)(3)(C) established for the benefit of a nonspouse designated beneficiary by a 

direct trustee-to-trustee transfer from a retirement plan of a deceased individual under § 402(c)(11), then, 

notwithstanding any election made by the deceased individual pursuant to the preceding sentence, the 

nonspouse designated beneficiary may elect to have distributions made under this paragraph (b)(1) if the 

transfer is made no later than the end of the year following the year of death. 

(2)  If the individual's sole designated beneficiary is the individual's surviving spouse, the entire interest will be 

distributed, starting by the end of the calendar year following the calendar year of the individual's death (or 

by the end of the calendar year in which the individual would have attained age 70½, if later), over such 

spouse's life expectancy, or, if elected, in accordance with paragraph (b)(3) below. If the surviving spouse 

dies before distributions are required to begin, the remaining interest will be distributed, starting by the end 

of the calendar year following the calendar year of the spouse's death, over the spouse's designated 

beneficiary's remaining life expectancy determined using such beneficiary's age as of his or her birthday in 

the year following the death of the spouse, or, if elected, will be distributed in accordance with paragraph 

(b)(3) below. If the surviving spouse dies after distributions are required to begin, any remaining interest 

will be distributed over the spouse's remaining life expectancy determined using the spouse's age as of his 

or her birthday in the year of the spouse's death. 

(3) If there is no designated beneficiary, or if applicable by operation of paragraph (b)(1) or (b)(2) above, the 

entire interest will be distributed by the end of the calendar year containing the fifth anniversary of the 

individual's death (or of the spouse's death in the case of the surviving spouse's death before distributions 

are required to begin under paragraph (b)(2) above). 

(4)  The amount to be distributed each year under paragraph (b)(1) or (2) is the quotient obtained by dividing 

the value of the IRA as of the end of the preceding year by the remaining life expectancy specified in such 

paragraph. Life expectancy is determined using the Single Life Table in Q&A-1 of § 1.401(a)(9)-9 of the 

Income Tax Regulations. If distributions are being made to a surviving spouse as the sole designated 

beneficiary, such spouse's remaining life expectancy for a year is the number in the Single Life Table 

corresponding to such spouse's age in the year. In all other cases, remaining life expectancy for a year is 

the number in the Single Life Table corresponding to the beneficiary's age in the year specified in paragraph 

(b)(1) or (2) and reduced by 1 for each subsequent year. 

 

(c)  The "value" of the IRA includes the amount of any outstanding rollover, transfer and recharacterization under 

Q&As-7 and -8 of § 1.408-8 of the Income Tax Regulations. 

 

(d) If the sole designated beneficiary is the individual's surviving spouse, the spouse may elect to treat the IRA as 

his or her own IRA. This election will be deemed to have been made if such surviving spouse makes a contribution 

to the IRA or fails to take required distributions as a beneficiary. 

 

(e)  The required minimum distributions payable to a designated beneficiary from this IRA may be withdrawn from 

another IRA the beneficiary holds from the same decedent in accordance with Q&A-9 of § 1.408-8 of the Income 

Tax Regulations.  

 

13.16 Distributions Due to Death from a Roth Deemed IRA Annuity Contract:   

 

(a) Notwithstanding any provision of this IRA to the contrary, the distribution of the individual's interest in the IRA 

shall be made in accordance with the requirements of Code § 408(b)(3), as modified by § 408A(c)(5), and the 

regulations thereunder, the provisions of which are herein incorporated by reference. If distributions are not 

made in the form of an annuity on an irrevocable basis (except for acceleration), then distribution of the interest 

in the IRA (as determined under section 13.16(c) must satisfy the requirements of Code § 408(a)(6), as modified 

by § 408A(c)(5), and the regulations thereunder, rather than the distribution rules in paragraphs (b), (c), (d) 

and (e) below.  

 

(b)  Upon the death of the individual, his or her entire interest will be distributed at least as rapidly as follows: 

 

(1)  If the designated beneficiary is someone other than the individual's surviving spouse, the entire interest 

will be distributed, starting by the end of the calendar year following the calendar year of the individual's 

death, over the remaining life expectancy of the designated beneficiary, with such life expectancy 

determined using the age of the beneficiary as of his or her birthday in the year following the year of the 

individual's death, or, if elected, in accordance with paragraph (b)(3) below. If this is an inherited IRA within 

the meaning of Code § 408(d)(3)(C) established for the benefit of a nonspouse designated beneficiary by a 

direct trustee-to-trustee transfer from a retirement plan of a deceased individual under § 402(c)(11), then, 

notwithstanding any election made by the deceased individual pursuant to the preceding sentence, the 
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nonspouse designated beneficiary may elect to have distributions made under this paragraph (b)(1) if the 

transfer is made no later than the end of the year following the year of death. 

(2)  If the individual's sole designated beneficiary is the individual's surviving spouse, the entire interest will be 

distributed, starting by the end of the calendar year following the calendar year of the individual's death (or 

by the end of the calendar year in which the individual would have attained age 70½, if later), over such 

spouse's life expectancy, or, if elected, in accordance with paragraph (b)(3) below. If the surviving spouse 

dies before required distributions commence to him or her, the remaining interest will be distributed, starting 

by the end of the calendar year following the calendar year of the spouse's death, over the spouse's 

designated beneficiary's remaining life expectancy determined using such beneficiary's age as of his or her 

birthday in the year following the death of the spouse, or, if elected, will be distributed in accordance with 

paragraph (b)(3) below.  If the surviving spouse dies after required distributions commence to him or her, 

any remaining interest will continue to be distributed under the contract option chosen. 

(3)  If there is no designated beneficiary, or if applicable by operation of paragraph (b)(1) or (b)(2) above, the 

entire interest will be distributed by the end of the calendar year containing the fifth anniversary of the 

individual's death (or of the spouse's death in the case of the surviving spouse's death before distributions 

are required to begin under paragraph (b)(2) above). 

(4)  Life expectancy is determined using the Single Life Table in Q&A-1 of § 1.401(a)(9)-9 of the Income Tax 

Regulations. If distributions are being made to a surviving spouse as the sole designated beneficiary, such 

spouse's remaining life expectancy for a year is the number in the Single Life Table corresponding to such 

spouse's age in the year. In all other cases, remaining life expectancy for a year is the number in the Single 

Life Table corresponding to the beneficiary's age in the year specified in paragraph (b)(1) or (2) and reduced 

by 1 for each subsequent year. 

 

(c)  The "interest" in the IRA includes the amount of any outstanding rollover, transfer and recharacterization under 

Q&As-7 and -8 of § 1.408-8 of the Income Tax Regulations and the actuarial value of any other benefits provided 

under the IRA, such as guaranteed death benefits. 

 

(d)  For purposes of paragraph (b)(2) above, required distributions are considered to commence on the date 

distributions are required to begin to the surviving spouse under such paragraph. However, if distributions start 

prior to the applicable date in the preceding sentence, on an irrevocable basis (except for acceleration) under 

an annuity contract meeting the requirements of § 1.401(a)(9)-6 of the Income Tax Regulations, then required 

distributions are considered to commence on the annuity starting date. 

 

(e)  If the sole designated beneficiary is the individual's surviving spouse, the spouse may elect to treat the IRA as 

his or her own IRA. This election will be deemed to have been made if such surviving spouse makes a contribution 

to the IRA or fails to take required distributions as a beneficiary 

 
(f) The required minimum distributions payable to a designated beneficiary from this IRA may be withdrawn from 

another IRA the beneficiary holds from the same decedent in accordance with Q&A-9 of § 1.408-8 of the Income 
Tax Regulations. 

 
Article XIV - Multiple Employer Plans 

 
14.01  Multiple Employer Plans: If elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, the Plan may also be adopted, 

by other employers that are not aggregated with the Employer under §414(b), (c), (m), or (o) of the Code. Such 
employers shall adopt the Plan by executing a separate Participation Agreement. In this case, the adopting Employer 
and each Participating Employer acknowledge that the Plan is a multiple employer plan subject to the rules of §413(c) 
and the regulations thereunder which are herein incorporated by reference, specific annual reporting requirements, 
and different procedures for obtaining determination letters from the Internal Revenue Service regarding the qualified 
status of the plan. 

 
14.02  Plan Participation and Vesting: For purposes of plan participation and vesting, the adopting Employer and all 

Participating Employers shall be considered a single employer. An Employee’s service includes all service with the 
adopting Employer or any Participating Employer (or with any employer aggregated with the adopting or Participating 
Employer under §414(b), (c), (m), or (o)). An Employee who discontinues service with a Participating Employer but 
then resumes service with another Participating Employer shall not be considered to have severed employment. 

 
14.03  Separate Elections: Except to the extent that the Participation Agreement allows, and the Participating Employer 

makes, separate elections with respect to its employees, the Participating Employer shall be bound by the terms of 
the Plan and Trust, including amendments thereto and any elections made by the adopting Employer. 
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14.04  Plan Limitations: The limitation under the Plan relating to the requirements of §§415, 402(g) and 414(v) of the 
Code shall be applied to the plan as a whole. The requirements of §§410(b), 401(a)(4), 401(m)(2)(A), and 414(q), 
where applicable shall be applied separately to each Participating Employer.  

 

14.05 Forfeitures: If elected by the Adopting Employer in the Adoption Agreement, Forfeitures shall be applied to the 
Participating Employer who incurred the Forfeiture. 
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Non-ERISA VOLUME SUBMITTER 403(b) PLAN DOCUMENT
FOR PUBLIC SCHOOLS, ADOPTION AGREEMENT #04002

The undersigned Employer hereby adopts a section 403(b) plan in the form a Volume Submitter 403(b) plan attached
hereto, and agrees that the following terms, definitions, and elections shall be part of such 403(b) Plan. Where
applicable, certain Items have a Default Provision indicated below the Item number that will apply if no election is
made by the Employer.

EMPLOYER INFORMATION
1.   Employer Name: Frederick County Public Schools

  Address: 191 South East Street
  City: Frederick   State: MD   Zip Code: 21701   Phone: 508-626-9107

2.   Contact Person: Inna Kantor London   Phone: 508-626-9107   Email: ilondon@framingham.k12.ma.us
3.   Employer Identification Number: 52-6000941
4.   The Administrator shall be (entity that administers the Plan):

 (a)    The Employer  (b)    The Employer Jointly with the Vendors
 (c)   A designated Administrator (specify): TSA Consulting Group, Inc.

PLAN INFORMATION
5.   Sponsor of the 403(b) Volume Submitter Plan: TSA Consulting Group, Inc.

  Address: 15 Yacht Club Dr NE, Fort Walton Beach FL 32548
  Phone: 888-777-5827   Email: programservices@tsacg.com

6.   (a) Name of Plan: Frederick County Public Schools 403(b) Plan
  (b) This Plan is a Multiple Employer Plan  Yes;  No. If Yes, Name of Plan Sponsor:     

7.   (a) Plan Year:
 (1)  The calendar year;
 (2)  The 12-consecutive month period beginning on   ; or
 (3)  An initial short Plan Year beginning on    and ending on    and thereafter the 12-consecutive

month period beginning on    and ending on   
 (4)  A short Plan Year beginning on    and ending on   

(b) Limitation Year:
 (1)  The Plan year;
 (2)  The calendar year;
 (3)  The 12-consecutive month period beginning on   ; or
 (4)  An initial short Plan Year beginning on    and ending on    and thereafter the 12-consecutive

month period beginning on    and ending on   
 (5)  A short Plan Year beginning on    and ending on   

8. Effective Date: The Employer has completed and signed this Adoption Agreement in order to:
Initial

Effective Date
Amendment/Restatement Effective

Date
 (a)   Establish a new 403(b) plan (not earlier than

the 1st day of current Plan Year) N/A

 (b)  

Restate a 403(b) plan previously adopted by
the Employer (restatement date cannot be
earlier than 1-01-2009, but not later than
1-01-2010 unless the initial effective date is
after 1-01-2010)

01/01/2009 01/01/2010

 (c)  
Amend a 403(b) plan previously adopted by
the Employer (Amendments made, if
applicable:   )

9. The Plan shall accept the following contribution types (check all that apply and complete the corresponding
section(s) of the Adoption Agreement, if applicable):

 (a)   Pre-Tax Elective Deferrals  (j)   Rollovers
 (b)   Post-Tax Roth Elective Deferrals  (k)   Plan-to-Plan Transfers

 (c)   Age 50 Catch-up Contributions  (l)   Exchanges (as outlined in the Administrative
  Appendix)
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 (d)   Special Catch-up after 15 years of service  (m)   PTO – Sick Leave

 (e)   Nondeductible Employee (After-Tax)
  Contributions  (n)   PTO – Vacation

 (f)   Mandatory Employee Contribution  (o)   Social Security Replacement

 (g)
  Employer Nonelective Contributions
  pursuant to the Collective Bargaining
  Agreement and/or the employment contract

 (p)   ORP Contributions subject to
  Article XII of the Plan

 (h)
  Employer Matching Contributions
  pursuant to the Collective Bargaining
  Agreement and/or the employment contract

 (q)
  Supplemental 403(b) Contributions (subject
to
  Article XII of the Plan)

 (i)   Post-Employment Employer Contributions  (r)   Deemed IRA
10. In computing a Participant's Compensation (as defined under Section 2.14 of the Plan, the following shall be

excluded:
All

Contributions
Elective
Deferrals

Mandatory
Contributions

Employer
Contributions

 (a)   No exclusions. All
  compensation will be included.

 (b)   Overtime
 (c)   Bonuses

 (d)
  Other (describe another
  exclusion, for example,
  stipends):

11. (a) Compensation shall be determined over the following Determination period:  (1) the Plan Year; or  (2) a
consecutive 12-month period ending with or within the Plan Year. Enter the day and the month this period
begins: 01(day) 01(month). For Employees whose date of hire is less than 12 months before the end of the 12-
month period designated, compensation will be determined over the Plan Year.

(b) For purposes of allocating Employer Contributions, Compensation  (1) shall  (2) shall not include amounts
paid prior to a Participant's Entry Date.

12. Allocation Periods for Contributions (This will determine if additional contributions need to be made for a given
year:

All Contributions Matching Nonelective

 (a)   Weekly
 (b)   Bi-Weekly
 (c)   Quarterly
 (d)   Annual
 (e)   Per Pay
 (f)   Other (specify):   

ELIGIBILITY AND PARTICIPATION - ELECTIVE DEFERRALS
13. The following Employees shall be eligible under the Plan to make Elective Deferrals (Check (a) or (b)):

 (a) All Employees of the Employer.
 (b) All Employees of the Employer except the following category(ies):

 (1) Nonresident aliens described in section 410(b)(3)(C) of the Code, who receive no earned
income from the Employer which constitutes income from sources within the U.S.

 (2) Employees who normally work less than 20 hours per week. An Employee normally works
fewer than 20 hours per week if, for the 12-month period beginning on the date the
Employee’s employment commenced, the Employer reasonably expects the Employee to work
fewer than 1,000 hours of service (as defined under section 410(a)(3)(C) of the Internal
Revenue Code) in such period, and, for each Plan Year ending after the close of that 12-month
period, the Employee has worked fewer than 1,000 hours of service in the preceding 12-
month period. Under this provision, an Employee who works 1,000 or more hours of service in
the 12-month period beginning on the date the Employee’s employment commenced or in a
Plan Year ending after the close of that 12- month period shall then be eligible to participate in
the Plan. Once an Employee becomes eligible to have Elective Deferrals made on his or her
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behalf under the Plan under this standard, the Employee cannot be excluded from eligibility to
have Elective Deferrals made on his or her behalf in any later year under this standard.

 (3) Employees who are eligible to make Elective Deferrals under another plan, including an IRC
section 457(b) eligible governmental plan; a 401(k) qualified cash or deferred arrangement of
the Employer or another section 403(b) Plan of the Employer.

 (4) Employees who are students performing services described in section 3121(b)(10) of the
Code.

(c) If 13(b)(2) is elected above, then the following rule will apply for subsequent years in determining
whether the Employee is eligible for the Plan. The initial computation period shall begin on the date of
hire and end on the anniversary thereof. Subsequent eligibility computation periods shall commence
with:

 (1) the anniversary of the Employee's employment commencement date; or
 (2) the Plan Year which commences prior to the Employee's first anniversary of his employment

commencement date.

(d)  (1) The Employer elects to reduce the required Hours of Service per year in 13(b)(2) to    (not
to exceed 1000) Hours; or

 (2) N/A.

14. The Entry Date of a Participant with respect to Elective Deferrals shall be:
 (a) On the first day of the month following date of employment;
 (b) After the completion of    days (may be 30 or 60 days, if Employee receives information on the Plan

within the first 30 days of employment)
 (c) Entry Date shall mean the Employee's employment commencement date and deferrals elections shall

be effective in the next pay period.
 (d) Other (Specify. May not exceed 60 days from satisfaction of eligibility requirements):   

15. Employees are permitted to make Pre-Tax Elective Deferrals to the Plan as follows:
 (a) Elective Deferrals of up to the maximum amount permitted under sections 403(b) and 415 of the Code

are permitted.
 (b) Elective Deferrals of up to   % (not to exceed 100%) of a Participant's Compensation are permitted.

16. If Roth 403(b) Elective Deferrals are permitted under the Plan then Excess Deferrals will first be corrected from
the:

 (a) regular Pre-tax Elective Deferral Account; or
 (b) Roth Elective Account
 (c) N/A.

AUTOMATIC ENROLLMENT
In consideration of the following provisions, an Employer should determine whether automatic enrollment is permitted
under the applicable State law prior to adopting this provision.
17. The Eligible Automatic Contribution Arrangement (EACA) provisions of Article 3.03 of the Plan:

 (a) shall not apply
 (b) shall apply and the Default Percentage indicated below shall be automatically withheld and contributed

to the Plan as a Pre-Tax Elective Deferral.

18. (a) Covered Employee for Purposes of Eligible Automatic Contribution Arrangement (EACA):
Employees covered under the EACA are (Check one of the options below.):

 (1) All Participants
 (2) All Participants who do not have an affirmative election in effect regarding Elective Deferrals
 (3) All Participants who become Participants on or after the effective date of the EACA and who do not have

an affirmative election in effect regarding Elective Deferrals

(b) Default Percentage (Check one of the options below and insert a percentage or percentages and, if
applicable, a date.):
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 (1) The Default Percentage is   % (a uniform percentage of each Covered Employee’s Compensation for
the applicable pay period)

 (2) The initial Default Percentage is   % (a uniform percentage of each Covered Employee’s
Compensation for the applicable pay period) and will increase by one percentage point as described in
Section 3.03 of Article III of the Plan until the Default Percentage is   %. (Insert the highest default
percentage that will apply) Each increase will be effective with the first pay period of the Plan Year or
the first pay period after the date inserted here:   .

ROLLOVER/TRANSFER AND OTHER EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTION PROVISIONS

19. (a) Direct Rollovers: The Plan will accept a Direct Rollover of an Eligible Rollover Distribution from (check each
that applies or N/A):

 (1) N/A. The Plan will not accept Direct Rollovers from any plan.
 (2) a qualified plan described in section 401(a) or 403(a) of the Code, excluding After-Tax employee

contributions.
 (3) an annuity contract described in section 403(b) of the Code, including After-Tax employee

contributions.
 (4) an annuity contract described in section 403(b) of the Code, excluding After-Tax employee

contributions.
 (5) an eligible plan under section 457(b) of the Code which is maintained by a state, political subdivision of

a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state.

(b) The Plan  (1) will  (2) will not accept Designated Roth accounts from any of the plans selected in 19(a)

20. Participant Rollover Contributions
(a) Participant Rollover Contributions from Other Employer Plans: The Plan will accept a Participant contribution
   of an Eligible Rollover Distribution from (check each that applies or N/A):

 (1) N/A. The Plan will not accept Rollover Contributions from any employer plan.
 (2) a qualified plan described in section 401(a) or 403(a) of the Code, excluding after-tax employee

contributions.
 (3) an annuity contract described in section 403(b) of the Code, excluding after-tax employee

contributions.
 (4) an eligible plan under section 457(b) of the Code which is maintained by a state, political subdivision of

a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state.

(b) The Plan  (1) will  (2) will not accept Designated Roth accounts from any of the plans selected in 20(a)

(c) Participant Rollover Contributions from IRAs: The Plan (choose one):
(1)  will (2)  will not accept a Participant Rollover Contribution of the portion of a distribution from an
individual retirement account or annuity described in section 408(a) or 408(b) of the Code that is eligible to
be rolled over and would otherwise be includible in gross income.

21. In-Plan Roth Rollovers:
(a) The Plan  (1) will  (2) will not permit In-Plan Roth Rollovers of distributable amounts.

(b) The Plan  (1) will  (2) will not permit In-Plan Roth Rollovers of otherwise non-distributable amounts.
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22. Deemed IRA Contributions. A Participant may make Deemed IRA contributions to the following type(s) of IRA
Accounts established in accordance with Article XIII of the Plan:

 (a) Traditional
 (b) Roth
 (c) Either (a) or (b) above as designated by the Participant at the time the contribution is made

23. Mandatory Employee Contributions shall be required to be made by the following Employees:
 (a)   % of each eligible Employee's Compensation if such Employee was hired after:   ; and if

applicable
 (b)   % of each eligible Employee's Compensation if such Employee was hired after   , and was a

participant in    (e.g. state retirement plan) but after receiving a choice has elected to participate in
this Plan.

DISTRIBUTION PROVISIONS
24. Pursuant to the underlying Individual Agreements, the following transactions are permitted:
(a) Select all that apply and specify the corresponding sources from which the withdrawal can be made:

All
Contributions

Elective
Deferrals

Mandatory
Contributions

Employer
Contributions

 (1)   Financial Hardship Distributions
 (2)   Loans
 (3)   Distributions at age 59 ½

(b) The following transactions are permitted:
 (1)   Plan-to-Plan transfers to another Employer Plan
 (2)   Transfers to a State Retirement Plan to purchase service credits
 (3)   Distribution of Rollover Contributions at any time

(c) The following distributions are permitted from Employer Contributions under Annuity Contracts only:
 (1)   Attained Age of 59 1/2
 (2)   After    Years of Service

25. If permitted by the underlying Individual Agreements, the Plan (a)  will, (b)  will not permit the distribution of
Small Account Balances from the Plan.

EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS
26. Employer Contributions

 (a) Employer Contributions shall not be made.
 (b) Employer Contributions shall be made as follows (check all types that apply):

 (1) Employer Contributions shall be made in accordance with any applicable collective bargaining
agreements or employment contracts as shall be determined from time to time by the
Employer.

 (2) Discretionary Contribution Formula: Nonelective Employer contributions will be allocated to
each Participant in the ratio that such Participant's Compensation bears to the compensation
of all Participants to whom Nonelective Employer contributions are allocated determined
annually by the Employer.

 (3) Definite Contribution Formula: For each Plan Year, the Employer will contribute for each
eligible Participant an amount equal to   % or $   of such Participant's Compensation.

 (4) Employer Post-Employment Contributions shall be made.
 (5) Employer Matching Contributions shall be made under the following formula:

 (A)    percent of the Participant's Elective Deferrals
 (B)    percent of the Participant's Employee Contributions
 (C) The Employer shall not match amounts provided in excess of $  , or in excess of

   percent, of the Participant's Compensation
 (D) An amount, if any, determined by the Employer

 (6) ORP Contributions under the State of    made pursuant to the applicable laws of the ORP.
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 (7) Employees hired after    where such Employees are making a Mandatory Employee
Contribution of   %, shall receive an Employer Nonelective Contribution of   % of
Compensation.

ELIGIBILITY AND PARTICIPATION – EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS
27. All Employees of the Employer (including employers required to be aggregated under sections 414(b), (c), (m), or

(o) of the Code) will be eligible to participate in this Plan except the following:

Nonelective Matching

 (a)   N/A. There is no age or service requirement.
 (b)   Employees who have not attained age    (cannot exceed age 21)

 (c)

  Employees who have not completed    Year(s) of Service;
  or    Month(s) of Service; or    Day(s) of Service. (Cannot
  exceed 1 year unless the Plan provides a nonforfeitable right to
  100% of the Participant's account balance derived from Employer
  contributions after not more than 2 years of service in which case
  up to 2 years is permissible. If the Year(s) of Service selected is or
  includes a fractional year, an employee will not be required to
  complete any specified number of Hours of Service to receive
  credit for such fractional year.)

28. All Employees who are members of eligible classes of employees shall be eligible to participate in the Plan except:

Nonelective Matching

 (a)   N/A. There are no exclusions
 (b)   Nonresident Aliens (see Section 2.28 of the Plan)

 (c)   Employees who become Employees as the result of a “section
  410(b)(6)(C) transaction”

 (d)   Employees of the following employer(s) aggregated with the
  Employer under section 414(b), (c), (m), or (o) of the Code:   

 (e)   Hourly Rated Employees

 (f)   Other (specify):    (Note: Insert an exclusion category, e.g.
  Division A Employees.)

29. (a) Eligibility under the Plan will be extended to all Employees who satisfied the eligibility requirements of this
Plan with the following prior unrelated employer(s):  (1)   ;  (2) N/A

(b) The eligibility and service requirements in Item #27 above  (1) are  (2) are not waived with respect to
Employees employed on the Effective Date of this Plan. If these requirements are waived, such Employees shall
become Participants in the Plan as of the Effective Date of the Plan.

30. Service for eligibility and vesting will be determined on the basis of the method selected below. Only one method
may be selected and such method will be applied to all Employees covered under the Plan.

 (a) On the basis of actual hours for which an Employee is paid or entitled to payment
 (b) On the basis of days worked. An Employee will be credited with ten (10) hours of service if under

Section 2.25 of the Plan such Employee would be credited with at least one (1) Hour of Service during
the day

 (c) On the basis of weeks worked. An Employee will be credited with forty-five (45) Hours of Service if
under Section 2.25 of the Plan such Employee would be credited with at least one (1) Hour of Service
during the week

 (d) On the basis of semi-monthly payroll periods. An Employee will be credited with ninety-five (95) Hours
of Service if under Section 2.25 of the Plan such Employee would be credited with at least one (1) Hour
of Service during the semi-monthly payroll period

 (e) On the basis of months worked. An Employee will be credited with one hundred ninety (190) Hours of
Service if under Section 2.25 of the Plan such Employee would be credited with at least one (1) Hour of
Service during the month

 (f) On the basis of Elapsed Time, as provided for in Section 2.43(b)(2) of the Plan
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31. (a) Subsequent Eligibility Computation Periods shall commence with:
 (1) the anniversary of the Employee's employment commencement date; or
 (2) the Plan Year which commences prior to the Employee's first anniversary of his employment

commencement date.

(b) Subsequent Vesting Computation Periods shall commence with:
 (1) the anniversary of the Employee's employment commencement date; or
 (2) the Plan Year which commences prior to the Employee's first anniversary of his employment

commencement date.

32. An Employee who has completed the eligibility requirements shall enter the Plan on the following Entry Date:

Nonelective Matching

 (a)   There are no age and service requirements. Entry Date shall mean
  the Employee's employment commencement date.

 (b)   The day on which the Employee satisfies the eligibility
  requirements

 (c)   The first day of the Plan Year in which the Employee satisfies the
  eligibility requirements

 (d)
  The first day of the first month or the first day of the 7th month of
  the Plan Year coinciding with or next following the satisfaction of
  the Plan's eligibility requirements

 (e)   The first day of the month in which the Participant satisfies
  the eligibility requirements

 (f)   The first day of the following months after the Employee satisfies
  the eligibility requirements   

33. All of an Employee's Years of Service with the Employer are counted to determine the Vested Percentage in the
Participant's Employer Contribution except:

 (a) N/A. All Years of Service will count toward Vesting
 (b) Years of Service before age 18
 (c) Years of Service before the Employer maintained this Plan or a predecessor plan

34. Each Participant's Vested Percentage in his Employer Contribution Account shall be determined as follows:

Nonelective Matching

 (a) Vesting Formula #1 - 100% vested at all times
 (b) Vesting Formula #2 - 100% vested after    (not to exceed three)

Years of Service
 (c) Vesting Formula #3:

Years of Service Vested Percentage
Less than 1   

1   
2    (not less than 20%)
3    (not less than 40%)
4    (not less than 60%)
5    (not less than 80%)

6 or more 100%
 (d) Notwithstanding the Vesting Formula selected above, all Participants as of    will be 100% vested.

35. Forfeitures not used to restore Participant's Accounts or pay expenses will be (choose one):

Nonelective Matching

 (a) allocated in addition to the Employer Contributions
 (b) used to reduce any required Employer contributions
 (c) used to reduce Employer Matching Contributions and any remainder

allocated in addition to the Employer Contribution
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 (d) used to reduce Employer Contributions in the following order and
manner:

 (1) for the current Plan Year
 (2) for the subsequent Plan Year
 (3) Other (describe; must be determined on a

nondiscriminatory basis):   
 (e) N/A. 100% vesting has been elected and there are no forfeitures under the Plan.

36. Forfeitures arising on account of termination of employment shall be allocated as of the last day of the Plan Year
which is concurrent with or next follows:

 (a) Employee's termination of employment
 (b) Employee having incurred a 1-year Break in Service
 (c) Employee having incurred 2 consecutive 1-year Breaks in Service
 (d) Employee having incurred 5 consecutive 1-year Breaks in Service

 (e) The later of the payment of the vested benefit or the Employee having incurred 5consecutive 1-year
Breaks in Service

 (f) N/A. 100% vesting has been elected and there are no forfeitures under the Plan.

OVERRIDING LANUGAGE FOR MULTIPLE PLANS

37. If the Participant is covered under another Section 403(b) plan of the Employer, other than a Section 403(b)
Volume submitter or prototype plan, the provisions of Section 5.01 of Article V will apply as if the other plan were
a Section 403(b) volume submitter or prototype 403(b) plan.

RELIANCE ON ADVISORY LETTER AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

38. Reliance and Acknowledgements:
• This Adoption Agreement may be used only in conjunction with basic Plan Document #04.
• The Sponsor will inform the adopting Employer of any amendments it makes to the Plan or of its discontinuance
or abandonment of the Plan.
• The Employer must complete a new signature page if it modifies any prior elections or makes new elections in
its Adoption Agreement.
• Failure to properly complete this Adoption Agreement may result in loss of favorable tax treatment for the Plan.
The Employer's tax advisor should review the Plan and this Adoption Agreement prior to the Employer adopting
such plan.
• The Employer may rely on the Advisory Letter issued for the approved specimen plan, except to the extent that
the Employer’s Plan is not identical to the approved specimen plan, disregarding any differences attributable
solely to the Employer’s choices of options provided under the specimen plan.

AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE AND CERTIFICATION

39. The undersigned Employer acknowledges receipt of a copy of the Plan, Administrative Appendix and this Adoption
Agreement on the date indicated below. The adopting Employer by signing below certifies that:
• The Employer is an educational organization described in section 170(b)(1)(A)(ii); and
• For purposes of the nondiscrimination requirements of section 403(b)(12) the Plan is a Governmental Plan within
the meaning of section 414(d) of the Code of a Public School; or a Governmental Plan of an organization described
in section 501(c)(3) of the Code.

Name of Employer: Frederick County Public Schools

Signature of Employer: Date:

Name of Signer:      Title:     
06/20/2019

Donna L. Clabaugh Senior Manager

http://www.rightsignature.com/documents/WRERN7J963Z2RISA9SWHS6
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 403(b) PLAN AMENDMENT FOR HARDSHIP DISTRIBUTIONS FOR 403(b) PLAN DOCUMENT #04 

(Note: No signatures are required unless noted below. The Volume Submitter Plan Sponsor adopted 
these Amendments on the date indicated below.) 

PLAN ADDENDUM FOR HARDSHIP DISTRIBUTION AMENDMENTS 

SECTION 1  
PREAMBLE - AMENDMENT OF THE PLAN FOR HARDSHIP DISTRIBUTIONS 

1.01 Adoption and Effective Date of Amendment: This Amendment of the Plan is adopted to reflect 
certain provisions in Final Treasury Regulations issued September 23, 2019 under sections 401(k) 
and 401(m) relating to Hardship distributions. This Amendment is intended as good faith 
compliance with the requirements of the Treasury Regulations and is to be construed in accordance 
with the Treasury and guidance issued thereunder.  

1.02 Supersession of Inconsistent Provisions: This Amendment shall supersede the provisions of 
the Plan to the extent those provisions are inconsistent with the provisions of this Amendment. 

1.03 Adoption by the Mass Submitter. Pursuant to the provisions of the Plan and section 8.09 of 
Revenue Procedure 2013-22, the Mass Submitter hereby adopts this Amendment on behalf of all 
adopting Employers. 

1.04 Effective Date of the Amendment: The Mass Submitter has adopted this amendment on behalf 
of all Volume Submitter Plan Sponsors and adopting Employers to be effective on the date of the 
intended provision as described in the Employer’s hardship policy. No further action is required by 
the adopting Employer with respect to the Plan document. 

1.05 Construction. Except as otherwise provided in this Amendment, any reference to "Section" in this 
Amendment refers only to sections within this Amendment, and is not a reference to the Plan. The 
Article and Section numbering in this Amendment is solely for purposes of this Amendment, and 
does not relate to any Plan article, section or other numbering designations. 

1.06 Employer’s Hardship Policy. Notwithstanding the amendments to the Plan document that are 
outlined in this amendment, the Employer’s hardship policy must describe the Employee’s method 
of (a) representation on availability of cash and other liquid assets; (b) whether Hardship source 
documentation will be received by the Plan Administrator or summary of source documents is 
received from the Employee but documents maintained by the Employee; and (c) any optional 
provisions such as requiring a Participant Loan prior to a Hardship distribution. 

SECTION 2 
PLAN AMENDMENTS 

2.01 Section 2.25 of the Plan. Section 2.25 of the Plan shall be amended to re-designate 2.25(g) as 
2.25(h) and insert a new section 2.25(g) to read as follows:  

(g) Expenses and losses (including loss of income) incurred by the employee on account of a
disaster declared by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) under the Robert
T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act, Public Law 100-707, provided that
the employee's principal residence or principal place of employment at the time of the disaster
was located in an area designated by FEMA for individual assistance with respect to the
disaster; or
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Sections 2.02 through 2.04 below provide amendments to certain sections of the Plan that reference the 6-
month suspension of all employee contributions, including Elective Deferrals and After-tax Contributions, 
to all Employer Plans after having elected to take a hardship distribution described in Section 9.04 of the 
Plan. If a Participant received a distribution under this provision prior to 1/1/2020, the Participant’s Elective 

Deferrals (and Employee Contributions) may be suspended for 6 months after receipt of the distribution, if 
required by the Employer. After 12/31/2019, the 6-month suspension no longer applies. In addition, certain 
sections, where noted, have been amended to remove the mandate that loans must be taken prior to a 
hardship distribution. 

2.02 Section 3.03 of the Plan. Section 3.03(c)(2) is amended and shall read as follows: 

(c) Uniformity Requirement

(1) Non-increasing Default Percentage. Except as provided in Section 3.03(c)(2) below or if
the Employer has elected an increasing Default Percentage in the Adoption Agreement,
the same percentage of Compensation will be withheld as Default Elective Deferrals from
all Covered Employees subject to the Default Percentage.

(2) Required Reduction or Cessation of Default Elective Deferrals. Default Elective Deferrals
will be reduced or stopped to meet the limitations under §§ 402(g), and 415 of the Code.

2.03 Section 7.05 of the Plan. Sections 7.05(a) and (b) have been amended to remove references to 
the 6-month suspension of all employee contributions, including Elective Deferrals and After-tax 
Contributions to all Employer Plans.  

Sections 7.05(b) and (d) have been amended to remove the mandate that loans must be taken 
prior to a Hardship distribution. The effective date of this section is for loans acquired after 
12/31/2019. The Employer may continue to require loans pursuant to Section 7.05, if such 
requirement is outlined in the Employer’s hardship policy.  

Section 7.05(a) through (d), therefore, shall read as follows: 

(a) Hardship withdrawals shall be permitted under the Plan to the extent elected in the Adoption
Agreement and permitted by the Individual Agreements controlling the Account assets to be
withdrawn to satisfy the hardship;

(b) The Individual Agreements shall provide for the exchange of information among the Employer
and the Vendors or the Administrator to the extent necessary to implement the Individual
Agreements. In addition, in the case of a hardship withdrawal that is not automatically deemed
to be necessary to satisfy the financial need (pursuant to section 1.401(k)-1(d)(3)(iii)(B) of the
Income Tax Regulations), the Vendor or the Administrator, if applicable shall obtain information
from the Employer or other Vendors to determine the amount of any plan loans and rollover
accounts, if applicable, that are available to the Participant under the Plan to satisfy the financial
need;

(c) The distribution is not in excess of the amount of the immediate and heavy financial need
(including amounts necessary to pay any federal, state or local income taxes or penalties
reasonably anticipated to result from the distribution); and

(d) If required by Treasury regulations, the Participant has obtained all distributions, other than
hardship distributions, and all nontaxable loans, if required by the Employer, under all plans
maintained by the Employer (except to the extent such actions would be counterproductive to
alleviating the financial need).
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2.04 Section 8.04 of the Plan. Section 8.04(d)(1) subsection (2) is deleted as it references the 6-month 
suspension. Section 8.04(d)(1) subsection (3) is now subsection (2), and is amended to provide 
that the requirement that a loan be taken first before a hardship is requested is optional. Section 
8.04(d)(1) shall read as follows: 

(1) Information necessary for the resulting contract or custodial account, or any other contract
or custodial accounts to which contributions have been made by the Employer, to satisfy
section 403(b) of the Code, including the following: (1) the Employer providing information
as to whether the Participant's employment with the Employer is continuing, and notifying
the Vendor when the Participant has had a Severance from Employment (for purposes of
the distribution restrictions in Section 7.01); and (2) the Vendor providing information to the
Employer or other Vendors concerning the Participant's or Beneficiary's section 403(b)
contracts or custodial accounts or qualified employer plan benefits (to enable a Vendor to
determine the amount of any plan loans and any rollover accounts, if applicable, that are
available to the Participant under the Plan in order to satisfy the financial need under the
hardship withdrawal rules of Section 7.05); and

AMENDMENT ADOPTION 

The Mass Submitter has adopted this amendment on behalf of all adopting Employers on May 28, 2021, to 
be effective for Plan Years beginning on or after January 1, 2020, unless otherwise noted above. No further 
action is required by the adopting Employer with respect to the Plan document. Earlier effective dates may 
be applied to certain provisions if described and noted in the Employer’s hardship policy. 
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INSTRUCTIONS TO EMPLOYERS 

The enclosed amendment updates certain sections of your Plan document to reflect changes that were 
made under the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018, the Final 401(k) Regulations in September of 2019 and 
Revenue Procedure 2020-9 issued December 12, 2019, which reflects the deadline to amend Plan 
documents for the new Hardship Distribution rules. 

The deadline to amend Plans is December 31, 2021. The attached amendment meets this requirement. 
Keep this with your Plan documents file for future reference. 

Some of the changes are mandatory, such as the 6-month suspension rule, which must be removed from 
hardship policies no later than 12/31/2019; some are optional, such as requiring a loan be taken first before 
a hardship is requested. All optional items should be highlighted in the Employer’s hardship policy.  

Attached is a chart outlining the various provisions, whether they are mandatory or optional, and the date 
that they can be or must be applied to the Employer’s hardship policy. 

The update to the Employer’s hardship policy may be provided by the vendor or TPA, and all annuity 

contracts and custodial agreements must be updated as well.  


	Addendum
	Questions Received with Responses
	Revised Questionnaire
	Vendor Bidding Scenarios
	FCPS Contributions and Participant Counts-Excel Form 
	Volume Submitter 403b Plan Document Plan Document No. 4
	Volume Submitter 403 b Plan Document Adoption Agreement
	Hardship Amendment

